TESIS DE LA UNIVERSIDAD

DE ZARAGOZA

Laura De La Puente Aparicio

2024

Eco-physiological mechanisms of gypsum plants to survive drought

Director/es

Palacio Blasco, Sara Ferrio Díaz, Juan Pedro Monterrat Martí, Gabriel



Prensas de la Universidad Universidad Zaragoza

ISSN 2254-7606



Universidad de Zaragoza Servicio de Publicaciones

ISSN 2254-7606



Tesis Doctoral

ECO-PHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS OF GYPSUM PLANTS TO SURVIVE DROUGHT

Autor

Laura De La Puente Aparicio

Director/es

Palacio Blasco, Sara Ferrio Díaz, Juan Pedro Monterrat Martí, Gabriel

UNIVERSIDAD DE ZARAGOZA Escuela de Doctorado

Programa de Doctorado en Ciencias Agrarias y del Medio Natural

Ecophysiological mechanisms of gypsum plants to survive drought

Laura de la Puente Aparicio



Escuela de Doctorado Universidad Zaragoza



Tesis Doctoral/Doctoral Thesis

MECANISMOS ECOFISIOLÓGICOS PARA SOBREVIVIR A LA SEQUÍA EN PLANTAS DE SUELOS DE YESO

ECOPHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS TO SURVIVE DROUGHT OF PLANTS LIVING ON GYPSUM SOILS

Autora

Laura de la Puente Aparicio

Directores

Palacio Blasco, Sara Ferrio Díaz, Juan Pedro Monterrat Martí, Gabriel

Memoria para optar al grado de doctora de la Universidad de Zaragoza Programa de doctorado de Ciencias Agrarias y del Medio Natural Laura de la Puente Aparicio

Eco-physiological mechanisms to survive drought of plants living on gypsum soils Ph.D. Thesis,

Supervisors: Sara Palacio, Juan Pedro Ferrio and Gabriel Montserrat-Martí

This thesis has been financed by a fellowship FSE (Fondo Social Europeo)-Aragón

2014-2020 of the Gobierno de Aragón, Spain and by Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas [COOPB20231 to S.P.].

Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología (IPE-CSIC) Avenida Nuestra Señora de la Victoria 16 22700 Jaca (Spain)

Acknowledgements/Agradecimientos

Los últimos cuatro años y medio de mi vida los he caminado por novedosos lares intelectuales, apoyándome en cada paso en distintas personas que han dado forma a la creación de este nuevo saber. Las aportaciones de esta tesis no existirían sin todas estas colaboraciones, a las que estoy profundamente agradecida. Quiero comenzar por Sara, mi directora, mi compañera, consejera y profesora. Fuiste la primera en confiar en mí, me fichaste en tu pequeño equipo familiar en Jaca. Este equipo que al principio parecía pequeño, iba descubriendo brazos que se extendían, literalmente, por todo el mundo. Gracias por darme la oportunidad de hacer amigos de Armenia, Irán, México, Australia, EE. UU, de Sudáfrica y Brasil. Ha sido infinitamente enriquecedor para aprender de ciencia, y de la vida en general. Este proyecto ha sido diseñado por ti, tú me has descubierto los pedazos del mapa a rellenar y abriste la vela de mi barco, mirándome desde el catalejo y guiándome por la radio.

Pitter, mi director, gracias por enseñarme a pensar como una científica, a hacerme la pregunta adecuada, a conectar las observaciones propias con otras previas y a desenmarañar ideas que, aunque pueden parecer sin sentido, podrían ayudarnos a entender algún proceso. Gracias por desvelarme la información que aportan los resultados de un análisis, para una aprendiz como yo, eso es magia. Me has mostrado grandes herramientas para destripar procesos naturales y me has ayudado muchísimo, con tu enorme paciencia, en la parte más técnica de la tesis. Esta tesis refleja tu enorme conocimiento y capacidad de análisis. Para mí has sido la faceta más profesional, a la par que humilde, de la investigación científica. Gracias por hablar de las plantas como compañeras y por sacarme con elegancia de todos los aprietos en los que me ponían mis dudas.

Gabriel, hemos compartido pocos momentos, pero muy intensos. Gracias por hacerme reflexionar yendo más allá de lo que suele ir el resto de la humanidad. Gracias por cuestionar todo y por enseñarme a observar profundamente, por darle valor al trabajo lento (para los ojos de la sociedad del "ya" en la que vivimos), pero seguro. Gracias por hablarme de la parsimonia. Gracias por hacerme sentir parte del motor del cambio y recordarme el importante papel de los ecólogos en la sociedad actual, afectada por una grave crisis natural.

Siempre me acordaré de mi primer día de tesis, Alfajarín (Zaragoza), 1 de agosto 2018, calor abrasador. Tres días intensivos de muestreos que me hicieron admirar a mis compañeros desde el principio. Andreu, tú estabas ahí, muchas gracias por volcarte en mi tesis desde ese día, has sido mi compañero de viaje y mi guía estos 4 años y medio. Gracias por enseñarme que un debate científico con una cerveza en la mano puede hacer que el tiempo vuele. Admiro tu perseverancia y tu dedicación, y te estoy agradecida por haberme contagiado (un poquito). Quiero agradecer a Lola, porque ha sido una verdadera compañera de trabajo, hemos sido un gran equipo. Sin tu alegría y tu trabajo, el final experimental de esta tesis no habría existido.

El equipo del IPE, siempre ahí, enterados de cada paso de mi camino y ayudando en lo que estuviera en sus manos. María, gracias por ser una amiga y por todas las tareas de laboratorio y organización. Pablo, gracias por aportar motivación y buen humor y por estar dispuesto a participar. Juanjo, gracias por facilitar los temas burocráticos y por aportar un toque de sarcasmo al día-día. Jesús, gracias por tus apoyos técnicos y Antonio, gracias por tu imaginación y buena mano para hacer materiales las ideas y, sobretodo, gracias por tu sonrisa matutina.

También quiero agradecer parte de mi formación a José Ignacio Querejeta, a José Mariano Igual y a Alexander Rudov, así como a los compañeros de Sudáfrica (prof. Stefan, prof. Nishi y Joao) y a Mike de W-Australia, que me han mostrado otras direcciones posibles en la ciencia y distintas maneras de investigar y enseñar.

Quiero agradecer a mis padres, que me animaron a iniciar este camino, por su apoyo incondicional y su presencia diaria en mi llamada a casa. Me habéis dado grandes consejos para facilitarme el aprendizaje. A mi hermano Alex, por sus clases magistrales en programación y sus ánimos constantes. No hay reto que se te resista. Gracias por enseñarme un nuevo mundo que, sin ti, seguiría siendo un infierno y, sin embargo, lo has convertido en una tarea entretenida. Gracias por dedicarme tantas horas. Has sido mi mejor comodín estos cuatro años.

Gracias a todos los "Young gypsum freaks" por hacerme sentir en familia y poder compartir jerga, aunque sea unos días al año, os habéis prestado sin dudarlo y me he sentido acompañada en mis lecturas y escrituras. En concreto, gracias a Laura Ortiz, una buena amiga con la que he andado de la mano en las cuestas hacia arriba y he disfrutado de grandes momentos con diversos escenarios de fondo.

Gracias a mis amigas de toda la vida, por compartir absolutamente todo, y a mis amigxs del Pirineo, mi familia de la montaña, que, desde otra perspectiva distinta a la del mundo de la ciencia, conocen y aman profundamente la naturaleza. Gracias a mis compañerxs de vida por alimentar la constancia, la paciencia y la pasión. Gracias a los ríos del Valle de Aragón, a la música, a mi perra Kala y a Gato-chino, que me han dado la paz necesaria para que toda dificultad sea un aprendizaje tomado con alegría. Gracias Alber, por tu filosofía de vida que me recuerda que hacer las cosas que a una le gustan no siempre es fácil.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary/Resumen	9
List of figures	14
List of tables	21
General Introduction	24
Plants adapt to water limitation in dryland ecosystems	24
Eco-hydrological niches affect water use in the plant community	26
Gypsum soils is a singular substrate in arid and semiarid regions	28
Water availability in gypsum ecosystems	30
Plants living on gypsum are adapted to the particular constraints of these atypical soils	31
Soil microbial life and root exudation could influence plant survival in gypsum	33
Justification for the research	34
Objectives and hypotheses	35
General Methodology	39
Study areas	39
Species included in experimental studies	43
Rhizoboxes, windows to explore the underground	45
Stable isotopes of water as tool for the study of plant water use in gypsum plant communities	47
Chapter 1. Disentangling water sources in a gypsum plant community.	
Gypsum crystallization water is a key source for shallow-rooted plants	53
ABSTRACT	54
INTRODUCTION	55
MATERIALS AND METHODS	59
RESULTS	63
DISCUSSION	67
CONCLUSIONS	70
TABLES AND FIGURES	71
Chapter 2. Ecohydrological niche segregation among desert shrubs in a	
gypsum-calcareous formation (NW Iran)	80
ABSTRACT	81

INTRODUCTION	82
MATERIALS AND METHODS	85
RESULTS	
DISCUSSION	91
CONCLUSIONS	95
TABLES AND FIGURES	96
Chapter 3. Integrated above and below-ground responses of the gyps	sum
specialist Helianthemum squamatum (L.) Dum. Cours. to drought	107
ABSTRACT	108
INTRODUCTION	109
MATERIAL AND METHODS	113
RESULTS	122
DISCUSSION	125
CONCLUSIONS	129
TABLES AND FIGURES	131
Chapter 4. Soil microorganisms and root exudation mediate rhizospl	here
acidification of the gypsum specialist Ononis tridentata Devesa & G.	López .143
ABSTRACT	144
INTRODUCTION	145
MATERIALS & METHODS	148
RESULTS	152
DISCUSSION	154
CONCLUSIONS	158
TABLES AND FIGURES	159
General Discussion	166
Eco-hydrological niche segregation revealed different seasonal water uptake strategies a coexisting in gypsum soils	mong species
Gypsum crystallization water as the main water source during drought was observed on	ly in the field
Above and belowground physiological performance of two cultivated gypsophiles showed strategies to cope with gypsum soil limitations	l new specific
Limitations of the study and future lines of research	174
Main Conclusions/ Conclusiones Principales	179

References	
Supporting information	
CHAPTER 1	
CHAPTER 2.	
CHAPTER 3	
CHAPTER 4	

SUMMARY

Soils with high gypsum (CaSO₄·2H₂O) content are present in arid and semi-arid areas around the world. The adaptation of plants to gypsum soils results in communities composed of species that live exclusively on gypsum soils (gypsophyles) and other species, more generalist, that can live inside and outside these soils (gypsovags). Both groups of plants must deal with physical and chemical limitations inherent to these atypical soils, in addition to dealing with water scarcity, the most limiting factor for life in gypsum ecosystems. However, water use at the community and species level is still poorly explored in gypsum ecosystems. Gypsum crystallization water could be a critical water source for some plants to survive the dry season, but the factors that enable its utilization are still unknown. Hydroecological niche segregation, by which coexisting species partition water resources, could play a fundamental role in the maintenance of diversity in gypsum communities, and its understanding would bring us closer to the knowledge of adaptation to this atypical substrate. On the other hand, the association with soil microorganisms and the exudation of different compounds by roots could have a fundamental role for the survival and the acquisition of water and nutrients by plants dwelling in these alkaline and nutrient-poor soils.

This PhD Thesis aims to define the water sources used by gypsum plant species in two different communities (one in NE Spain and another in Iran), considering gypsum crystallization water as a potential source in addition to free water at different soil depths. Further, it aims to explain the below and above-ground strategies of two gypsophyles to survive water and nutrient limitations, including tracing gypsum crystallization water use by a labelling treatment in *Helianthemum squamatum* plants, and the *in situ* observation of rhizosphere pH during growth of *Ononis tridentata* on gypsum soils with modified fungal presence.

In the gypsum plant community of NE Spain, a clear segregation of hydroecological niches was observed during the dry season, whereas in the wet season all species used the shallow free water in the soil. In summer, deep-rooted plants were supplied by water stored at deep layers, whereas shallow-rooted plants were mainly supplied by gypsum crystallization water, implying a key role of this water source for community survival. Species gypsum affinity had no influence on the water sources used by plants.

In the plant community studied in Iran, a segregation of hydroecological niches was also observed throughout the year, but more marked during the dry season. None of the species in this community used gypsum crystallization water as the main source, but they used free water from different depths. The patterns of water depth used depended on different species-specific factors, being rooting architecture the best explanatory one. Gypsum affinity or the photosynthetic pathway did not affect the hydroecological strategies of the plant species studied.

The experimental section of this PhD Thesis showed a new water-saving response of *H*. *squamatum* to cope with short-term drought, reducing stomatal opening, transpiration and photosynthesis, and exuding an osmo-protector molecule to avoid stress. The plant did not use gypsum crystallization water during the short-term drought treatment or they life-time. However, labelling of gypsum crystallization water led to severe changes on the gypsum substrate that preclude comparison with previous studies run under natural conditions. The gypsum soil microbial community seems to be adapted to natural drought pulses, remaining unaltered with the drought treatment.

Soil fungi acidified the rhizosphere during the growth of *Ononis tridentata* seedlings, and thus, contributed to improve nutrient availability for plants. The exudation of organic acids and sugar alcohols increased in plants growing in the fungi-sterile soil. These exudates also favoured rhizosphere acidification and had the potential to attract soil microorganisms. The ability of gypsum plants to release root exudates could also be linked to the use of gypsum crystallization water in the field.

The water use patterns of the studied plant communities exemplify diverse adaptation mechanisms of coexisting plants to drought, a useful knowledge to apply in global change impact studies. The use of gypsum crystallization water has been revealed as a relevant water source to face drought, to be taken into account in other gypsum soil ecosystems. However, experimental demonstration of its use needs further studies. We have shown the vulnerability of *H. squamatum* to short-term experimental drought and the relevance of soil fungi for rhizosphere acidification in *O. tridentata*. Consequently, this PhD Thesis contributed with the understanding of several key aspects of plant life on gypsum soils.

RESUMEN

Los suelos con alto contenidos en yeso (CaSO4.2H2O) están presentes en zonas áridas y semiáridas de todo el mundo. La adaptación de las plantas a los suelos de yeso deriva en comunidades compuestas por especies que viven exclusivamente sobre este tipo de sustratos (gipsófitos) y otras especies, más generalistas, que pueden vivir dentro y fuera de estos suelos (gipsovags). Todas ellas deben lidiar con limitaciones físicas y químicas inherentes a los suelos ricos en yeso, además de hacer frente a la escasez de agua, el factor más limitante para la vida en estos ecosistemas. Sin embargo, el uso del agua a nivel de comunidad y a nivel de individuo ha sido poco explorado en los aljezares. Además, el agua de cristalización del yeso podría ser una fuente de agua fundamental para que algunas plantas sobrevivan la estación seca, pero los factores que permiten su utilización se desconocen. La segregación de nichos hidroecológicos, mediante la cual las especies coexistentes se reparten los recursos hídricos, podría tener un papel fundamental para el mantenimiento de la diversidad en las comunidades de yesos. Por tanto, analizar si existen procesos de segregación de nichos hidroecológicos es fundamental para comprender la adaptación vegetal a este sustrato atípico. Por otra parte, la asociación con microorganismos del suelo y la exudación radical de distintos compuestos podría tener un papel fundamental para la supervivencia y la adquisición de agua y nutrientes por parte de las plantas que habitan en estos suelos alcalinos y pobres. Esta tesis doctoral pretende definir las fuentes de agua utilizadas por las especies de plantas de yeso en dos comunidades diferentes (una en el NE de España y otra en Irán), considerando el agua de cristalización del yeso como una fuente potencial, además del agua libre, en distintas profundidades del suelo. Por otra parte, pretende explicar las estrategias de dos especies exclusivas de los suelos de yeso para sobrevivir las limitaciones de agua y nutrientes, incluyendo el seguimiento del potencial uso del agua de cristalización del yeso mediante marcaje en Helianthemum squamatum y la observación in situ del pH de la rizosfera durante el crecimiento con y sin hongos de Ononis tridentata.

En la comunidad de plantas de yeso del NE de España se observó una clara segregación de nichos hidroecológicos en la estación seca, de manera que en primavera las plantas se abastecieron del agua disponible en el suelo poco profundo. En verano, las plantas de raíz más profunda se abastecieron del agua almacenada en profundidad y las plantas de raíz somera utilizaron

principalmente el agua de cristalización del yeso. Este descubrimiento indica un papel clave de esta fuente de agua para la supervivencia de la comunidad. La afinidad al yeso de las distintas especies no tuvo influencia en las fuentes de agua que utilizaron.

En la comunidad de plantas estudiada en Irán también se observó una segregación de nichos hidroecológicos durante todo el año, más marcada durante la estación seca. Ninguna de las especies que habitan en esta comunidad utilizó el agua de cristalización del yeso como su fuente principal, sino que se repartieron el agua a distintas profundidades del suelo, dependiendo de distintos factores específicos de cada especie estudiada, siendo el sistema de arquitectura radical el factor más explicativo para el patrón de fuentes utilizadas. Ni la afinidad al yeso, ni la vía fotosintética afectaron a las estrategias hidroecológicas de las especies estudiadas.

La sección experimental de la tesis nos mostró una nueva respuesta de ahorro de agua por parte de *H. squamatum* para enfrentar la sequía a corto plazo, reduciendo la apertura estomática, la transpiración y la fotosíntesis, y exudando un compuesto osmo-protector para evitar el estrés. Las plantas no utilizaron el agua de cristalización durante el tratamiento de sequía ni durante todo su desarrollo. Sin embargo, el marcaje del agua de cristalización del yeso condujo a cambios severos en el sustrato que impidieron la comparación con estudios previos realizados en condiciones naturales. Las comunidades de microorganismos de los suelos de yeso parecen estar adaptadas a los pulsos naturales de sequía, permaneciendo inalteradas con el tratamiento de sequía. Los hongos del suelo acidificaron la rizosfera durante el crecimiento de las plántulas de *O. tridentata*, mejorando la disponibilidad de nutrientes para las plantas no contaron con la colaboración de los hongos para su nutrición. Estos exudados favorecen también la acidificación y tienen, potencialmente, la función de atraer microrganismos del suelo. La capacidad de producir exudados radicales por parte de estas especies podría además estar ligada con los mecanismos de absorción del agua de cristalización del yeso en condiciones naturales.

Los patrones de uso de agua de las comunidades estudiadas nos han mostrado los mecanismos de adaptación de las plantas coexistentes a este duro ambiente, pudiendo aplicar este conocimiento en estudios de impacto del cambio global. El uso del agua de cristalización parece ser una fuente relevante a tener en cuenta en otros estudios sobre ecosistemas de suelos de yeso. Sin embargo, la demostración experimental de su uso necesita más estudios futuros. Hemos mostrado la

vulnerabilidad de *H. squamatum* frente la sequía experimental a corto plazo y la relevancia de los hongos del suelo para la acidificación de la rizosfera de *Ononis tridentata*. Por tanto, esta tesis doctoral ha colaborado con el conocimiento de varios aspectos claves para comprender la vida vegetal en suelos de yeso.

LIST OF FIGURES

General Introduction
Figure G.I.1. World drylands divided in its subtypes (FAO, 2023)
Figure G.I.2. Gypsiferous soils surface in the world. Orange indicate gypsiferous soils present but no
dominant, and black indicate gypsiferous soils dominant. Figure adapted from Escudero et al., 2015 (data
taken from Boyadgiev, & Verheye, 1996)28
General Methodology
Figure G.M.1. Delimitation of the studied area, in the Middle Ebro Depression in NE Spain. Image
provided by Google Earth (2023)
Figure G.M. 2 . Zoom in the study area in Chapter 1 showing the landscape of low hills and valleys. First image provided by Google Earth (2023) and second image courtesy of Gabriel Montserrat-Martí41
Figure G.M. 3. The studied hill of Aladaghlar located in NW Iran. Picture courtesy of Alexander Rudov
Figure G.M.4. Helianthemum squamatum A) Plant size and general view B) Flowers, C) Leaves
Pictures by I. Soriano, downloaded from Herbario Jaca (IPE-CSIC)
Figure G.M.5. Adult individuals of Ononis tridentata. A) Plant general view B) Flowers C) Fruits
Pictures by Gabriel Montserrat, downloaded from Herbario Jaca (IPE-CSIC)
Figure G.M.6. A. Diagram of the rhizoboxes used in the experiment. Designed by Jesus Revilla for this
Thesis and inspired by Marschner and Römheld (1983). B. Picture of a H. squamatum seedling after
several weeks growing on a rhizobox on gypsum soil. C. O. tridentata seedling growing on a rhizobox
on gypsum soil46
Figure G.M.7. Mini-rhizoboxes with H. squamatum seedlings cultivated on gypsum soil. A. Front view
of the transparent lid. B. General view of the home-made installation to keep them moist and in an angle
of ~45°. Black covers were installed in the lid to keep soil dark and favour root growth. C. Lateral view
of the experimental system. D. Plastic zip bags to keep moisture in the mini-rhizoboxes
Figure GM.8. Cryogenic vacuum distillation line assembled in the Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología-CSIC
(Jaca, Spain) during this thesis with collaboration of Juan Pedrio Ferrio (CITA-CSIC). The distillation

(Jaca, Spain) during this thesis with collaboration of Juan Pedrio Ferrio (CITA-CSIC). The distillation line consists on a container with silicone oil that heats the tubes with the sample. These are connected to a vacuum system (obtained by a vaccum pump) by metal hoses. The tubes are connected to other L-

Chapter 1......53

Figure 5. Results from Bayesian stable isotope mixing models showing the estimated contribution of different water sources, namely: shallow free water (10 - 20 cm), deep free water (50 - 100 cm), groundwater and gypsum crystallization water (all depths combined) to the xylem water of 20 dominant plants from a gypsum top-hill community, grouped into deep-rooted and shallow-rooted species77

(Chapter 2
	Figure 1. Location of the study area in NW Iran and Sampling sites. Blue droplets denote the location
	of water samples and the transparent green rectangles denote the areas were plant samples were collected.
	The lower left panel is the climatogram based on long term climate data collected at major meteorological
	stations in the region

Chapter 4......143

Figure 1. Methods. **A**. Picture of one of the rhizoboxes where seedlings were grown. **B**. rhizoboxes positioned *ca*. 45° to force the roots to be visible through the transparent plexiglass. **C**. Picture of the area where the sensor foil was installed, taken after the pH measures. **D**. Image acquired with the VisiSens PreSens camera before its edition with the calibrated pH. **E**. Graphic scheme of the procedure to take pictures. The software in the computer was connected to the camera, which was placed as close as possible to the sensor in contact with the transparent window. Pictures were taken with the camera light

Figure 2. Biplot of the results of a PCA performed on the matrix of relative abundance of all PLFAs detected in soil samples. Arrows represent variables passively projected into the PCA diagram but not included in the calculation (accessory variables): relative abundance of Gram negative bacteria (Gram N), Gram positive bacteria (Gram P), Actinobacteria (Actinobacteria), saprophytic fungi (Fungi), mycorrizal fungi (AM Fungi), cyclopropyl fatty acids to monoenoic precursors ratio (GN cy/pre) and the ratio of the relative abundance of Gram Positive and Gram Negative Bacteria. Values on the axes indicate percentages of total variation explained by each axis. Green points stand for the scores of the five replicates of natural soil treatments and red points for the five replicates of fungi-sterile treatment... 162

Chapter 1

Fig. S1. δ^2 H and δ^{18} O composition of the xylem sap of the plant species and eight different water sources. Water sources include gypsum crystallization water ("Crystal") and free water ("Free") in the soil at different depths. 10 and 20 cm deep soil was collected under the plants and deeper soil was collected from the profiles. "med" represents the mean composition of the water extracted from the soil at 30 and 40 cm deep, and "deepsoil" represents a mean composition of the soil from 50 to 100 cm deep. Grey

Fig.S5. Results from Bayesian stable isotope mixing models showing the contribution of seven different water pools to the xylem water of plants, analysed separately for deep- and shallow-rooted species in each season. Percentages show the total contribution of gypsum crystallization water (crystal), free soil water and groundwater to the xylem of the shallow and deep rooted species, in spring and summer..214

Chapter 2

Chapter 3

Fig.S1. Pictures of the methodology for transpiration water caption and physiological parameters measures. A. Portable gas photosynthesis system. B. Cryogenic vapour trapping system for transpired

water. C. Plants covered with plastic bags to trap transpired water. D. Portion of plant leaves of one
replicate used for the analysis of the physiological parameters
Fig.S2. Deuterium excess composition of: A) crystallization soil water, B) free soil water, C) xylem sap
water and D) transpiration water
Fig. S3. δ^2 H and δ^{18} O composition of the xylem sap of the plant species and the two potential water
sources. Grey symbols indicate plants or soil corresponding to the natural soil treatment, while black
points belong to the labelled gypsum treatment
Fig.S4. Results of Bayesian Isotopes Mixing Models representing the contribution of the potential
sources (crystallization and free water) in the xylem sap water of H. squamatum grouped by treatments
(drought and labelling)
Fis. S5 Means and standard errors of principal physicochemical properties of the soil (pH; E.C: electric
conductivity; % gypsum content, % sand, % silt and % clay, phosphorus: P and organic matter, o.m)
grouped by treatments. L: Labelled, N: Natural. Black bars are for control treatment (C), and grey bars
for drought treatment (D)
Fig. S6. Mean and standard error of leaf elemental concentration grouped by labelling treatment. L:
Labelled, N: - Natural. Black bars are for the control treatment (C) and grey bars are for the drought
treatment (D)231
hantar 4

Chapter 4

Fig.S2. IDL evaluation images of a preliminary experiment done with the methodology described but with other species living on gypsum. 1) *H. squamatum:* fungi-sterile treatment first day for 1a and ninth day for 1b, 1c and 1d represent *H. squamatum* natural treatment first day and fourth day, respectively. 2 a, b, c, d) *Helianthemum syriacum* fungi-sterile treatment days 1st, 4th, 6th and 11th respectively....240

LIST OF TABLES

Chapter 153
Table 1 . Main characteristics of study species. Max-root depth: 1: 25-50 cm, 2: 50-100 cm, 3: > 100 cm(Guerro-Campo, 1998)
Table 2. Results of linear models analyzing the effects of species on the isotopic composition (δ^{18} O, δ^{2} H) of soil free water collected underneath the plants (10 - 20 cm depth). <i>F</i> -values and <i>p</i> -values are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at <i>p</i> < 0.05
Chapter 2
Table 1 . Plant species included in the study with indication of their average plant size, affinity for gypsum soils and taxonomic family. Growth forms: $SSS =$ stem succulent subshrub; $LSS =$ leaf succulent subshrub. Root systems: $DT =$ long taprot with the presence of a dimorphic root system; $T =$ long taproot; Shallow rootsystem (less than 1 m depth). Gypsum affinity: $GV =$ gypsovag; $GP =$ gypsophile. References: 1) Persson & Baitulin, 1996; 2) Wang et al. 2017; 3) Fet and Atamuradov 1994; 4) Rudov – unpublished data; 5) Smirnova et al. 1976
Table 2. ANOVA (Type II Wald F tests with Kenward-Roger df) of linear mixed models analysing differences in the isotopic composition of the xylem sap among species and seasons, and among four fixed factors of the species and their interaction with the season
Table 3. Bayesian Mixing Model result shown as the percentage of estimated contribution of the three potential water sources, combined from the initial five potential sources, in the xylem sap of the subshrub species.
Chapter 3107
Table 1. Mean and standard deviation of principal soil physicochemical properties grouped by treatments. EC, electric conductivity; P, available P Olsen; OM, organic matter content
Table 2 . Results from linear models on the effects of treatments in the isotopic composition of xylem sap of the plants, transpiration water and water sources in the soil (free and crystallization). <i>F-ratios</i> and <i>p-values</i> are provided. Significant effects (at α =0.05) are highlighted in bold
Table 3 Multivariate test (PERMANOVA) testing the effect of drought, soil labelling and their interaction on the elemental composition of plant leaves. <i>F-ratios</i> and <i>P-values</i> are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at $\alpha = 0.05$. Results of univariate linear models (ANOVA) testing the effect of the treatments and their interaction on the foliar concentration of each element analyzed separately are also shown
Table 4. Multivariate test (PERMANOVA) testing the effect of the treatments on the molar percentage of all phospholipid fatty acids analysed in the pot soil and ANOVA results comparing the relative abundance of different microbial groups and of two stress indexes among treatments and their interaction. <i>F-ratios</i> and <i>p-values</i> are shown. Significant effects (at α =0.05) are highlighted in bold
Chapter 4
Table 1 Significance of the differences $(n<0.05)$ between fungi-sterile and natural soils in different

Table 1. Significance of the differences (p<0.05) between fungi-sterile and natural soils in different phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA) related to fungal and bacterial composition or to microbiota stress, based

on one-way ANOVA on <i>values</i> are in bold	or Kruskal Wallis test when data wer	re not normally distributed. Significant p-
Table 2 . Significance ofbased on one-way ANC <i>p-values</i> are in bold	f the differences (p <0.05) between fun DVA or Kruskal Wallis test when data	gi-sterile and natural soils in root exudates, were not normally distributed. Significant
Supporting information	ion	

Chapter 1

Table S2. Statistics of GLMM analyzing the effects of the root depth, affinity for gypsum soils (gypsophily), season and their interaction on the isotopic composition ($\delta^{18}O$, $\delta^{2}H$, D-excess) of the xylem water of plants. Species, family and species nested within family were included as random terms. *F*-*ratios* and *p*-*values* are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at $\alpha < 0.05$217

Chapter 2

Table S1. Gypsum percentages of different plots in the Upper Red Formation (NW Iran)221
Table S2. Mean values of the species xylem sap isotopic composition for the different seasons sampled.
Table S3 ANOVA results for linear models showing significant changes in the isotonic composition of

Chapter 3

Chapter 4

Table S1. Mean and SD values observed for mean, maximum and minimum pH observed in the different replicates during the experiment measures. Treatment differences for pHmean, pH min and pH max are included in Figure 3. Acidification was also significantly different among treatments (Kruskal- Wallis, p-val=<0.001)</th>

 242

 Table S2. Measured values for each replicate x day combination for mean pH, maximum pH and minimum pH observed with the optodes for the filtered pictures with a clear appreciation of the root passing through the sensor.

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Plants adapt to water limitation in dryland ecosystems

Drylands are characterized by scarce and unpredictable rainfall and high evapotranspiration caused by elevated solar radiation and temperatures (Reynolds *et al.*, 2007). They occupy 41% of the global surface, and can be categorized by their aridity index, which can be defined as the ratio of annual precipitation to annual potential evapotranspiration (Figure G.I.1 taken from FAO, 2023). They can be subdivided in: hyper-arid regions, with an aridity index of less than 0.05; arid regions, between 0.05 to 0.2; semiarid regions, between 0.2 and 0.5 and dry sub-humid regions with an aridity index between 0.5 and 0.65 (Huang *et al.*, 2016).



Figure G.I.1. World's drylands divided in its subtypes (FAO, 2023)

Water is crucial for plant life. The lack of water availability (either surface, groundwater or air moisture) in arid and semiarid regions limits plant growth and survival. The intense drought periods and high temperatures typical of drylands produce significant stress on plants. Water stress has important effects on vegetation, reducing cell turgidity, stomatal conductance or carbon assimilation rates, what in turn, reduces ecosystem primary net productivity (Yin *et al.*, 2019).

Thus, in a water-limited ecosystem, plants would be under a strong selective pressure to maximize soil water use and be able to grow and survive under drought. To this end, plants may show different "strategies", defined as suites of different morphological, physiological or phenological measurable features that enable plants to adjust to their environment. In ecology, plant responses have been classified along a gradient according to the ability to cope with disturbances and the ability to rapidly respond to growth opportunities (Grime, 1977; White et al., 2004; Loik et al., 2004; Voltaire, 2018). Some of the described plant adaptations include adjustments on the growth form, seed production, plant phenology and leaf and root functional traits. Many previous works showed examples of leaf size reduction, changes in leaf vertical angle (Gibson, 2012; Jubany et al., 2012) and narrower or more dissected leaf shapes linked to arid ecosystems. These plant characteristics avoid overheating and extremely low water potentials in the plants, and reduce water use (Stowe & Brown, 1981; Sisó, & Gil-Pelegrín, 2001). In addition, root system traits are fundamental to access and store water (Kuhn et al., 2022), for example, phreatophyte species have deep root systems that allow access the deep water stored in the soil. Additionally, it is usual to find species with dimorphic root systems that allow a flexible water use strategy, adapting root activity to the variations in soil water availability along the soil profile (Wang et al., 2021; Oliveira et al., 2015; Querejeta et al., 2021; Rempe & Dietrich, 2018). Other functional strategies to avoid drought and thermal stress include modifications on the photosynthetic pathway, e.g. CAM plants (Crassulacean Acid Metabolism) open stomata during night to avoid high transpiration; C4 photosynthesis that spatially segregates C-fixation from decarboxylation, preventing photorespiration, and hence improving photosynthetic efficiency and reducing water loss in hot, dry environments (Lara & Andreo, 2011; Garcia et al., 2009).

On the other hand, there are different mechanisms to mitigate the negative impacts of drought in the short-term, adaptations that have also been the subject of many studies (Simpson and Solbring, 1977). The different strategies used by plants to carry on this purpose can be resumed as three contrasting **ecophysiological** approaches (Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2020):

 Drought avoidance strategy, which prevents the dehydration effects at cellular and plant level, through the reduction of water loss with an early stomata closure (i.e. water saver plants) or by the increase of root water uptake, which allows the maintenance of high rates of stomatal conductance and transpiration (i.e. water spender plants) (Smith, 1978; Monson & Smith, 1982).

- 2) Drought tolerance strategy, tolerating the damage associated to dehydration effects, often acting on the cell membrane stability, which can be preserved by a great number of compounds such as organic acids or polyols (Farooq *et al.*, 2009; Brum *et al.*, 2017; Bartlet *et al.*, 2012).
- 3) Drought scape strategy, completing its vegetative cycle before the drought period starts.

However, most species tend to combine different strategies (Volaire, 2018; Aronson et al., 1992).

Unfortunately, dryland-adapted plants are part of one of the most fragile ecosystems due to the continuous increasing drought and the overexploitation of scant water resources in these areas (Malagnoux *et al.*, 2008; Maestre *et al.*, 2006; Seyfried *et al.*, 2005) which, in addition, have been reported to be in expansion (Huang *et al.*, 2016). It is, then, important to build a well-founded knowledge of arid and semiarid ecosystem functioning to improve their management and conservation, promoting their resilience to global changes (Wang *et al.*, 2012).

Eco-hydrological niches affect water use in the plant community

Despite life in the arid and semiarid environments is limited by water scarcity, these ecosystems host diverse and highly adapted plant communities. The ecological strategies of plants adapted to drought can explain the structure of communities and the properties of arid ecosystems (Grime, 2002). The ecological niche is a concept that describes how organisms interact with their environment at different spatio-temporal scales (Leibold & Geddes, 2005; Chase, 2011). We could consider that species in the communities that exhibit different traits are niche-structured, minimizing overlap in resource use (Gallart *et al.*, 2002; Purves & Tornbul, 2010; Levine & HilleRisLambers, 2009). In arid and semiarid ecosystems, water has a principal role in structuring communities. Therefore, we should find diverse strategies of water use by coexisting species. The partitioning of available water among coexisting species is known as ecohydrological niche segregation (Sivertown *et al.*, 2015), and allows the coexistence of competing species in a big part of arid and semiarid ecosystems. Hydrological niches in plant communities can involve spatial or temporal water partitioning (Brun *et al.*, 2018; Palacio *et al.*, 2017; Redtfeldt & Davis, 1996; Li *et al.*, 2018).

Rooting depth has been defined as a frequent significant factor for spatial hydrological niche structuring (Silvertown et al., 2015 and cites therein). The deepest roots constitute an investment to cope with fluctuations in water availability, reducing water stress and competition during the dry periods. Deep-rooted plants can potentially maintain gas exchange during long periods of drought, without the need to perform physiological regulation (Brum et al., 2017; Niinemets, 2010). However, this strategy involves a lower nutrient availability, as the shallowest layers of soil tend to be more abundant in nutrients than the deeper soil layers, i.e. the utilisation of water from subsoil/bedbrock could reduce nutrient cumulative uptake from the fertile topsoil (Querejeta et al., 2021, but see McCulley et al. 2004). In addition, the use of groundwater could lead to plant stress due to low oxygen levels (Numburg et al., 2005). Shallow-rooted species are more likely to become water limited during drought periods, leading to large decreases in plant water potential and requiring drought tolerance or avoiding strategies. Plant species with dimorphic root systems show both tapping roots and a dense shallow root system, potentially benefitting from deep water during the dry season, while having access to nutrients in the shallow soil (Nie *et al.*,2011; Wang et al., 2017). Dimorphic root systems are also particularly suitable to develop hydraulic redistribution, i.e. a passive transport of soil water along a hydraulic gradient through the rooting system (Richard & Caldwell, 1987), caused by the water potential difference between the dry shallow layers and wet deep layers (Bauerle et al., 2008; Prieto et al., 2012). This way, neighbouring species can act as "bioirrigators", fomenting other species survival and keeping plant diversity in arid and semiarid communities (Bayala & Prieto, 2020).

The temporal shifts in soil moisture typical of dryland ecosystems add a temporal dimension to niche structuring. Arid and semiarid ecosystems show remarkable fluctuations in the amount of soil water, the depth of water and the duration of inundation and of drought as the pool dries up (Silvertown *et al.*, 2015). Many works showed a general trend in arid and semiarid ecosystems towards a seasonal shift of the main water source, from shallow depths in the wet season to lower depths in the dry season (Wu *et al.*, 2019; Chen *et al.*, 2020; Antunes *et al.*, 2018; Zencich, *et al.*, 2002). This variability has an impact on the structuring of plant communities. For example, in desert communities, several species are able to exploit small but frequent rainfall events, while others utilise larger but infrequent precipitations pulses (Verhulst *et al.*, 2008; Angert *et al.*, 2009).

Partitioning of soil moisture among coexisting species has been found repeatedly in vegetation world-wide, including desert plants (Manning & Barbour, 1988) and semiarid Mediterranean shrublands (Filella & Peñuelas, 2003). However, the evidence on the existence of hydrological niches needs to be completed with the study in other arid and semiarid ecosystems, which are comparatively understudied. Additionally, further investigation is needed to disentangle the mechanisms that underlie hydrological niche segregation and to anticipate changes in vegetation shifts in response to global warming.

Gypsum soils is a singular substrate in arid and semiarid regions

Gypsum has been acutely studied as a raw material, rock constituent, and archaeological indicator (Herrero *et al.*, 2009, Chandara *et al.*, 2009; Pelosi *et al.*, 2013; Gazquez *et al.*, 2020), but its role in nature as a soil constituent influencing life is a relative recent field of research. Gypsum soils are widespread in arid and semiarid regions of the Earth, being present in the five continents and with high relevance in Africa and Central and Western Asia, where they affect 40%, 75% and 25%, respectively, of the total land surface (Escudero *et al.*, 2014; Eswaran & Gong, 1991). These soils occupy more than 100 million Ha worldwide (Figure G.I. 4, Boyadgiev, & Verheye, 1996), affecting the livelihood of millions of people (Palacio and Escudero, 2014). In Europe, gypsum



Figure G.I.2. Gypsiferous soils surface in the world. Orange indicate gypsiferous soils present but not dominant, and black indicate gypsiferous soils dominant. Figure adapted from Escudero et al., 2015 (data taken from Boyadgiev, & Verheye, 1996)

soils are predominant in Spain, where they occupy approximately 4.2% of its area (Escavy *et al.*, 2012). Gypsum (CaSO₄·2H₂O) occurs mainly as deposits originated by the precipitation of calcium sulphate from hypersaline lagoons, inland seas or hotsprings (Schreiber & Tabakh, 2000; Herrero *et al.*, 2009), although pedogenic gypsum formation from atmospheric deposition of seaderived sulphur oxides has also been reported in some hyperarid regions like the Namib desert (Eckardt & Spiro, 1999). Gypsiferous soils are soils that contain sufficient CaSO₄·2H₂O to influence soil physical and chemical properties and to affect plant growth (Boyadgiev, & Verheye, 1996). Gypsum presence in the soil determines an extreme and stressful environment for plant life due to its special physico-chemical features (Escudero *et al.*, 2015).

The moderate solubility of gypsum (~2.4g/L) derives in dissolution-precipitation events that alter soil mechanical stability (Cashby-Horton *et al.*, 2015). Further, gypsum soils show undefined microstructure and presence of low porosity horizons (Moret-Fernández & Herrero, 2015). Additionally, they present a hard surface crust formed by the uplift of dissolved gypsum that recrystallizes when water evaporates (Badía-Villas & del Moral, 2016). Such hard physical crust limits water infiltration and seedling stablishment (Romao and Escudero, 2005). However, the physical crust together with the biocrust usually present in arid regions could also lead to preservation of humidity in deeper soil layers (Meyer & García-Moya, 1989; Belnap, 2001). All these physical properties limit water availability for plants in the upper layers of the soil, and complicate seedling establishment and root penetration. The pervasive physical effects of gypsum on soil have been repeatedly reported as the main reason for the exclusion of some plant species from gypsum (e.g. Parsons, 1976; Meyer 1986, Romao and Escudero, 2005).

The chemical properties of gypsum soil can also compromise vegetation development (Merlo *et al.*, 1998). These soils have an extremely high pH with high ionic concentrations of calcium and sulphate (Herrero and Porta, 2000), which can be toxic for plants (Ruiz *et al.*, 2003) and saturate the cation exchange complex, leading to low nutrient retention and availability (Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 1999). The effect of the nutrient-unbalance of gypsum soil is a reduction of plant uptake of macronutrients as nitrogen or phosphorus, with negative consequences on plant growth (Aerts &Chapin, 1999). It also reduces the uptake of potassium and iron (FAO, 1990) and increases the foliar concentrations of calcium and sulphate in most plants (Palacio *et al.*, 2007, Salmeron-Sánchez *et al.*, 2014). Due to the chemical constraints typical of

gypsum soils, plants adapted to live on gypsum have developed strategies and mechanisms to cope with the excess of sulphur and calcium and the low availability of nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium (Cashby-Horton *et al.*, 2015; Cera *et al.*, 2021; Palacio *et al.*, 2022).

Water availability in gypsum ecosystems

Notwithstanding the limiting physical and chemical features of gypsum ecosystems explained above, water should be acknowledged as one of the most limiting factors for plant life in gypsum ecosystems. The mechanisms behind plant water use in arid and semiarid regions are a pending riddle to decipher, but such mechanisms are even more puzzling in gypsum soils, due to their singular characteristics and the lack of studies in comparison to other substrates. Owing to their moderate solubility, gypsum soils mainly occur in arid and semiarid areas where precipitation is scarce (Eswaran & Gong, 1991). In addition, water retention in the soil is very low (Herrero & Porta, 2000). However, water availability in these soils has been found to be higher during the dry period than in surrounding non-gypsum soils (Meyer and García-Moya, 1989). Moreover, as a hydrated salt, gypsum holds water in its crystalline structure, which may be available for plants and free-living bacteria during drought periods (Huang *et al.*, 2020; Palacio *et al.*, 2017).

During gypsum formation, water is preserved in the mineral making part of its crystalline structure. This property can give accurate geological and paleoclimatological information about gypsum formation (Khademi *et al.*, 1997). Crystallization water of gypsum accounts for 20.8% of the mineral weight (Bock, 1961). However, these two water molecules can be lost in a two-step dehydration process turning gypsum (CaSO₄.2H₂O) into bassanite (CaSO₄. $\frac{1}{2}$ H₂O) and, subsequently, anhydrite (CaSO₄). Anhydrite is typically originated by geologic processes, mainly through the dehydration of gypsum under conditions of high temperature and pressure. However, it has also been reported in shallower soil layers in very hot and dry regions (more than 42 °C), where gypsum dehydration seems to be a slow process, independent of diurnal cycles but caused by seasonal changes (James, 1992). The temperature of gypsum dehydration is a controversial research topic that has been explored by many authors (Blount & Dickinson, 1973; references in Klimchouk, 1996). Some authors (e.g. Sonnenfeld 1984) even consider that temperature and pressure alone cannot explain the transition of gypsum into anhydrite. Most studies performed in aqueous solutions conclude that gypsum dehydration can start at 42 °C or even at lower

temperatures if other salts, like NaCl, are present (James, 1992; Bock, 1961; Furby *et al.*, 1968). Temperatures that could be easily achieved in arid regions. However, these gypsum dehydration studies were discussed by Ostroff (1964) showing that gypsum will not convert into anhydrite in a pure calcium sulphate solution under 97 °C. In the same way, Ossorio *et al* (2014) reported that the formation of anhydrite in solution would take several months with more than 80 °C. In dry conditions, Yechieli & Wood (2002) reported a full transformation of gypsum into anhydrite at 80 °C within 800 hours. In the revision done by Klimchauk (1996) it is concluded that gypsum dehydration does not occur in the solid phase, but through gypsum solubilisation and subsequent precipitation as anhydrite. However, other studies such as Tang *et al.* (2019) or Badens *et al.* (1998) consider gypsum dehydration process is still a matter of debate, and studies done on gypsum dissolution kinetics are controversial (Vítek *et al.*, 2014) However, they agree on the modification of gypsum solubility by the presence of other dissolved salts (Ostroff, 1964; James & Lupton, 1978). Additionally, it has been reported a better solubilisation of gypsum with lower pH (Azimi & Papangelakis, 2011).

The possibility of gypsum dehydration taking place at ambient conditions gave rise to interesting investigations on the role of gypsum crystallization water as a relevant water source for life, particularly during dry conditions. For example, Palacio *et al* (2014) showed, through water stable isotopic analyses, how *Helianthemum squamatum* (L.) Dum. Cours., a gypsum specialist plant, and other shallow rooted species, used mainly gypsum crystallization water during summer. Huang *et al* (2020) showed how a cultivation of cyanobacteria on a gypsum rock in extreme xeric conditions was able to dissolve the mineral, extracting the water and leading to anhydrite deposits. Despite the huge relevance of this potential water source for plant life in arid regions, it remains largely understudied. Several aspects, such as the role of gypsum crystalline water use in shaping gypsum communities, or the identification of the underlying mechanisms that enable its uptake by plants, remain unknown.

Plants living on gypsum are adapted to the particular constraints of these atypical soils

Gypsum plant communities are highly diverse, with numerous endemic and highly specialized species that make gypsum outcrops biodiversity hotspots (Moore *et al.*, 2014; Escudero *et al.*,

2015; Ortiz-Brunel *et al.*, 2023). They are mainly formed by species with stress-tolerant traits (Hodgson *et al.*, 1994), and dominated by shrubs, short-lived perennials and annuals (Parsons, 1976). Plant species can be categorized according to their affinity to gypsum into five categories: 1) gypsophiles, species that only live on gypsum; 2) gypsoclines, species that grow preferentially but not exclusively on gypsum; 3) gypsovags, substrate generalist species that grow on and off gypsum; 4) waif plants, rare on gypsum; and 5) gypsophobes, species that never grow on gypsum (Meyer, 1986). However, in this work we just consider two clearly differentiated categories that are common in gypsum communities: gypsophiles and gypsovags, including gypsoclines within this last group. The assembly of gypsum communities depends on plants affinity for gypsum, with gypsophile species being predominant components of plant communities on gypsum soils (Luzuriaga *et al.*, 2015, 2020).

The literature on gypsum plants investigated whether there are specific traits linked to plant adaptation to these atypical soils, shared only by gypsophiles from different phylogenetic lineages, and not by gypsovags (e.g. Muller *et al.*, 2017). Recent studies have shown that plant species with different affinity for gypsum soils show different nutritional strategies, which seem to be related to the adaptation of plants to the marked nutrient imbalances typical of gypsum soils (Cera et al., 2021, 2022). The strategies to cope with gypsum soil chemical features can be divided into accumulator plant species and species with an avoiding strategy. Accumulator plants, mainly gypsophiles, sequester calcium and sulphate across the plant tissues (Cera et al., 2021). Contrastingly, plant species with an avoidance strategy, mainly gypsovags, block the ionic uptake by roots and show a larger reliance on mycorrhizal fungi for nutrient uptake (Cera et al., 2021, Alguacil et al., 2012; Merlo et al., 2019). This is supported by studies on mychorrizal fungi that reported a higher degree of colonization in gypsovags than in gypsophiles (Palacio et al., 2012; Cera et al., 2021), and by several studies indicating increased foliar (Muller et al., 2017; Sanchez-Martín et al., 2021, Palacio et al., 2007, 2022) and whole-plant S, Mg and Ca accumulation in gypsophiles (Cera et al., 2021). Despite these nutritional strategies, plant specialization to gypsum does not seem to limit the ability of plants to deal with other non-specific constraints. Accordingly, plants with high gypsum affinity showed similar water and nutrients use efficiencies than plants with less affinity to gypsum (Sánchez-Martín et al., 2021). The factors underlying gypsophile restriction to gypsum soils remain a key unsolved issue in gypsum plant ecology. More information on the physiology of gypsophiles in relation to their strategies to cope with the scarcity of water
and nutrients on these atypical soils will likely help to understand the limitations that shape their ecological distribution.

Soil microbial life and root exudation could influence plant survival in gypsum

In extreme conditions, like gypsum soils, the survival of plant species depends on their ability to respond to stress. One of the known mechanisms to survive in stressful environments involves the association of plant roots with certain groups of microbes occurring in the rhizosphere, showing plant-beneficial properties (Hartman & Tringe, 2019). The larger and more diverse the groups of microorganisms are in the bulk soil, the better the starting pool from which plants can actively recruit partners (Shakya et al., 2013; Edwards el al, 2015). In other arid lands, soil fungi play a crucial role in the adaptation of plant species and in the regulation of different biochemical cycles (Porras-Alfaro et al., 2017; Alguacil et al., 2016). It has been demonstrated that mychorrizal fungi can promote plant growth and biomass production (Mohammadi et al., 2011; Miransari, 2010; Abbott & Robson, 2018) mainly through soil phosphorus solubilisation (van Der Heijden et al., 2015; George et al., 1995) and increased nitrogen uptake in the associated plants (Gage, 2004; Vergara et al., 2017). There are also evidences of the beneficial effect of fungi on water uptake by plants (Allen, 1982; Allen, 2007; Ruth et al., 2011; Xu & Zwiazek 2020; Kakouridis et al., 2022). In gypsum ecosystems, recent investigations reported the presence of fungal species resistant to gypsum, but not exclusive to this type of soils (Muriel et al., 2022). Gypsophiles and gypsovags also showed differences in the composition of Arbuscular Mycorrhizal Fungy (AMF) communities in their roots, suggesting that fungal interactions may play a role in shaping gypsum affinity (Torrecillas et al., 2014). However, the interactions of soil fungi with plant responses facing different abiotic stresses remains understudied in gypsum soils.

The production of root exudates to mobilize unavailable nutrients has also been reported as a mechanism to enhance nutrient acquisition in nutrient-limited soils (Lambers *et al.*, 2008). Plant roots have been reported to passively and actively release sugars, organic acids, amino acids and phenolics. These compounds contribute to nutrient cycling serving as carbon and nitrogen sources for rhizosphere microorganisms (Jones *et al.*, 2005) and they can be released in response to different stresses (Xia and Roberts, 1994; Kochian *et al.*, 2004; Neumann and Römheld, 2000). Several studies have explored the link between shifts in root exudation and the functioning of rhizosphere-associated microbial communities, with a potential link to nutrient and carbon cycling

in the soil that may feed-back to plants (Kavamura *et al.*, 2018; Hartman & Tringe, 2019). In a soil where fungi are scarce, root exudation may be a key agent for nutrient uptake through mobilization by soil acidification (Yan *et al.*, 2002). However, there are no studies analysing root exudation in gypsophiles and how the presence of soil fungi may interact with exudate production in nutrient-poor, alkaline, gypsum soils.

Root exudation may also be key for the understanding of the use of gypsum crystallization water by plants (Palacio *et al.*, 2014; de la Puente *et al.*, 2021). Huang *et al* (2020) proposed that gypsum dissolution by the acidification caused by the exudation of organic acids was the mechanism behind its use by free-living cyanobacteria. The ability to exude different organic acids or low molecular weight alcohols by plants living on gypsum, may affect the release of gypsum crystallization water (Van Driessche *et al.*, 2017; Tritschler *et al.*, 2015). The study of the ability of plants to release such compounds could contribute to further support the potential role of root exudation in gypsum plants as a mechanism to obtain gypsum crystalline water.

Justification for the research

Although gypsum ecosystems represent a big part of global biodiversity and they harbour unique landscapes (Rodríguez-Sánchez et al., 2022), their representation in the scientific literature is scarce in comparison to ecosystems developed on other atypical soils (Escudero et al., 2015). Most of the research performed so far in these ecosystems has focused on the biodiversity and distribution of the gypsum flora (e.g. Braun-Blanquet & Bolós, 1957; Rivas –Martínez, 1970; Rubio & Escudero, 200; Pueyo & Alados, 2007; Castillejo et al., 2011). There are also many studies focused on conservation and restoration of gypsum ecosystems (e.g. Mota et al., 2003, 2004; Memariani, 2022) and the evolution of their flora (Moore et al., 2014; Martinez-Hernandez et al., 2015; Palacio et al., 2022; Blanco-Sánchez et al., 2023). Furthermore, the ecophysiological strategies to tolerate gypsum by plants have also been explored (e.g. Escudero et al., 1999; Palacio et al., 2007, Palacio et al., 2014; Cera et al., 2022), as well as the ecology of the plant communities that thrive on gypsum (e.g. Escudero et al., 1999, Romao & Escudero, 2005; Saiz et al., 2014; Luzuriaga et al., 2015; Sánchez et al., 2014). However, there is comparatively very limited literature about the water use by plants in these ecosystems (but see Querejeta et al, 2021; León-Sánchez et al., 2016; 2018; 2020; Palacio et al., 2014; Palacio et al., 2017). Considering this factor as one of the most life-limiting due to the arid and semiarid conditions typical of gypsum soils, we believe it is of great importance to deepen into it, following an integrative approach that includes both the evaluation of long-term plant responses to drought and the analysis of water uptake and use by plants in the short-term. The importance of acquiring knowledge about water as an abiotic factor affecting the ecology of drylands has been imposed as a priority nowadays (Maestre *et al.*, 2016). Furthermore, studying water in gypsum ecosystems implies the consideration of gypsum crystallization water as a potential water source for life (Palacio *et al.*, 2014, 2017). This PhD Thesis takes over previous studies on the use of gypsum crystallization water, and tries to explain its use by gypsum plant communities and the mechanisms behind its uptake by plants.

Objectives and hypotheses

This Thesis aims to improve the understanding of plant strategies to deal with water scarcity in gypsum soils. There are two general objectives in this work. The first one is to define the different water sources used by species coexisting in two different gypsum plant communities in different seasons. The second one is to explain above and belowground strategies of gypsum specialist species to survive on gypsum. This last objective incorporates two different targets: the first one is to describe the complete physiological responses of the gypsophile *H. squamatum* to endure short-term experimental drought; and the second one is to disentangle the mechanisms that affect rhizosphere pH (with implications on nutrient and water uptake) in the gypsophile *O. tridentata*.

We can subdivide these general objectives into five more specific ones:

Related to the definition of water strategies within plant communities (1st general objective):

- 1. Identify potential ecohydrological niche segregation among different gypsum plant communities and its relation to different plant traits (root depth, gypsum affinity, photosynthetic pathways) (Chapters 1 and 2)
- 2. Evaluate the use of gypsum crystallization water by plants in the field (Chapter 1 and 2)

Related to the understanding of the physiological mechanisms involved in the response to water shortage and rhizosphere activity in two gypsum plants (2nd general objective):

- 3. Experimentally confirm the use of gypsum crystallization water by plants (Chapter 3)
- 4. Describe whole-plant responses to face short-term drought (Chapter 3)

5. Assess the effect of the soil microbiota on root exudation and rhizosphere pH of plants growing on gypsum soils (Chapter 4)

In **Chapter 1**, we analysed the distribution of water sources among 20 main dominant plant species in a hill top gypsum community in North-East Spain. We characterised the water isotopic composition along the soil profile and underneath each plant, and evaluated the effect of gypsum affinity and rooting depth of the species on the water source used in each season. Considering water uptake patterns, we hypothesized that:

Shallow-rooted, gypsum-exclusive species will preferentially use gypsum crystallization
water in summer, whereas shallow rooted, non-exclusive gypsum species will be restricted
to the scarce free water available in the topsoil. Conversely, deep-rooted species, regardless
of gypsum affinity, will rely mainly on the use of deep soil water and/or groundwater
during summer drought.

Considering plant-soil interactions, we also hypothesized that

• Deep-rooted species will up lift water from the deeper soil layers to the shallower ones

In **Chapter 2**, we aimed to determine whether five dominant woody subshrub species coexisting in the arid Aladaghlar hills (Iran) segregated their ecohydrological niches according to the different water sources used in spring and summer. We further sought to ascertain whether species rooting architecture, gypsum affinity or their photosynthetic pathway were determining factors for the differences found in water use among species and for their ability to use gypsum crystallization water. We hypothesized that:

- Rooting depth will be a determinant factor for water use patterns in the way that, species with a deep taproot will use deep soil water throughout the year but species with a dimorphic root system will be able to change the water source depth, from shallower water in spring to deeper water in summer.
- Shallow-rooted species, without regarding species gypsum affinity, will use shallow water in spring, however, during the dry season, gypsum crystallization water will be their main water source.

• C₄ species (with higher leaf-level water use efficiency and root systems than C₃ species), should be less dependent on hydrological fluctuations, and thus, should still rely on the scarce free soil water remaining in upper soil layers during summer.

In **Chapter 3**, we aimed to perform an integrated analysis of the responses to experimental drought of the gypsophile *H. squamatum* cultivated on gypsum soil with deuterium-labelled crystallization water and on natural gypsum soil. We characterized processes in relation to water use, plant aerial status (physiology, biomass, water content and foliar nutrient composition) and the effects belowground (plant-soil microbial interactions and root exudation). We hypothesized that:

- The main water source used by this species during drought will be the crystallization water of gypsum. Moreover, if it was used any time in the plant life, we would detect the deuterium labelling not only in the xylem sap, but also in the transpired water or in its bulk organic matter, such as leaves or roots.
- Stomatal conductance and transpiration would be maintained under drought stress, due to the putative low stomatal regulation of *H. squamatum* (León Sánchez *et al.*, 2017) and the potential use of gypsum crystallization water, but photosynthetic rate may be decreased.
- As a consequence, plant aerial biomass will decrease with drought, as well as leaf elemental concentrations.
- Finally, we postulated that drought will affect the soil microbiota and plant-soil interactions, leading to a reduction in the microbial biomass and an increase in the stress of the microbial communities in the soil, and promoting the exudation of certain compounds by plant roots to improve plant hydric conditions or attracting collaborative fungi.

In **Chapter 4**, we aimed to monitor changes in the rhizosphere pH of the roots of a gypsum endemic species cultivated in soils with different fungal presence (i.e. a natural gypsum soil vs a fungi sterile gypsum soil). We intended to determine the role of soil fungi on the exudation of organic acids by roots and the rhizosphere acidification in *Ononis tridentata* seedlings growing in an alkaline gypsum soil (hence with low nutrient availability). We hypothesized that:

• The presence of fungi in the soil will facilitate soil acidification, reaching lower pH in the rhizosphere.

• Root exudation will be promoted in plants grown on fungi-sterile soils, as a response to a higher nutrient stress.

General Methodology

To address the aims of this thesis and verify the postulated hypotheses, we combined field (in two different gypsum plant communities) and cultivation studies (involving two dominant Iberian gypsophiles), which results have been summarized in four chapters. Each chapter conforms an original research article either published or in revision in different international scientific journals, where methodology is described in depth. However, in this section we aimed to describe in more detail the study systems chosen for field studies, and highlight the approximations used in experimental studies. We also include preliminary data from proofs-of-concept that were not finally included in the main results of each chapter, but are relevant to understand the approaches followed.

Study areas

The study in Chapter 1 was conducted on a gypsum hill in the Middle Ebro Depression, Zaragoza Province, North-East Spain (Figure G.M.1). This region is a depression limited by mountain ranges with the Pyrenees at the north, the Iberian Mountain Range at the South-West and the Catalan Mediterranean System at the South-West (Figure G.M.1). This area is the most arid within the River Ebro Basin (López-Moreno *et al.*, 2010), and is formed by low hills and flat-bottomed valleys with an average height of 300 m a.s.l (Mota *et al.*, 2011) (Figure G.M.2). On top of the arid conditions that prevail in this region, our sampling was performed at the top of a gypsum hill (Figure G.M. 2), which should exacerbate water scarcity for plants, due to the higher distance to groundwater and the runoff effect of gypsum soils, which have very low water retention (Herrreo & Porta, 2000).

The Middle Ebro Depression encloses the most prominent gypsum outcrops in northern Spain and one of the most massive in Europe (Escavy *et al.*, 2012). The lithology in the area is composed mainly by gypsum with several marls and clays (Quirantes, 1978). These are poorly developed soils very sensitive to erosion, characterized by high gyspum contents (more than 60 %), alkaline soil pH (7.5-8), low content of organic matter (<1.5%) and moderate salinity (EC 2-3dS/m) (Navas,

1991). Climate in this region is semi-arid and highly seasonal. Mean annual temperature is 14.9 °C, average annual rainfall is 331.5 mm, which falls mainly during spring and autumn, and evapotranspiration is around 1200 mm (Palacio *et al.*, 2007), so plants experience intense drought during summer months. Dryness is accentuated by strong frequent winds dominating from NW to SE that desiccate soil and reduce air moisture (Herrero and Snyder, 1997).



Figure G.M.1. Location of the study area in the Middle Ebro Depression in NE Spain. Image provided by Google Earth (2023).

The Middle Ebro Depression is exceptional for the singularity of the flora and the richness of species, including also edaphic and local endemics (Mota-Poveda *et al.*, 2011). Plant communities are predominantly composed of gypsophyle shrubs and Mediterranean widespread basophilic shrubs (gypsovags) belonging to the orders *Gypsophiletalia* and *Rosmarinetalia*, respectively (Braun-Blanquet and Bolòs, 1958). These communities include small-sized xerophytic formations of Mediterranean and gypsophilic shrubs and sub-shrubs followed by some herbaceous perennial and annual species. The most abundant species in these communities are *Rosmarinus officinalis*

L., *Thymus vulgaris* L., *Teucrium capitatum* L., *Stipa offneri* Breistr, *Helianthemum syriacum* Jacq, *Genista scorpius* L. DC, *Fumana ericifolia* Wallr, plus the gypsophytes *Helianthemum squamatum*, *Herniaria fruticosa* L., *Ononis tridentata* and *Gypsophila struthium* subsp. *hispanica* (Willk.) G.López.



Figure G.M. 2. Closer overview of the study area in Chapter 1 showing the landscape of low hills and valleys. First image provided by Google Earth (2023) and second image courtesy of Gabriel Montserrat-Martí.

These lands have been traditionally used for agro-pastoral purposes with cereal crops and livestock (Pueyo, 2005). However, according to Mota-Poveda *et al* (2011) the recent mechanization and extensiveness of the agriculture has caused intensive soil salinization and loss of plant species.

The study included in Chapter 2 was performed in the Aladaghlar hills, located in NW Iran, a field site belonging to the Irano-Turanian floristic region (see Chapter 2, Figure 1). In this region, gypsum outcrops are an integral part of the desert landscapes characteristic of the lowlands and lower mountain belt. In particular, the colourful clays and marls of the Upper Red Formation, with its varying chemical composition, contain fragmented gypsum and intercalations of crystalline gypsum layers (Ghorbani 2019). Such coloured gypsiferous formations cross the Irano–Turanian floristic region, and form an integral part of the deserts of Central Asia and Iran. In NW Iran a

particularly big area, covered by sediments composed of marls, gypsum, conglomerate and sandstone, is the Miocene Upper Red Formation, located between the villages Moshampa (Zanjan province) and Toryan Qeshlaq (East Azarbaijan Province), called locally Aladaghlar (literally from Azeri Turkish "Rainbow mountains") (Azizi *et al.* 2018). The area is located in the Zanjan basin, a remaining of the Tethys Sea until the Early Miocene, with the subsequent sedimentation of marine and continental sediments in the form of marls, fragmented gypsum, siltstone and conglomerate and intercalated evaporite layers, including thick crystalline gypsum (Alizadeh 2017, Rahimpour–Bonab *et al.* 2007).

The Aladaghlar area has a complex relief composed of hills, valleys and playas, and a very heterogeneous chemical composition, varying greatly even on single slopes. Our field sampling was performed in the Aladaghlar hill area (Figure G.M.3), in North-Western Iran, on the border of the Zanjan and Eastern Azerbaijan provinces, where the gypsum content of the slopes varies from 4% to 84% (average of 24%) (Akhani and Rahmaninia, unpublished). The climate of the region is Mediterranean xeric continental (Djamli *et al.* 2011) with severe drought during summer. The mean annual precipitation and temperature are 313 mm and 11.5°C (Min = -7.5° C, Max = 31.9° C), respectively (according to a 50-year climate data recorded in Zanjan meteorological station, east of the study area).

The harsh climate of the Aladaghlar hill area and its edaphic and topographic peculiarities result in a sparse vegetation, dominated mainly by succulent xerophytic shrubs and subshrubs as *Anabasis calcarea* (Charif & Aellen) Bokhari & Wendelbo, *Anabasis eugeniae* Iljin, *Caroxylon gemmascens* (Pall.) Tzvelev, *Kaviria aucheri* (Moq.) Akhani, *Noaea mucronata* (Forssk.) Asch. & Schweinf., *Oreosalsola montana* (Litv.) Akhani, *Salsola arbusculiformis* Drobow (Amaranthaceae), *Atraphaxis suaedifolia* Jaub. & Spach (Polygonaceae) and *Zygophyllum eurypterum* Boiss. & Buhse (Zygophyllaceae). The area is highly diverse with several endemic species, but is also understudied, with scarce ecological information available in the scientific literature.



Figure G.M. 3. The studied hill of Aladaghlar located in NW Iran. Picture courtesy of Alexander Rudov.

Species included in experimental studies

Chapters 3 and 4 follow experimental approaches to disentangle the mechanisms used by gypsum specialist plants to cope with drought and modify rhizosphere soil conditions. To that end, they focus on two of the most conspicuous gypsophiles of the Iberian Peninsula (Rivas Goday, 1955; Bellot & Casaseca Mena, 1952).

In Chapter 3, we performed an integrated analysis of the responses to experimental drought of the gypsophile *Helianthemum squamatum* L. (Figure G.M.4), which belongs to the *Cistaceae* family. It is a chamaephyte with an Ibero-Maghrebian distribution (W-SW of the Mediterranean Region), exclusive of gypsum soils of the Iberian Peninsula, North of Morocco and Algeria. It is found in open scrubs on gypsiferous soils. It flowers from April to July and produces fruits from June to August (Castroviejo, 2020). It has flat and fleshy green-yellow leaves, covered with scales. The flowers are in a ramose inflorescence with yellow maculated petals longer than the sepals (Figure G.M.4). The root system of *H. squamatum* has been reported to reach from 50 cm to 1 m deep (Guerrero-Campo, 1998).



Figure G.M.4. *Helianthemum squamatum* A) Plant size and general view B) Flowers, C) Leaves. Pictures by I. Soriano, downloaded from Herbario Jaca (IPE-CSIC).

In Chapter 4, we aimed to monitor changes in rhizosphere pH of seedlings of the gypsophile *Ononis tridentata* L (Figure G.M.5), determining the role played by soil fungi and root exudation rhizosphere acidification. *O. tridentata*, from the *Fabaceae* family, is a deciduous nanophanerophyte distributed in North Africa and Eastern Spain. It is an endemism from the Iberian Peninsula and the Maghreb. It forms low dense scrubs preferentially on gypsum soils next to other gypsophile species such as *Gypsophila hispanica* and *Herniaria fruticosa*. The flowering period goes from May to August (Castroviejo, 2020). *O. tridentata* has whitish branches and trifoliate and fleshy leaves. The flowers are light pink or whitish and its fruits are short and hairy legumes

(Figure G.M. 5). This species can reach 1.5 m high and has deep and thick taproot with a high growth rate in the seedling stage, which eases its observation in the laboratory.



Figure G.M.5. Adult individuals of *Ononis tridentata*. A) Plant general view B) Flowers C) Fruits. Pictures by Gabriel Montserrat, downloaded from Herbario Jaca (IPE-CSIC).

Rhizoboxes, windows to explore the underground

Studying the growing root *in situ* has been a scientific challenge for a long time due to its inaccessibility, however, gaining access to the roots is fundamental to unveil plant-soil-microbiota interactions, which in turn are key to understand plant and ecosystem functioning as a whole (Santner *et al.*, 2015). In order to study root-soil interactions, in Chapter 4 we cultivated *O. tridentata* seedlings in purpose-built rhizoboxes, a non-destructive method to study roots growing in the soil. A rhizobox consist of a narrow rectangular container designed for the study of root growth and rhizosphere processes (Schmidt *et al.*, 2018; Wenzel *et al.*, 2001). To assess changes in rhizosphere pH, we used a modified design of a rhizobox from the one by Marschner and Römheld (1983) and similar to those employed in Dinkelaker *et al.* (1993). Plants were grown in soil filled into black plexiglass rhizoboxes (220 x 170 x 15 mm) with a transparent lid (Figure G.M.6), which was covered with a black acetate sheet to keep darkness and favour root growth. To promote root growth along the transparent lid, the boxes were leaned *ca.* 45° to the lid side.



Figure G.M.6. A. Diagram of the rhizoboxes used in the experiment. Designed by Jesus Revilla (Instrument Lab, IPE-CSIC) for this Thesis and inspired by Marschner and Römheld (1983). **B**. Picture of a *H. squamatum* seedling after several weeks growing on a rhizobox on gypsum soil. **C**. *O. tridentata* seedling growing on a rhizobox on gypsum soil.

Once plants had developed sufficient visible root in the rhizobox, the transparent lid was removed to get access to the root and place optical sensors (optodes) to visualize pH changes next to the root and the surrounding soil (explained in detail in Chapter 4).

As a proof-of concept, we tried to combine plants grown in rhizoboxes with X-ray diffractometry of the root-soil system, to detect *in situ* potential changes of gypsum mineral phases (involving gypsum dehydration). To that end, we developed small stainless steel minirhizoboxes (70 mm x 70 mm x 10 mm) to fit the slide tray of an X-R diffractometer (Figure G.M.7). This methodology, however, required an exhaustive control of air moisture and microbial contamination when wild

plants were cultivated, owing to the very small quantity of soil held in the minirhizobox, which led to very low water holding capacity.



Figure G.M.7. Mini-rhizoboxes with *H. squamatum* seedlings cultivated on gypsum soil. A. Front view of the transparent lid. B. General view of the home-made installation to keep them moist and in an angle of ~45°. Black covers were installed in the lid to keep soil dark and favour root growth. C. Lateral view of the experimental system. D. Plastic zip bags to keep moisture in the mini-rhizoboxes.

Stable isotopes of water as tool for the study of plant water use in gypsum plant communities

Stable isotopes of water (²H and ¹⁸O) are considered ideal tracers to study water fluxes in the soilplant-atmosphere continuum and have been used as hydrological and ecological tracers for more than fifty years (Meißner *et al.*, 2014; Penna *et al.*, 2018). Water phase changes explain most of the variability in water isotopic composition, as heavier isotopes have lower mobility than lighter ones (Dawson *et al.*, 2002). Thus, the isotopic signature of water in the xylem sap of the species and that of the different water pools in the soil are generally analysed to infer the water sources used by plant species. These studies are highly important for water resource management in vegetated ecosystems. To address a proper resolution of this methodology, it is important to define the isotopic composition of the available water pools for plants in the soil. Water isotopic signatures are very heterogeneous both spatially and temporally. They can change with time, soil depth and soil properties even at small scales (Troch *et al.*, 2009), and they also differ according to the genesis of the water, as happens in gypsum crystallization water. In addition, recent works highlight potential isotopic fractionation effects (Martín-Gómez *et al.* 2016; Barbeta *et al.*, 2020a; de la Casa *et al.*, 2021; Barbeta *et al.*, 2022), which question the interpretation of water source studies, based for many years in the principle of the absence of isotopic fractionation during water uptake by roots, transport through the plant, and sampling or extraction from the xylem samples. These works concluded that the isotopic offset among plant stem water and soil water is due to evaporation processes occurring in non-conductive tissues of the xylem and in the soil at the pore-scale (Martín-Gómez *et al.*, 2016; Barbeta *et al.*, 2020a).

Our methodology tried, as far as possible, to overcome the challenges outlined above and prevent misinterpretation in several ways. To account for soil heterogeneity, as described in Chapter 1, we first revised the bibliography about rooting depth and architecture of the studied species and, when possible, checked it in the field (as described in Chapter 2). Whenever possible, we did a thorough sampling of the soil profile, covering the most relevant depths for root location (e.g. 1 m deep soil profiles in Chapter 1). We sampled the soil water underneath each plant individual harvested at different soil depths (10 and 20 cm) in the different sampling dates, and characterized the deep water or groundwater, when technically possible, of the ecosystem under study.

To minimize the risk of stem water evaporation and to maximize the representativeness of xylem water as an indicator of the main water sources used by plants, we harvested between 6:30 and 10 h (solar time). In this time frame, we expect maximum transpiration rates and low evaporative demand to prevent stem dehydration (Grammatikopoulos, *et al.*, 1995; Martín-Gomez *et al.*, 2017). In herbaceous species, the root collar was used as a proxy for non-enriched source water (Barnard *et al.*, 2006). In woody species, the bark and phloem were removed with a knife to avoid contamination with phloem water and organic compounds present in living cells and/or the bark (Ehleringer and Dawson 1992).

To obtain the isotopic signature of different water pools, water of the soil samples was carefully extracted in a cryogenic vacuum distillation (see Figure G.M.8 for assembly details of the

extraction line), the most commonly used method to extract water contained in the soil and in plant xylem (Orlowski *et al.*, 2016). Cryogenic vacuum distillation was performed in two steps (with 90 min for each step according to the methodology in Meißner *et al.*, 2014). The first distillation was done at 35 °C with the aim to extract free water in the soil; and then soil samples were extracted a second time in a silicone oil bath at 130 °C with the aim to extract gypsum crystallization water (Palacio *et al.*, 2014). Soil samples were weighed before and after the extractions to ensure complete dehydration.

Deuterium offset among water sources and xylem water has been reported in cool or temperate and wet environments. In addition, this process has been usually detected in trees, which have a bigger parenchyma than shrubs. In shrubs, this effect has not been proved yet (de la Casa *et al.*, 2022; Barbeta *et al.*, 2020b). It is important to visualize the isotopic values of sources and plants in δ^2 H- δ^{18} O plots to complement mixing models. This visualization allows reflecting the potential misinterpretation of δ^2 H results, checking if xylems are considerably more negative than potential



Figure GM.8. Cryogenic vacuum distillation line assembly in the Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología-CSIC (Jaca, Spain) during this thesis development with collaboration of Juan Pedrio Ferrio (CITA-CSIC). The distillation consists on a container with silicone oil that heats the tubes with the sample. These are connected to a vacuum system obtained with a pump and connected by metal hoses. The tubes are connected to other L-shaped and then, to U-shaped tubes immersed in liquid nitrogen where the water sample collected is frozen. To collect the obtained water in the U-shaped tubes, they are disconnected, covered and waited for the samples to change into liquid phase, whose is rigorously collected. The assembly line was suitable for extracting eight samples at the same time.

water sources. In addition, different slopes among plants and free water sources in δ^2 H- δ^{18} O plots could reflect potential evaporative processes in plants.

Chapter1

Sampling day of soil and plant xylems on the top of the gypsum hill in Alfajarín, Zaragoza. Picture taken by Juan Pedro Ferrio in April 2018.

Composition of the margin by Virginia de la Iglesia and Laura de la Puente

Disentangling water sources in a gypsum plant community.

Gypsum crystallization water is a key source of water for

shallow-rooted plants*

* de la Puente, L., Pedro Ferrio, J., & Palacio, S. (2022). Disentangling water sources in a gypsum plant community. Gypsum crystallization water is a key source of water for shallow-rooted plants. *Annals of Botany*, *129*(1), 87-100.

ABSTRACT

- **Background and Aims**: Gypsum drylands are widespread worldwide. In these arid ecosystems, different species ability to access different water sources during drought is a key determining factor of the composition of plant communities. Gypsum crystallization water could be a relevant source of water for shallow rooted plants, but the segregation in the use of this source of water among plants remains unexplored. We analyzed the principal water sources used by 20 species living in a gypsum hilltop, the effect of rooting depth and gypsum affinity, and the interaction of the plants with the soil beneath them.
- Methods: We characterized water stable isotope composition, δ²H and δ¹⁸O, of plant xylem water and related it with the free and gypsum crystallization water extracted from different depths along the soil profile and the groundwater, both in spring and summer. Bayesian isotope mixing models were used to estimate the contribution of water sources to plants xylem sap.
- Key results: In spring, all species used free water from the top soil as the main source. In summer, there was segregation in water sources used by different species depending on their rooting depth, but not on their gypsum affinity. Gypsum crystallization water was the main source for most shallow-rooted species, whereas free water from 50-100 cm depth was the main source for deep-rooted species. We detected plant-soil interactions in spring, and indirect evidence of possible hydraulic lift by deep-rooted species in summer.
- **Conclusions**: Plants coexisting in gypsum communities segregate their hydrological niches according to their rooting depth. Crystallization water of gypsum represents an unaccounted, vital source for most of the shallow-rooted species growing on gypsum drylands. Thus, crystallization water helps shallow-rooted species to endure arid conditions, which eventually accounts for the maintenance of high biodiversity in these specialized ecosystems.

Keywords: water sources, hydrological niche, drought, gypsum crystallization water, plant community, root depth, gypsum affinity, water stable isotopes

INTRODUCTION

Plant species from arid and semi-arid ecosystems have adapted to water scarcity by different mechanisms of water uptake and use. An important strategy is the segregation in hydrological niches, which makes possible the coexistence of different plant species in stable and diverse communities (Eherlinger et al., 1991; Filella and Peñuelas, 2003; Araya et al., 2011; Silvertown et al., 2015, Palacio et al 2017). Hydrological niche segregation has often been found in several ecosystems affected by drought like Mediterranean shrublands and forests (Filella and Peñuelas, 2003; Moreno-Gutierrez et al., 2012; Del Castillo et al., 2016), deserts (Ehleringer et al., 1991; Parks, 1997; Schachtschneider and February, 2010) or seasonal tropical forests (Ding et al., 2020; Brum et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2010). Different traits related to changes in root architecture and rooting depth allow divergent water use strategies and the partition of this scant resource among coexisting plants (Donovan and Ehleringer, 1994; Moreno-Gutierrez et al., 2012). Water from precipitation present in the topsoil favours nutrient availability and microbial processes, using this pool preferentially during the growth period (Caldwell et al., 1998; Querejeta et al., 2021). However, during drought, roots should access deeper soil layers, sometimes even reaching the water table, where water availability is more stable (Ehleringer et al., 1991; Ryel et al., 2008, 2010; Rempe and Dietrich, 2018). These deeper water pools are normally used to maintain transpiration during periods of limited growth (Voltas et al., 2015). Many plants have developed dimorphic root systems with both superficial and deep roots, and the different water potential between dry shallow layers and wet deep layers can lead to hydraulic lift (Bauerle et al., 2008; Prieto et al., 2012). This is a widespread process in semi-arid environments consisting on the passive movement of water from deeper layers to upper layers by roots (Prieto et al., 2010). Through hydraulic lift, plants can act as "bioirrigators" to neighbouring plants, hence increasing their chances of survival and, ultimately, the coexistence of diverse communities (Bayala and Prieto, 2019; Jackson et al., 2000). Assessing the functional importance of contrasting soil water pools and their spatial and temporal variation is necessary to evaluate how climate change and land use may affect the ecohydrology of vegetation and the dynamics of plant communities (Ehleringer et al., 1991; Dwivedi et al., 2019; Oerter and Bowen, 2019). Understanding the mechanisms of different plant species to uptake and partition water resources in arid and semi-arid conditions is crucial to unravel the processes supporting plant coexistence in dryland communites (Dodd et al., 1998; Peñuelas et al., 1999).

Gypsiferous soils, i.e. soils with high (above 40 %) gypsum (Ca₂SO₄.2H₂O) content (Cashby et al., 2015), are frequently present in drylands, being widespread around the world (FAO, 1990; Verheye and Boyadgiev, 1997). Together with the arid conditions, these soils have low water retention (Herrero and Porta, 2000) and, consequently, water is a major limiting factor for plants growing on gypsum soils. Some studies, however, found better water availability in summer in gypsum soils than in surrounding non-gypsum soils (Meyer and García-Moya, 1989; Escudero et al., 2015). This observation is further supported by the discovery of crystalline gypsum water as a source for plants and other organisms during the dry period (Palacio et al., 2014; Palacio et al., 2017; Huang et al., 2020). Gypsum contains water in its crystalline structure, which represents up to 20.8% of its weight. Under certain conditions of vapor pressure, temperature (from 42 °C in pure gypsum, Marshall et al., 1964), gypsum could dehydrate, changing into bassanite (the hemihydrate: CaSO₄.0.5H₂O) or into anhydrite (CaSO₄) (Van't Hoff *et al.*, 1093; Freyer & Voigt, 2003; Ossorio et al., 2014). In addition, it has been demonstrated how this phase transformation can be induced by some microorganisms, leading to anhydrite re-precipitation (Huang et al., 2020). There is evidence of a large use of crystallization water by the gypsum endemic plant H. squamatum, and it has been suggested that its use could be extended to other shallow-rooted species living in gypsum plant communities (Palacio et al., 2014; Palacio et al., 2017, Henschel et al., 2018). However, it is still unknown up to what point plants coexisting in the same plant community show different ability to retrieve crystallization water, and thus, whether the use of this water pool is a relevant factor defining hydrological niches in gypsum plant communities.

Gypsiferous soils show also particular chemical and physical properties, which could constraint the development of plant life (Escudero *et al.*, 2015). Plant roots have to cope with a high penetration resistance (Poch and Verplancke, 1997; Moore *et al.*, 2014, Sánchez-Martín *et al.*, 2021) and morphological transitions of the soil due to dissolution-precipitation sequences of gypsum (Cashby *et al.*, 2015). In addition, most of these soils have low nutrient supply caused by their low organic matter content and cation exchange capacity and their saturation in Ca and S (Moore *et al.*, 2014; Cashby *et al.*, 2015). Despite these limitations, gypsum soils host highly diversified floras, rich in endemic and highly specialized species (Moore *et al.*, 2014) which have been the subject of deeper study from only a few years ago (Escudero *et al.*, 2015).

Plant species growing on gypsiferous soils can be classified in two groups depending on their affinity for gypsum: gypsophiles, which only grow on gypsiferous soils and often have substrate-specific physiological strategies (Palacio *et al.*, 2007; Escudero *et al.*, 2015; Cera *et al.*, 2021, ; and gypsovags, which are non-exclusive to gypsum soils (i.e. grow also off gypsum) and frequently display stress tolerant strategies (Palacio *et al.*, 2007; Bolukbasi *et al.*, 2016). Gypsophiles have shown a range of mechanisms to detoxify the excess of Ca and SO₄ considering their leaf elemental composition, whereas gypsovags would follow an avoidance strategy, reducing the absorption of these compounds (Palacio *et al.*, 2007; Palacio *et al.*, 2014; Merlo *et al.*, 2019; Cera *et al.*, 2020). Thus, if obtaining the crystallization water from gypsum is related to its dissolution (Huang *et al.*, 2020) and, consequently, the release of Ca and sulphate ions, gypsophiles could be more prone to using this water than gypsovags.

Tracing water movement in the soil and plants is possible using the natural variations of stable isotopes of hydrogen (²H) and oxygen (¹⁸O) in water molecules. This widely used method, extensively applied in hydrology and ecophysiology, allows evaluating the result of several processes without disrupting the natural behaviour of the elements in the system (Meisner et al., 2014; Penna et al., 2018). Water phase changes (vapour-liquid-solid) explain most of the isotopic variability, as the heavier isotopes have a lower mobility (Dawson et al., 2002). The water sources acquired by plants can be determined with the following premises 1) alternative water pools must be isotopically distinct and 2) there is no isotopic fractionation during water uptake. In dry environments, the first assumption is generally fulfilled: due to evaporative fractionation, upper soil layers often become enriched in the heavy isotopes ²H and ¹⁸O, thus being distinguishable from deeper soil layers or groundwater (Barnes and Allison, 1988; Dawson and Ehleringer, 1998). With regard to the second assumption, fractionation during water uptake is considered negligible in most plants (Dawson et al., 2002 and references cited therein), with the exception of some coastal wetland species (Lin et al., 1993) and certain woody xerophytes (Ellsworth and Williams, 2007). Nevertheless, different authors have reported discrepancies between source and stem water, attributed to different causes, e.g. heterogeneity in the soil (Barbeta et al. 2021), stem evaporation during periods of limited water flow (Dawson and Ehleringer 1993; Martín-Gómez et al. 2017) or sampling artefacts (Marshall et al., 2020).

The purpose of this study was to analyse the distribution of water sources among the main 20 dominant plant species in a top-hill gypsum community. We characterized the variation in the isotopic composition of water along the soil profile and evaluated the effect of species rooting depth and affinity for gypsum soils on their water use both in spring and summer. We also analysed how plants interacted with the soil beneath them. Considering plant water-uptake patterns, we hypothesised that: (1) shallow-rooted, gypsum-exclusive species will preferentially use crystallization water from gypsum in summer, whereas shallow-rooted, non-exclusive species will be restricted to the (scarce) free water available in the topsoil. Conversely, deep-rooted species, regardless of gypsum affinity, will rely mainly on the use of deep soil water and/or groundwater during summer drought. Considering plant-soil interactions, we also hypothesised that (2) deep-rooted species will interact with the shallow soil, uplifting water from deeper soil layers (hence performing hydraulic lift).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study area and species

We conducted field sampling on a gypsum hill in the Middle Ebro Depression, Zaragoza province, NE Spain (41°37'52.5" N 0°41'23.7" W, 287 m a.s.l). The main component of the soil in this region is gypsum (63.4%), with thin outcrops of marls and clays (Quirantes, 1977). Climate is semi-arid and highly seasonal (Palacio *et al.*, 2007). Mean annual temperature is 14.9 °C, average annual rainfall is 331.5 mm, which falls mainly during spring and autumn, and evapotranspiration is around 1200 mm, so plants experience intense drought during summer months. An important proportion of the soil surface in the upper part of gypsum hill is bare or coated with biological crusts dominated by cyanobacteria, lichens and mosses (Concostrina-Zubiri *et al.*, 2014). The plant community is dominated by sub-shrubs like *Helianthemum squamatum*, with some taller shrubs, such as *Gypsophila struthium* subsp. *hispanica* or *Ononis tridentata* (Braun-Blanquet & Bolos, 1987).

We selected 20 dominant perennial plant species to represent the community living at the top of the hill, where stress conditions are most severe (Hodgson *et al.*, 1994; Guerrero Campo *et al.*, 1999; Cashby *et al.*, 2015). These representative species included different life forms (woody vs. herbaceous), root-depths, affinity for gypsum soils and taxonomic families. We considered species with more than one-meter-deep roots to be deep-rooted species, and the rest were considered shallow-rooted (Guerrero-Campo, 1998; Table. 1).

Plant and soil sampling

Field sampling for isotope analyses was performed in rainy spring (24 -25 April, 2018) and in the dry summer (7-8 August, 2018), after a long rainless period. On each sampling date, we harvested the main stems (including the root crown) of five individuals of each species. We selected vigorous, medium-sized individuals located at least 5 m away from each other. To minimize the risk of stem water evaporation and to maximize the representativeness of xylem water as an indicator of the main water sources used by plants, we harvested between 6:30 and 10 h (solar time). In this period, we expect maximum transpiration rates and low evaporative demand to prevent stem dehydration (Grammatikopoulos, *et al.*, 1995; Martín-Gomez *et al.*, 2017). In herbaceous species, the root collar was used as a proxy for non-enriched source water (Barnard *et*

al., 2006). In woody species, the bark and phloem were removed with a knife to avoid contamination with phloem water and organic compounds present in living cells and/or the bark (Ehleringer and Dawson 1992; see Fig 1d). Two soil samples were collected underneath each plant at two different depths: 10 and 20 cm, (*ca.* ± 2 cm) avoiding the intrusion of roots in the samples (see Fig. 1c). In addition, to capture variation in soil water isotopic composition along soil depth, three profiles one-meter-deep were dug underneath the bare soil on each sampling date (see Fig. 1.b). Soil samples were collected at 13 different depths (*ca.* ± 2 cm): 5, 10, 15, 20, 30, 40, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90 and 100 cm. In spring, we gathered two extra samples from a small temporal creek upwelling in the saline depression downhill, representative of the groundwater. At the time of sampling, the water formed a small temporal creek, easily distinguished from rain puddles. Right after harvest, water, stem and soil samples were placed in airtight sealed tubes (Duran GL18), immediately frozen with dry ice, and kept frozen until distillation in the lab.

Water extraction

Xylem and soil water were extracted by cryogenic vacuum distillation (Ehleringer and Dawson, 1992), adapted as described in Palacio et al. (2014). Spring samples were extracted at the Laboratory of Silvicuture of the Universitat de Lleida (Lleida, Spain) and summer samples were extracted with the same procedure at the laboratory of the Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología (IPE-CSIC, Zaragoza, Spain). Sample tubes were placed in a heated silicone oil bath, and connected with Ultra-Torr unions (Swagelok Company, Solon, OH, USA) to a vacuum system (ca. 10⁻² mbar) including U-shaped water traps in series that were cooled with liquid Nitrogen. Eight lines were installed. After an extraction time of 90 min for plant and soil samples (West, 2006; Meisner 2014), captured water was transferred into screw-capped 2 ml vials, and stored at 4 °C until isotope analyses. Xylem water was distilled at 130 °C, whereas gypsum soils were distilled in two steps: first at 35 °C, and then at 130 °C to separate free and crystallization water and assure almost complete dehydration of gypsum (Freyer and Voigt, 2003; Palacio et al., 2014). Between the first and second distillation, sample tubes were kept in a desiccator with silica gel to avoid any rehydration with ambient moisture, which could contaminate the next extraction water. Distilled samples were completely dried in the oven for 24 h at 60 °C. The samples were weighed before and after each distillation and after oven-drying to measure water content and confirm complete distillation.

Stable isotope analyses

Oxygen and hydrogen isotope composition (d¹⁸O, d²H) were determined by cavity ring-down spectroscopy (CRDS). For spring samples, the analyses were performed at the Serveis Científico-Tecnics (Universitat de Lleida), using a Picarro L2120-i with vaporizer A0211 (Picarro, Santa Clara, CA, US). Summer samples were analysed at the scientific services of the Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología (CSIC), using a Picarro L2130-i with vaporizer A0211 (Picarro, Santa Clara, CA, US). The estimated precision was 0.10% for δ^{18} O and 0.40% for δ^{2} H. Deuterium excess was calculated according to Dansgaard (1964), as the divergence from the Global Meteoric Water Line: Dex = δ^{2} H - 8 x δ^{18} O. Where appropriate, we applied the post processing correction to manage the organic contamination of the samples. After describing the magnitude of contamination with the software PostProcess ChemCorrectTM v1.2.0, the H₂¹⁸O, HD¹⁶O and H₂¹⁶O peaks, filtered by the spectral features of organic compounds, were converted to organic-corrected δ^{18} O and δ^{2} H by applying a formula using device-specific factory calibration values (see Martín-Gómez *et al.* 2015 for details).

Statistical analyses

Changes in soil water content and in the isotopic composition of water along soil profiles, as well as δ^2 H- δ^{18} O bi-plots with soil water and xylem sap isotopic compositions were visualized using *ggplot2* in R (Wickham, 2016). Soil water content was calculated from sample weights before and after water extractions. Variation in the isotopic composition along the soil profiles was analyzed to characterize potential deep water sources for plants and locate the evaporation front in both seasons. To identify the possible sources of deep soil water for plants, we defined soil depths above 20 cm deep with homogeneous isotopic composition of free soil water that markedly differed from other depths in the soil (Fig. 2). Transition depths with intermediate and highly variable soil water isotopic composition were not included in the model, so that alternative sources could be clearly differentiated. For this reason, water isotopic values at 30 and 40 cm depth were removed from the set of sources (see Fig. 2 and Supplementary Data Fig. S1). Considering the results for the characterization of soil water along the soil profile (see Fig. 2, Fig3), we could differentiate four potential water sources for plants (see below). This characterization of sources was the simplification of a preliminary, seven-source model (see below). Differences among study species and sampling dates in xylem water isotopic composition (δ^{18} O, δ^{2} H) and Deuterium excess were evaluated using residual maximum likelihood (REML) analysis with the *lmer* function from the *lme4* package in R (Bates *et al.*, 2015). Models were run separately for each water isotope: ²H, ¹⁸O and Deuterium-excess. General models included species nested within family as a random factor to account for potential phylogenetic bias, and gypsum affinity (two levels: gypsophile and gypsovag), water pool (two levels: free and crystallization) and root depth (two levels: shallow and deep) as fixed factors. Separate models were run for each season to explore differences between species with different gypsum affinity and root depth in each season for each isotope. Shapiro-Wilk normality test (Royston, 1995) and Levene test for homogeneity of variances (Noguchi and Gel, 2010; Gastwirth *et al.*, 2009) were used to check the normal distribution and homocedasticity of residuals. Residuals were visually checked using *DHARMa* package (Hartig, 2021). When interactions were significant, groups were analyzed with post-hoc Tukey HSD tests using *lsmeans* package (Russell, 2016).

The relative contribution of different water sources to xylem sap was estimated using Bayesian mixing models for stable isotopic data with the package MixSIAR (Stock et al., 2018). This procedure estimates the proportion of source contributions to a mixture. The model used as 'consumers' the isotope values of xylem water in each individual (δ^2 H and δ^{18} O). For 'Sources', alternative models were run with different grouping of sources in order to select those that best described and simplified the potential water sources for plants. The Mix-SIAR model that had better accuracy and so, explained better the contribution of the sources to the xylem of plants, was run with seven different sources for each species: free soil and crystallization water from 10, 20 cm, free and crystallization water from the 'deep-soil' (50-100 cm combined), and groundwater. Values for 10 cm and 20 cm soil depth included one replicate per individual plant, whereas values from deeper soil were averaged across the three soil profiles. This model was simplified a posteriori by the addition of the contributions of each source into four simplified sources: 1) "crystal water", i.e. gypsum crystallization water from the soil underneath the plants and deepsoil, as they clearly departed from free water, and had a comparatively small variation along the soil profile. It was calculated by the addition of the contributions to the xylem of plants of all three crystallization water sources initially considered. 2) "shallow free": free water in the shallow soil (until ca. 20 cm depth), represented by free water extracted from soil collected underneath each plant owing to the better replication. It was calculated as the addition of the contribution to the

xylem of the free water at 10 cm and 20 cm. 3) "deep-soil free", free water in the deep soil (between 50 - 100 cm depth); and 4) the water table (i.e "groundwater"), not modified from the output in the Bayesian model. The contribution of the water sources to the species separated by their root depth was calculated by the addition of the contributions of the different sources to the composition of the xylem water of the different species in each rooting depth group.

The effect of plant species on the isotopic composition of the soil beneath them was considered by assessing the significance of between- and within-group variations in the isotopic composition of the soil collected under each individual. Effects were analyzed separately for each isotope (δ^2 H, δ^{18} O and Deuterium excess) and season. To account for inter-specific differences in the isotopic composition of soil water, we ran lineal models using the *lm* function (Chambers, 1992). Specific models were run with REML using *lmer* function (*lme4* package) to assess differences for the fixed factors: "gypsum affinity", "root depth" and their interaction with the same random term structure as in xylem water comparisons. To assist in the interpretation of plantsoil interactions, e.g. to visually identify evidence of hydraulic lift, isotopic composition of the xylem water and the water extracted from the soil beneath the plants were visually compared with *ggplot2* package. All statistical analyses were run in R 4.0.0. (R Core Team, 2020).

RESULTS

Water source characterization along soil profiles

 δ^2 H and δ^{18} O composition of free soil water showed more homogeneous values in spring than in summer (Fig. 2a, b), mainly due to the spatial heterogeneity of soil water evaporative enrichment and the location of the evaporation front at slightly different positions among the three different soil profiles. In spring, water in shallow soil layers showed more negative values of both δ^2 H and δ^{18} O than water in the deep soil (Fig. 2a, b), which corresponded with very negative values from a recent rain event in April 2018 (Supplementary Data Table S1). No evaporation front was observed in spring, whereas in summer, the evaporation front in the bare soil was located at *ca*. 15 cm depth, showing an abrupt change from isotopically-depleted values of δ^2 H and δ^{18} O at 5-10 cm, typical of water vapour, to highly enriched values at 15-20 cm (Fig. 2 a, b). Below 20 cm, δ^2 H and δ^{18} O became more negative with depth, until they stabilized from 40-50 cm to 80-90 cm depth, with a slight increase from 90 to 100 cm (Fig 2 a, b). In both seasons, the δ^2 H and δ^{18} O of gypsum crystallization water showed a similar pattern with depth (between 5 and 60 cm). Values were more positive in the upper soil layers, presumably due to the re-crystallization of gypsum with more evaporated water. In spring, this progressive depletion with depth continued until 100 cm, whereas in summer, a small increase in isotopic signatures was observed between 70-90 cm, together with larger variability among profiles.

In spring, Deuterium excess of free water was rather homogeneous along the soil profile (Fig. 2 c), becoming slightly negative in the top layer (5 cm) and in the deepest layers (60-100 cm). Conversely, Deuterium excess of free water in summer showed large variations, following an opposite pattern to that in δ^2 H and δ^{18} O that indicates strong evaporative enrichment of soil water in the upper soil layers (Fig. 2 c). For crystallization water, Deuterium excess in both seasons became less negative with depth, further indicating re-crystallization of gypsum with more evaporated water in the top soil layers.

We found much higher free water content in the shallow soil layers in spring than in summer (Fig 2 d). In spring, we observed relatively uniform free water content in the soil profile until 60-70 cm, where soil water content decreased in the vicinity of the underlying bedrock. In summer, we observed severe soil desiccation in shallow soil layers and higher water content with depth, until reaching layers next to the bedrock, where the soil water content decreased again. The content of crystallization water retrieved is related with the gypsum content in the soil which was homogeneous through most of the soil profile in summer. Nevertheless, we found more variability in the upper layers in spring (Fig. 2d).

Regarding the position of the water sources and the xylem of plants in the bi-plot showing δ^2 H vs δ^{18} O, we observed the segregation of crystallization and free water and the clustering of the xylem sap of shallow rooted plants with crystallization water during summer. This is compatible with an important use of this water source by these species during drought (see below). Free water from the 20 first cm in the soil (collected underneath the plants) showed values typical of water vapour (Fig. 3, Supplementary Data Fig. S2). Contrastingly, free water collected underneath the bare soil, which retained more water, showed values of evaporated water (Fig. 2, see Supplementary Data Fig. S2). These could be due to the biological and physical crust formed in the bare soil that decreases evaporation (Escudero *et al.*, 2015) and/or to the more intense exploitation of the scarce free water from the soil beneath them by plants. Further, many of the isotopic values of shallow-

rooted plants with a high gypsum water contribution in their xylem sap cannot be solely explained by an eventual evaporation within the stem (see Supplementary Data Fig. S3).

Analysis of factors explaining differences among plants in their xylem isotopic composition

Both season and rooting depth had a significant effect on the isotopic composition of the xylem water of the target species. Conversely, the affinity for gypsum soils did not show a significant effect on xylem water composition, indicating that plants did not use different water sources according to this factor. Three main groups could be identified according to their xylem water composition: the first group included all species in spring, whereas the second and third groups included summer values for shallow-rooted and deep-rooted species, respectively (Fig. 4, Supplementary Data Table S2). Differences in the isotopic composition of the xylem water of plants were highly significant between seasons, as well as for the interaction between season and root depth. In spring, δ^2 H and δ^{18} O had more negative values than in summer, and more positive D-excess, but xylem sap isotopic composition did not show significant differences due to species rooting depth. In summer, however, deep-rooted species had more negative values than shallow-rooted species (Fig. 4, Supplementary Data Table S3). Overall, these results indicate that in spring all plants in the community used similar water pools, whereas in summer plants used different water sources, depending on their rooting depth, and irrespectively of gypsum affinity.

Contribution of different water sources to the xylem water of plants

Estimation of the most likely sources of water used by plant species by Bayesian models revealed that, in spring, all plants used a large proportion of free water from the shallow soil (estimated using 10-20 cm underneath the plants). However, in summer, crystallization water from gypsum was the main source for shallow-rooted species, whereas deep-soil water (50-100 cm) was the main source for deep- rooted species (Fig. 5, Supplementary Data Fig. S4). In spring, we also detected a moderate contribution of groundwater (16 % for deep-rooted and 13 % for shallow-rooted), particularly in the deep-rooted *Ononis tridentata, Gypsophila hispanica and Genista scorpius*, and the shallow-rooted *Teucrium capitatum, Hernaria fruticosa* and *Fumana ericifolia* (Supplementary Data Fig. S4). In summer, the main source of water for shallow-rooted plants was crystallization water (59 %), irrespectively of species affinity for gypsum soils. In addition, 30 % of the water used by shallow-rooted plants was free soil water from deeper layers (50-100 cm; Fig. 5, Supplementary Data Fig. S4, Fig. S5). Deep-rooted species in summer mainly used free water

from the deeper soil layers (52 %), but crystallization water still accounted for 32 % of the water used by these plants (Fig. 5, Supplementary Data Fig S4, Fig. S5).

Soil-plant interaction

In spring, soil underneath the plants (10 - 20 cm depth) showed significant species-specific variations in δ^2 H and δ^{18} O for both free and crystallization water and in deuterium-excess for crystallization water (Table 2). We also found significant differences among species in summer, for free water δ^{18} O and deuterium-excess (Table. 2). In summer, we did not find significant effects of either rooting depth, gypsum affinity or their interaction on the isotope composition of soil free water collected beneath plants (Supplementary Data Table S4). Free water isotopic composition of the shallow soil beneath some of the deep-rooted species (*G. scourpius, G. hispanica, Rosmarinus. officinalis* and *Thymelaea. tinctoria*) during summer was similar to their xylem water isotopic composition for δ^2 H, and closer to that of deep-soil layers than in other species, providing an indirect evidence of hydraulic lift by these species. However, the δ^{18} O composition of the soil was consistently more negative than the xylem isotopic composition of plants (Supplementary Data Fig. S6).

DISCUSSION

Our results agree with previous studies that demonstrate the role of summer drought as a structuring factor in plant communities growing on gypsum drylands (Palacio *et al.*, 2017). Hydrological niche segregation differentiates functional strategies between shallow-rooted species, dominant in these communities, and deep-rooted plants. This spatial segregation could have consequences on plant community assembly, promoting diverse plant communities whose variable response to soil drying enhances their stability under arid conditions (Peñuelas *et al.*, 2011; Silvertown *et al.*, 1999, 2015).

We identified gypsum crystallization water as a crucial component of the water balance in gypsum drylands. Water held in the crystalline structure of gypsum was the most important water source for almost all shallow-rooted species and a highly relevant water source for deep-rooted species during summer drought. Our results demonstrate that gypsum crystallization water is widely used by plants, irrespective of their affinity for gypsum soils. Contrary to our predictions, both gypsum endemic and non-endemic species (gypsophiles and gypsovags) with shallow roots used gypsum crystallization water as the preferential water source during summer. The uptake mechanisms that make such use possible remain undescribed. The similar isotopic composition of gypsum crystallization water in both seasons agrees with the notion that continuous processes of gypsum dissolution-precipitation take place during the year, involving both precipitation and more evaporated free soil water (Fig. 2; Van Driessche et al., 2012). It is known that the temperature for pure gypsum dehydration can be decreased by some ionic solutions (Gázquez et al., 2017). Recent findings indicate that some microorganisms can dissolve gypsum rock by secreting organic acids, retrieving crystallization water under extreme xeric conditions (Huang et al., 2020). We suggest that plant roots and their associated microorganisms could similarly be altering gypsum to mine its crystalline water. This is supported by several previous studies providing evidence on the ability of plants and their associated microorganisms to exudate organic acids and other compounds that alter the substrate where they grow (Bassan et al., 2002; Chaparro et al 2003; Lebre et al., 2017, Puente et al., 2004). However, detailed analyses on the specific compounds that plants could be secreting to the gypsum soil, and their potential effect on the thermodynamic equilibrium among gypsum phases are lacking.

Other studies identified groundwater as the main water source enabling the maintenance of activity during drought for deep-rooted species (Palacio et al., 2017; Koirala et al., 2016; Salvucci and Entekhabi, 1995; Fan et al., 2017). In contrast, our results pointed at water from 50-100 cm depth (i.e "rock moisture", Rempe and Dietrich, 2018) as the main water source in summer for deep-rooted species in the studied community. Although its dynamics and hydraulic properties have not yet been explored in detail (Dwivedi et al., 2019), this crucial source of water likely came from precipitation that passed through unsaturated weathered bedrock until reaching the groundwater (Oshun et al., 2019; Rempe and Dietrich, 2018). Despite the isotopic composition of groundwater and deep soil water were very similar in summer, for consistency between the spring and summer models, we kept the same water sources in the Bayesian models for both seasons. The model choice for the deep free water instead of groundwater could likely be due to its higher variability and higher probability area. Although we cannot untangle the use of these sources by plants during summer, groundwater did not outflow in the creek located under the study hill during summer (Laura de la Puente, pers.obs), being located more than 10 m deep from the top of the hill. Consequently, considering the plants position at the top of a hill and their observed (relatively limited) root length, deep soil free water seems a more plausible source of water for these plants than groundwater. Plants may also show a preference for rock moisture over groundwater, as happens with large trees that take advantage of the oxygenated conditions of the weathered bedrock (Zwieniecki, and Newton, 1996; Graham et al., 2010; Liu et al., 2014; Hahm et al., 2020). Interestingly, our results show that not only deep-rooted species, but also some relatively shallowrooted species (*Teucrium capitatum*, *Linum suffruticosum* and *Lithodora fruticosa*), were mainly using free water from the deeper soil during summer (Supplementary Data Fig. S2). The maximum rooting depths of these species is between 50 and 100 cm depth (Guerrero-Campo, 1998), with actual rooting depth being sensitive to reach free water (Fan et al., 2017, Hodge, 2003). Nevertheless, we cannot rule out the possibility that these plants could also be using free water from slightly shallower layers, i.e. 30-40 cm deep, which had an isotopic composition similar to that from 50-100 cm deep, but was not included in the Bayesian models due to its variability and slight similitude with water from 20 cm depth. In any case, the use of free water by these species could be favoured through the segregation of water sources between coexisting shallow-rooted species to mitigate competition. Further approaches comprising experimental manipulation of
resources or models to find out the processes that stabilize community composition best, would be required to ascertain these possibilities (Silvertown *et al.*, 2015; Stoll and Weiner, 2000).

Another explanation to the use of deep soil water from relatively shallow rooted plants might be the hydraulic lift by some deep-rooted species during summer. The species *Genista scorpius*, *Gypsophila struthium* subsp. *hispanica*, *Rosmarinus officinalis* and *Thymelaea tinctoria* showed similar δ^2 H isotopic values between the shallow soil beneath them and their xylem composition (Supplementary Data Fig. S4). This indicated water up lifting from the deeper soil, which could also be available to neighbouring shallow-rooted species. According to previous studies considering just one of the water stable isotopes composition (δ^2 H or δ^{18} O) (Dawson 1993; Ludwig 2003; Durand, 2006) to prove this phenomenon, we could have an indirect evidence of hydraulic lift in the dry season in our system. Nevertheless, further investigations including information on the water used by shallow-rooted plants located close to deep-rooted species potentially up lifting water are required to prove the influence of hydraulic lift by deep-rooted plants on neighbour shrubs (Filella and Peñuela, 2003)

We observed a significant effect of plant species on the isotopic composition of the free water from the soil beneath them in spring, when plants were using water available in the shallowest soil layers (10-20 cm). This suggests that the microenvironment created under plants is species-specific and is able to modify soil water conditions. In summer, we observed an effect of the species on the δ^{18} O isotopic composition and deuterium-excess of free shallow water, but not for free water δ^2 H. This could be due to a pore scale isotope heterogeneity in the water soil caused by water surface interaction effects (Penna *et al.*, 2018) or to the differences in the relative contribution of equilibrium and kinetic effects during evaporative enrichment for δ^{18} O and δ^2 H, which cause different sensitivity to environmental variables (Craig and Gordon, 1965; Cappa *et al.*, 2003). Recent meta-analysis on the environmental drivers of leaf water isotopic composition revealed that δ^2 H is more related to the isotopic composition of source water and atmospheric vapour, whereas δ^{18} O seems to be more responsive to air relative humidity (Cuntz *et al.*, 2020). Extrapolating these processes to the soil, it is reasonable to expect more homogeneous δ^2 H isotopic values in the soil during summer, whereas δ^{18} O isotopic values would be more variable owing to the different soil micro-environment during evaporative enrichment underneath each species.

CONCLUSIONS

To conclude, our results prove that during drought there is a partitioning of water sources among co-existing species, which segregated species hydrological niche by root depth, but not by gypsum affinity. In this plant community living on the top of a gypsum hill, crystallization water of gypsum represents a vital source for most of the shallow-rooted species during summer, and allows them to survive the arid conditions, forming diverse communities. Rock moisture arises as the main water source for deep-rooted species during drought. However, our results show that all species in the community are able to use crystalline gypsum water during the summer drought period, pointing at a hidden water pool important for life in gypsum drylands. Hence, we strongly recommend that gypsum crystallization water is included as a potential source in water balance studies dealing with ecosystems developed on gypsum soils, which span over 200 million ha in all continents (Eswaran and Gong, 1991).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS AND FUNDING

We thank A. Cera and G. Montserrat-Martí for help during fieldwork; M. Perez-Serrano for assistance with cryogenic distillations; J. Rodríguez-Arévalo and S. Castaño for providing isotope data for precipitation collected by the REVIP (CEDEX-AEMET); AEMET OpenData service (<u>https://opendata.aemet.es/</u>) for providing access to meteorological data; Centro Clínico Veterinario Jaca, for supplying liquid nitrogen necessary for distillations and J. I. Querejeta for useful comments on earlier versions of this manuscript.

This work was supported by the Spanish Government [MICINN, CGL2015-71360-P and PID2019-111159GB-C31], and by European Union's Horizon 2020 [H2020-MSCA-RISE-777803 GYPWORLD]. LP was funded by fellowship FSE-Aragón 2014-2020 by Gobierno de Aragón, Spain; JPF was supported by Reference Group H09_20R (Gobierno de Aragón, Spain) and SP was supported by a Ramón y Cajal Fellowship [MICINN, RYC-2013-14164].

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1. Main characteristics of study species. Max-root depth: 1: 25-50 cm, 2: 50-100 cm, 3: >

Id	Species	Root depht	Max-root depth	Gypsum affinity	Stem	Family
Fu.er	Fumana ericifolia Wallr.	Shallow	1-2	gypsovag	woody	Cistaceae
Ge.sc	Genista scorpius L.DC	deep	3	gypsovag	woody	Fabaceae
Gy.hi	Gypsophila struthium L. subsp. Hispanica (Willk.) G. López	deep	3	gypsophile	woody	Caryophyllaceae
He.hi	Helianthemum hirtum (L.) Mill	shallow	1-2	gypsovag	woody	Cistaceae
He.ma	Helianthemum marifolium (L.) Mill.	shallow	1	gypsovag	woody	Cistaceae
He.sq	Helianthemum squamatum (L.) Pers.	shallow	2	gypsophile	woody	Cistaceae
He.sy	Helianthemum syriacum (Jacq.) Dum. Cours.	shallow	2	gypsovag	woody	Cistaceae
He.st	Helichrysum stoechas (L.) Moench subsp. stoechas	shallow	2	gypsovag	woody	Asteraceae
He.fr	Herniaria fruticosa L.	shallow	2	gypsophile	woody	Caryophyllaceae
Ko.va	Koeleria vallesiana (Honckeny) Gaudin subsp. vallesiana	shallow	1-2	gypsovag	herbaceous	Poaceae
Le.su	Lepidium subulatum. L	shallow	2	gypsophile	woody	Brassicaceae
Li.sf	Linum suffruticosum L.	shallow	2-3	gypsovag	woody	Linaceae
Li.fr	Lithodora fruticose (L.) Griseb.	shallow	2-3	gypsovag	woody	Boraginaceae
Ma.fr	Matthiola fruticulosa (Loefl. ex L.) Maire -subsp fruticulosa	shallow	1-2	gypsovag	woody	Brassicaceae
On.tr	Ononis tridentata L.	deep	3	gypsophile	woody	Fabaceae
Ro.of	Rosmarinus officinalis L.	deep	3	gypsovag	woody	Lamiaceae
St.of	Stipa offneri Breistr.	deep	3	gypsovag	herbaceous	Poaceae
Te.ca	Teucrium capitatum L. -subsp capitatum	shallow	1-2	gypsovag	woody	Lamiaceae
Th.ti	Thymelaea tinctoria (Pourr.) Endl. -subsp tinctoria	deep	3	gypsovag	woody	Thymelaeaceae
Th.vu	Thymus vulgaris L.	shallow	2	gypsovag	woody	Lamiaceae

100 cm (Guerro-Campo,1998)

_

Table 2. Results of linear models analyzing the effects of species on the isotopic composition $(\delta^{18}O, \delta^{2}H)$ of soil free water collected underneath the plants (10 - 20 cm depth). *F*-values and *p*-values are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at p < 0.05.

Season	Isotope	F	p-value
Spring	δ ² H	3.80	<0.001
	$\delta^{18}O$	3.54	<0.001
	D-ex	1.18	0.279
Summer	$\delta^2 H$	1.33	0.173
	$\delta^{18}O$	3.05	<0.001
	D-ex	3.09	<0.001



Fig.1. Overview of the sampling design. a) Diagram showing the set-up for sample collection including replicate numbers and the subsequent extraction of water at different temperatures to obtain water samples for isotopic analysis. b) Picture of one of the one-meter-deep soil profiles. c) Picture of soil collected underneath individual plants. d) Description of plant sections used for xylem sampling, both in woody (removing the bark and phloem with a knife) and herbaceous species (cutting and selecting the root crown)



Fig 2. Changes in a) mean δ 2H isotopic values, b) mean δ 18O isotopic values, c) mean water Deuterium excess (Dex) values and d) water content with depth along the soil profile in spring and summer. Black triangles are for "free water", extracted at 35 °C and grey circles are for "crystallization water" extracted at 130 °C. Values are means \pm SE of the three bare soil profiles (N = 3). (N = 3). Dashed lines in a), b) and c) indicate groundwater isotopic values.



Fig. 3. δ^2 H and δ^{18} O composition of the xylem sap of the plant species and the seven different water sources used in Bayesian isotope mixing models. Water sources include: gypsum crystallization water extracted from the soil at 130°C, free water extracted from the soil at 30°C and groundwater. Soil from 10 and 20 cm deep was sampled underneath each plant, deep soil was sampled in the profiles and groundwater was upwelling in saline depressions in spring. Grey points are for shallow-rooted plants and black points for deep-rooted plants. LMWL: local meteoric water line



Fig. 4. Seasonal variation in the isotopic composition of xylem water, according to root depth (spring: left panels; summer: right panels). δ^2 H and δ^{18} O isotope composition and Deuterium excess are shown. Different letters are for significant differences after Tukey Post-Hoc analyses across root depth and season (p < 0.05). *F-ratios* and *p-values* display differences in the xylem sap between plants with distinct root depth, in models run separately for each season Black boxes are for gypsophiles and grey boxes are for gypsovags.



Fig.5. Results from Bayesian stable isotope mixing models showing the estimated contribution of different water sources, namely: shallow free water (10 - 20 cm), deep free water (50 - 100 cm), groundwater and gypsum crystallization water (all depths combined) to the xylem water of 20 dominant plants from a gypsum top-hill community, grouped into deep-rooted and shallow-rooted species.

Chapter 2

Data collection site in the selected Aladaghlar gypsum hill (white hill in the right). Picture taken by Alexander Rudov.

Margins designed by Virginia de la Iglesia and Laura de la Puente

Ecohydrological niche segregation among desert shrubs in a gypsum-calcareous formation (NW Iran) *

*Article under revision

Alexander Rudov, Laura de la Puente, Sara Palacio, Arash Sharifi, José Ignacio Querejeta, Juan Pedro Ferrio, Hossein Akhani (2023). *Plant Ecology & Diversity*

ABSTRACT

- Background: Xerophilic subshrubs exhibit multiple functional types and frequently show hydrological niche segregation. In the poorly studied Irano-Turanian gypsum deserts, insights into different plant species ecohydrological strategies are crucial to understand community complexity in these vulnerable ecosystems.
- Aim: We aimed to unravel the ecohydrological strategies of five co-existing subshrubs members of Caryophyllales, ascertaining if their rooting architecture, gypsum affinity or photosynthetic pathway determined their water uptake, and if gypsum crystallization water could be a relevant water source for plants in different seasons.
- Methods: We conducted soil and xylem sampling for isotope analyses in spring and summer and extracted water by cryogenic vacuum distillation. Oxygen and hydrogen isotope composition were determined and compared with visual representation and Bayesian Mixing Models to determine species ecohydrological strategies.
- **Results:** Species-season interactions explained differences in xylem sap isotopic composition. Three basic strategies relying on contrasting utilization of free topsoil moisture and deep soil water could be detected and were in part explained by rooting architecture. Plant gypsum affinity and photosynthetic pathways did not have a significant effect on the water sources used by plants.
- **Conclusions:** Ecohydrological niche segregation was explained partly by rooting architecture and species-specific traits. Gypsum crystallization water was not used in summer by the studied species.

KEYWORDS: Caryophyllales, desert subshrubs, gypsum, Iran, niche segregation, stable isotopes, water use.

INTRODUCTION

Arid and semiarid ecosystems are located in regions that are particularly vulnerable to climate change (Hoover et al. 2015; Wertin et al. 2015; Grossiord et al. 2017; Arias et al. 2021). Different forecasted climate change scenarios predict an intensification of drought and changes in precipitation patterns (Collins et al. 2013). Temporal and spatial variation in soil water availability is a determining factor for plant distribution and community assemblage in these ecosystems (Huxman et al. 2005). To cope with scarcity and varying availability of water, plant species from arid ecosystems frequently show hydrological niche segregation (Silvertown 2004; Huxman et al. 2005; Xu et al. 2007; Dai et al. 2015; Tiemuerbieke et al. 2018; Wu et al. 2019). The partition of water resources through different mechanisms of water acquisition or by the temporal variance of water supply, allows co-existing dryland plant species to access the scant water resources, alleviating competition (Moreno-Gutiérrez et al. 2012; West et al. 2012; Silvertown et al. 2015; Brum et al. 2017; Palacio et al. 2017; Iluminati et al. 2022; Querejeta et al. 2022). Determination of water source partitioning among co-occurring plant species and functional types from arid habitats should improve our understanding of the diverse strategies used by plants in these highly adapted and diverse communities. This is crucial for the prediction of aridification impacts on desert vegetation in the context of climate change.

Precipitation pulses are a short-lived water source in desert ecosystems due to fast evaporation of soil moisture (Ehleringer and Dawson 1992). Thus, precipitation-dependent species will be more physiologically stressed during drought periods than those relying on deeper soil water sources or groundwater (Wu et al. 2019). Many dryland plants have developed dimorphic root systems with both shallow and deep roots, which allow them to use water from different soil depths depending on temporal fluctuations in water availability (Bauerle et al. 2008; Prieto et al. 2012; Barbeta et al. 2015). Water from precipitation present in the topsoil after rainfall pulses may be used preferentially during the main growth period, as it favours microbial processes and nutrient uptake by roots (Querejeta et al. 2021). During drought, roots could potentially access deeper soil layers, where water availability is more stable (Ryel et al. 2008, 2010; Fan 2015; Rempe and Dietrich 2018).

Plant water use is not only controlled by root functioning, but also by shoot ecophysiological traits (Tiemuerbieke et al. 2018). Xerophyte communities in drylands host multiple functional types, such as different growth forms, and specific traits including leaf and/or

stem succulence, leaf reduction or different photosynthetic pathways (e.g., C_3 and C_4) (Rudov et al. 2020; Wertin et al. 2015). It has been proposed that C_4 plants have a higher water-use efficiency than C_3 plants (Morgan et al. 2011; Way et al. 2014; Taylor et al. 2014; Helliker and Ehleringer 2002). This assumption is based on the peculiar CO_2 concentrating mechanism present in C_4 plants, that allows avoidance of photorespiration even under reduced stomatal conductance and consequently reduces water demand (Ghannoum 2011).

Gypsum is an evaporitic mineral frequently present in soils within arid and semiarid landscapes. Endemic-rich gypsum ecosystems are frequently considered as agricultural badlands, and thus actively used as dumping places or affected by other negative anthropogenic activities like mining or urban expansion. The survival of plants in these ecosystems is affected by aridity and harsh edaphic conditions. Gypsum soils have low water retention (Herrero and Porta, 2000), which makes water a critical limiting factor for plants growing on them. However, gypsum holds two water molecules in its crystalline structure (CaSO₄·2H₂O) and can be used as a water source by plants during dry periods (Palacio et al. 2014, 2017; de la Puente et al. 2021). Some plant species have adapted to cope with the physical and chemical restrictions of gypsum soils, behaving as edaphic endemics (gypsophiles) restricted to gypsum soils. In addition, there are gypsum tolerant species (gypsovags) that are not specialized to grow on gypsum soils, but are able to cope with their adverse properties (i.e. low water retention and adverse chemical effects of calcium and sulfate) (Meyer 1986; Cera et al. 2021). In a recent study of a plant community occurring on gypsum in the Iberian Peninsula, it was shown that crystallization water was mainly used by shallow rooted species, indicating a critical role of rooting depth to access deep, more stable water sources (de la Puente et al. 2021).

Gypsum deserts in the Irano-Turanian floristic region are highly diverse ecosystems, rich in local endemics. The dominant species in these ecosystems are extremely adapted subshrubs of different phylogenetic origins, gypsum affinity, photosynthetic pathways, shoot functional traits, etc., which have been proposed as driving factors for nutrient or water use in other arid ecosystems (Palacio et al. 2022; de la Puente et al, 2021; Moreno-Gutierrez et al 2012). These ecosystems are, however, highly understudied both floristically and ecologically. Practically nothing is known about the species occurring within these communities and the importance of their functional traits (such as succulence, photosynthetic pathways, gypsum affinity, root structure, etc.) on their ecohydrological mechanisms of adaptation and their community assemblage. Several of these taxa

84

(e.g., *Anabasis spp.*) are nevertheless of high scientific interest due to their occurrence in the most extreme parts of Iranian gypsum, clay, marl and gravel deserts. In these edaphically and climatically most extreme areas they often comprise the only existing sparse vegetation cover and thus, insights into their ecohydrological mechanisms are of particular interest.

The aim of this study was to define the water isotopic composition of xylem sap and the potential water sources used by five dominant woody shrub species coexisting in the arid Aladaghlar hills of NW Iran and to determine whether the species exhibit segregation of their ecohydrological niches according to different water sources used in spring and summer. We further sought to ascertain whether species, rooting architecture, gypsum affinity and photosynthetic pathway were determining factors for differences in water use among species and for their ability to use gypsum crystallization water. We hypothesized that (1) rooting architecture will be a determinant factor for water use, with species having a deep taproot using deep soil water throughout the year, while species with a dimorphic root system may use water from shallower soil level in spring to deeper level in summer. We further hypothesized that (2) shallow rooted species, independent of gypsum affinity, will use shallow water in spring, but mainly gypsum crystallization water during the dry season. Finally, regarding the different photosynthetic pathways of species, we hypothesized that (3) C₄ species with higher leaf-level water use efficiency and root systems, relative to C₃ species, should be less dependent on hydrological fluctuations, and thus, continue to rely on the scarce free soil water remaining in upper soil layers during summer.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study area and species

We conducted field sampling in the Aladaghlar hill area of NW Iran, on the border of the Zanjan and E Azerbaijan provinces (Figure 1, 2A and 2C) (Azizi et al. 2018). The area falls within the Upper Red Formation, which is composed of alternating layers of marl, conglomerate, sandstone and intercalated evaporite layers of crystalline gypsum (Figure 1, 2A and 2C) (Ghorbani 2019). It is located in the Zanjan basin, a remnant of the Tethys Sea of the Early Miocene, which has been shaped by subsequent sedimentation of marine and continental sediments (Rahimpour-Bonab et al. 2007; Alizadeh 2017). The gypsum content of hill slopes varies from 4% to 84% (Table S1, calculated with the methodology proposed by Porta,1998). The climate of the region is Irano-Turanian xeric continental (Djamli et al. 2011, 2012) with severe drought during summer. Climate data recorded over 55 years at the Zanjan meteorological station, ca. 115 km E of the study area, indicate that total annual precipitation is 313 mm and mean annual temperature is 11.5° C (minimum = -7.5° C, maximum = 31.9° C) (Figure 1).

The harsh climate of the Aladaghlar hill area and its edaphic and topographic peculiarities result in a sparse vegetation, dominated mainly by xerophytic hemicryptophytes and chamaephytes. The area is highly diverse with several endemic species, but is also understudied with scarce ecological information available in the scientific literature. We selected five dominant woody perennial plant species, *Anabasis eugeniae, Anabasis calcarea, Caroxylon gemmascens, Oreosalsola montana* (Amaranthaceae/Chenopodiaceae) and *Atraphaxis suaedifolia* (Polygonaceae) belonging to the order Carophyllales with different affinities to gypsum soils (Figure 2) and different photosynthetic pathways (Table 1) (Akhani et al. 2016; Rudov et al. 2020; Doostmohammadi et al. 2020). All dominant plant species of this area are succulent and retain large quantities of water in their leaves and/or photosynthetic shoots (Figure 2).

Plant, soil and water sampling

We conducted field sampling for isotope analyses in spring (April and May) 2018 and during the subsequent summer drought in August after a long rainless period. At each sampling date, we harvested the main stems (including the root crown) of five individuals per species. We selected vigorous, medium-sized individuals located at least 5 m apart. We harvested between 6:30 and 10:00 a.m., when we expected maximum transpiration rates and low evaporative demand to

prevent stem dehydration (Grammatikopoulos et al. 1995; Martín-Gomez et al. 2015). We removed the bark and phloem with a knife to avoid contamination with isotopically enriched phloem water and organic compounds present in living cells and/or in the bark (Ehleringer and Dawson 1992). We also collected two soil samples beneath each plant at two depths (10 and 20 cm), excluding roots. In spring, an extra water sample was collected from a temporary creek formed in the valley bottom by a strong rainstorm (14.04.2018) which recharged the groundwater aquifer. This water sample value was used as a representation of the deeper soil water source. All water, stem and soil samples were placed in airtight sealed tubes and immediately frozen in a portable freezer (Allison and Hughes 1983).

We observed the root system of at least four individuals per species up to a depth of 40 cm. Additionally, we observed the root system of *Anabasis eugeniae* and *A. calcarea* on eroded steep slopes, where their root systems were exposed due to soil movement. We compared our data with previously published data on root morphology of the investigated species (Persson and Baitulin, 1996; Wang et al. 2017; Fet and Atamuradov 1994; Smirnova et al. 1976).

Water extraction

We extracted xylem and soil water using a modified cryogenic vacuum distillation (Ehleringer and Dawson 1992) as in Palacio et al. (2014). Xylem water was extracted at CEBAS-CSIC (Murcia, Spain) using cryogenic vacuum distillation at 100 °C and 10 millitorr vacuum pressure for 2 h (Querejeta et al. 2021). Soil samples were extracted at the laboratory of the Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología (IPE-CSIC, Zaragoza, Spain). Sample tubes were placed in a heated silicone oil bath, and connected with Ultra-Torr unions (Swagelok Company, Solon, OH, USA) to a vacuum system (ca. 10⁻² mbar) including U-shaped water traps in series that were cooled with liquid nitrogen. After an extraction time of 90 min (West 2006; Meissner 2014), captured water was transferred into screw-capped 2 ml vials and stored at 4 °C until isotope analysis. Soil samples were distilled in two steps: first at 35 °C and then at 130 °C to separate free and gypsum crystallization water while ensuring an almost complete dehydration of gypsum (Freyer and Voigt 2003; Palacio et al. 2014). When necessary, between the first and second distillation of soil samples, we kept sample tubes in a desiccator with silica gel to avoid any re-hydration with ambient moisture, which could contaminate the water extracted in the second step.

Stable isotope analyses

The use of water stable isotopes (²H and ¹⁸O) as natural tracers to understand water uptake by plants is extensive in plant ecology (Dawson et al. 2002). A vertical gradient in the isotopic composition of soil water is commonly found in arid ecosystems, where the upper soil areas are enriched in the heavier isotopes because of more pronounced evaporative isotopic fractionation (Allison and Hughes 1983; Orlowski et al. 2013).

We determined oxygen and hydrogen isotope composition ($\delta^{18}O$, $\delta^{2}H$) using Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometers (IRMS) at the Center for Stable Isotope Biogeochemistry (CSIB) of the University of California at Berkeley (USA). $\delta^{2}H$ was determined by the dual inlet method, using a hot chromium reactor unit (H/DeviceTM, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), coupled to a Thermo Delta Plus XL mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific), using multiple standards in every run, and correcting for drifts using two internal standards with different isotope ratios. $\delta^{18}O$ was determined by the equilibration method, using a Thermo Gas Bench II interface, coupled to a Thermo Delta Plus XL mass spectrometer (Bremen, Germany). Briefly, ca. 20 µL of water were pipetted into 10 mL glass vials (Exetainer®, Labco Ltd., UK) and sealed. The vials were purged with 0.2 % CO₂ in helium and equilibrated at room temperature for 48 hours. The $\delta^{18}O$ value of CO₂ was then determined by IRMS. Long-term external precision is ± 0.60 ‰ and ± 0.12 ‰ for $\delta^{2}H$ and $\delta^{18}O$, respectively.

Statistical analyses

We ran all statistical analyses in R 4.0.0 (R Core Team, 2020). We used *ggplot2* (Wickham 2016) to visualize xylem sap isotopic composition and soil water at different sampling dates, the δ^2 H- δ^{18} O plot space and contributions of the water sources to plants. To account for seasonal changes (April-August) in isotopic composition in the water xylem sap of the five species and in the water sources (free and crystallization water), we used GLMs separately for each species and water source type (including season as a fixed factor) with the *lm* function of the *nlme* package (v3.1-152; Pinheiro et al., 2021). Differences among study species (fixed factor) and sampling dates (fixed factor) in xylem water isotopic composition (δ^{18} O, δ^2 H) were evaluated using the *lmer* function, which uses the Maximum Likelihood estimation. Similarly, the effects of season, rooting architecture, gypsum affinity, photosynthetic pathway and their interaction with the *lmer* function with the *lmer* season of the species were also checked with the *lmer*

function. In this case, rooting architecture, gypsum affinity, photosynthetic pathway and season were considered as fixed factors, whereas species and plant family nested within species were included as random terms to account for potential phylogenetic effects. When the effect of the factor was significant on the xylem sap isotopic composition, groups were detected using a posthoc Tukey test. Over- and under-dispersion of model residuals were checked using the *simulateResiduals* function in *DHARMa* package v.0.3.1 (Hartig 2021).

The relative contribution of different water sources to the xylem sap of plants was estimated using Bayesian Mixing Models for stable isotope data, using the package MixSIAR (Stock et al. 2018). The package, originally developed for dietary studies, estimates the relative contribution of alternative preys (sources) to a given consumer (mixture), considering the multidimensional space formed by two or more biotracers (e.g. stable isotope composition) in the sources and the consumers. We used the isotopic values ($\delta^2 H$ and $\delta^{18}O$) of xylem water (consumer) in each individual sample (i.e. every single replicate of all the species) as inputs for the model. The mean and standard deviation (per species) for each alternative soil source (free and crystallization water, at 10 cm and 20 cm soil depth collected beneath each individual plant), and the water value of the creek, representing deep soil water, were considered as inputs for the sources. For the creek water collected in spring, only one replicate sample was available, so we had the same value for all plant species and replicates. As a conservative approximation of the standard deviation for this source, we choose the mean of the standard deviation of the other two free water sources. Alternatively, we also tested the models using the analytical error, as the only measured uncertainty for this source (0.4 for δ^2 H and 0.1 for δ^{18} O; Supplementary Materials, Methods S2). These two alternative models did not show noticeable differences in the trends of water sources used by study species.

To simplify the interpretation of the Bayesian Mixing Model, the output was combined *a posteriori* through the addition of the estimated contributions of each source into three simplified sources. First, crystal water (i.e., gypsum crystallization water from the soil) that was calculated by adding the contributions to the xylem of plants from crystallization water at the two depths initially considered (10 and 20 cm). Second, free water (i.e., free water in the shallow soil), was calculated by adding the contribution to the xylem from the free water at 10 and 20 cm. Third, deep soil free water (i.e., free water in the deep soil) was kept unmodified.

RESULTS

Water sources and species xylem sap isotopic composition

The oxygen isotopic composition of gypsum crystallization water was stable in both seasons, but in August it was less enriched in ²H. Free soil water changed its δ^2 H and δ^{18} O composition among sampled months (Figure 3, Table S3). We found differences in δ^2 H and δ^{18} O of xylem sap between spring and summer for *Anabasis calcarea* and *A. eugeniae*, but only in δ^2 H for *Atraphaxis suaedifolia* (Figure 3, Table S3).

Species, season and their interaction were all significant factors explaining differences in xylem sap isotopic composition (δ^2 H, δ^{18} O), except for seasonal variation in δ^{18} O (Table 2). Contrastingly, neither plant rooting architecture, gypsum affinity nor photosynthetic pathway had a significant effect on the isotopic composition of the xylem sap of plants (Table 2). However, we observed a marginally significant interaction between species gypsum affinity and sampling month for δ^{18} O xylem sap variation (Table 2,) though a post-Hoc Tukey test did not separate clear groups.

Contribution of different water sources to the xylem water of plants

The analysis of the isotopic values (δ^{2} H and δ^{18} O) of xylem sap and water sources (Figure 4) showed that crystallization water isotope values were the most distant from those of xylem sap in both April and August. The deep soil water source was less exposed to evaporation and therefore showed less evaporatively enriched isotopic values than shallower free soil water (Figure 4). Species could be separated according to their xylem sap isotopic composition with *Aanabasis calcarea* (DT), *Aatraphaxis suaedifolia* (T) *and Caroxylon gemmascens* (S) exhibiting very similar compositions in April, close to that of shallow free water at 10 cm depth. In contrast, *Anabasis eugeniae* (DT) and, especially, *Oreosalsola montana* (T), had xylem sap isotopic values that were less enriched and similar to those of deeper free water. These relationships changed in August, with *C. gemmascens* (*S*) and *A. eugeniae* (DT) having a relatively similar isotopic composition in their xylem sap, close to that of shallow free water, whereas the three other species, and especially *A. calcarea* (DT) and *O. montana* (T), had compositions close to that of deep free water (Figure 4).

Bayesian Mixing Model estimation of the most likely sources of water used by the species revealed some notable differences between them (Figure 5, Table 3, Table S4). *Oreosalsola montana* used deep soil water as its main water source in both seasons, whereas the other species, and especially

A. eugeniae and *C. gemmascens*, used free water available from the upper layers of the soil profile as their main water source in spring. In summer, *A. eugeniae* and *C. gemmascens* were least dependent on deep soil water, whereas the three other species were heavily dependent on this water source (Figure 5, Table 3, Table S4). The model confirmed that crystallization water from gypsum was a less important water source for each of the species (Figure 5), though in April it contributed 33% and 25% to the water used by *A. suaedifolia* and *C. gemmascens*, respectively (Figure 5, Table 3, Table S4).

DISCUSSION

Our results revealed the different water sources used by five dominant subshrub species in the poorly studied gypsum rich Aladaghlar hills in NW IRAN, and contribute to an understanding of how such differences might be important to niche segregation and the coexistence of these species under the conditions of extreme aridity and harsh soil conditions they are subject to.

According to our results, the species showed differences in their vertical ecohydrological niches, resulting in different water uptake patterns. Ecohydrological niche segregation has been observed in other desert regions of the world, such as in the Gurbantunggut Desert of China (Wu et al. 2013; Timuerbieke et al. 2018), the Glen Canyon in Utah, North America (Ehleringer et al. 1991) and the Namib Desert in Africa (Schachtschneider, 2010). In these regions, the divergent rooting depths of coexisting species were shown to play an important role in water use segregation, thereby avoiding or minimizing interspecific competition for scarce water during drought (Dawson and Pate 1996). In the present study we hypothesised that rooting depth might also be a significant factor affecting water source uptake of species and their ecohydrological niche segregation, and this prediction was fulfilled for three of the five species studied. Oreosalsola montana, whose root system consists of a deep taproot, was found to dependent on deep soil water in both spring (April) and summer (August). Caroxylon gemmascens, with a shallow root system, used high quantities of superficial water in both of these seasons. On the other hand, A. calcarea, with a dimorphic root system described also in other Anabasis species (Persson and Baitulin 1996), shifted from using preferentially shallow water in spring to mainly deep soil water during summer drought. Such a shift to the use of deeper water sources during summer is in accordance with previous findings from studies in other arid ecosystems. Such shifts have been suggested to serve as an strategy to maximize nutrient uptake during the wet spring season, while securing access to deeper and more reliable and abundant water sources during the dry summer when evaporative demand is high (Querejeta et al. 2021).

Contrary to our hypothesis, however, *Anabasis eugeniae*, which also has a dimorphic root system, used preferentially water from the shallow topsoil layer in both spring and summer, potentially indicating a primary anchoring function of its taproot. Interestingly, *A. suaedifolia*, which has only a long taproot (Persson and Baitulin 1996; Wang et al. 2017), was nonetheless also able to use shallow topsoil water in spring. This period coincides with generative shoot formation and

flowering in *Atraphaxis* spp. and thus may require additional nutrient uptake from the nutrient rich soil surface (Kostina and Yurtseva 2021). These results are intriguing, since dimorphic roots have not been recorded for *A. suedifolia* in the field. More observations on the root system of this species should be made to ascertain its rooting system in detail.

Our hypothesis about the potential use of crystallization water held in gypsum by shallow rooted species was not supported by our results. We found that among the potential water sources available to plants, the isotopic composition of gypsum crystallization water was the most distant and dissimilar from the isotopic composition of plant xylem water in all the species (Figure 4), and Bayesian Mixing Models analysis showed crystallization water as the least likely water source used by plants. Although it is not possible to completely rule out crystallization water as a minor water source for some of the species studied, the low probability of its use, compared to what has been reported for other ecosystems (e.g. de la Puente et al 2022), suggests that it is not a very significant water source in this ecosystem. Recent studies have shown that coexisting plants use different water sources depending on their rooting depth and position along gypsum hills (Palacio et al. 2017; de la Puente et al. 2021). Shallow-rooted plants growing on soils with high gypsum content showed a widespread use of gypsum crystalline water during summer, while deep-rooted plants tended to use free soil water from deep soil layers (de la Puente et al. 2021). Previous studies reporting substantial use of gypsum crystallization water were conducted in gypsum hills where gypsum content in the soil was homogeneous and accounted for more than 60% (Palacio et al. 2017; de la Puente et al. 2021). However, soils beneath the plants in our studied ecosystem varied from ca. 84% gypsum content to 4% on the same slope (Table S1), suggesting that the highly spatially variable gypsum content of the soil may be a limitation to its use. It is, hence, probable that the presence of gypsum in the rhizosphere of many or all of our study plants was minimal. Alternatively, the availability of other potential free soil water sources was sufficient to supply plants with water even during the dry summer.

In relation to the isotopic composition of the deep water source considered in our study, we propose that, in future studies, more rigorous sampling is employed with more detailed characterization of soil water isotopic composition at different depths of the soil profile. We considered a generic deep soil water pool (using creek water as a proxy for groundwater), without specifying an exact depth, to refer to water that is less evaporated and shows no evidence of evaporative isotopic enrichment in the heavier isotopes in this seasonally dry area (Allison and

Hughes 1983; but see Sánchez-Martín et al, 2021; Ding et al. 2021). Therefore, our results of water use by the plant species should be taken as an approximation of the proportions of water uptaken from different depths in the different seasons; and not as an exact quantification of the water sources uptaken by the plant species.

The traditional assumption of absence of isotopic fractionation during water uptake has been questioned in some studies (Ellsworth and Williams 2007; Barbeta et al. 2020), which found that δ^2 H of xylem water can be more depleted than the considered water source. However, in our study we observed that xylem sap δ^2 H values were not more negative than those of the water sources available to plants as observed in those cited previous works. This result suggested that the δ^2 H of xylem water accurately reflected the δ^2 H of the soil water sources in our study, thereby facilitating the data analysis with Bayesian Mixing models using both water isotopes.

Our results further showed that water niche segregation strategies are not directly related to the photosynthetic pathway in the five desert species analysed. For example, A. calcarea (C₄) shifted to deep soil water sources during the period of summer drought, similarly to the C_3 species A. suaedifolia. On the other hand, we could explain the use of shallower and scarce free water by A. eugeniae and C. gemmascens by their photosynthetic pathway, both species are highly drought tolerant C₄ plants, so their photosynthetic pathway adapted to warm and dry climatic conditions may contribute to a higher water-use efficiency, decreasing their reliance on deep water. Nevertheless, we also observed that the relative of A. eugeniae, A. calcarea, also C₄, used a big proportion of deep water in summer. Similar patterns have been described in plants from other desert ecosystems. For example, ecohydrological niche segregation has been observed between the closely related C₄ desert shrubs Haloxylon ammodendron and H. persicum (Dai et al. 2015, Wu et al. 2019). Although these two *Haloxylon* species share common habitats (sand deserts) and have comparable extensive root systems, H. ammodendron switches from shallow water use to groundwater use during the hot dry season, while *H. persicum* continues to depend on free topsoil water during the entire dry season (Dai et al. 2015, Wu et al. 2019. Furthermore, deep-rooting C₃ desert shrubs, such as *Tamarix* species, have been shown to rely on deep soil water as the main water source during the whole year, similarly to O. montana, while shallow-rooting species, such as Nitraria tangutorum (C_3), Reaumuria songarica (C_3) and Calligonum leucocladum (C_4), continue to rely largely on the scarce free soil water pool even during dry periods (Xu and Li 2006;

Xu et al. 2007; Wu et al. 2014; Tiemuerbieke et al. 2018), similar to our findings for *C*. *gemmascens* and *A. eugeniae*.

The reason for the differences in water source use between the two *Anabasis* species and the most important functional traits related to them still need further attention, but studies on the dimorphic root systems of related *Anabasis* species point to their ability to rely on several complementary water sources. In contrast to C₄ monocots, C₄ eudicots typical for the Irano-Turanian deserts, have a higher diversity of functional traits and ecophysiological adaptations to their environment. Thus, differences in ecohydrological strategies of phylogenetically close taxa may, at least partly, be related to the variety of adaptations and functional traits they present (Akhani 2006; Cayssials and Rodriguez 2013; Rudov et al. 2020). In our case, the two *Anabasis* species differ in their shoot morphology, *A. eugeniae* being a leaf-succulent subshrub, while *A. calcarea* is a caudex forming stem-succulent. The genus *Anabasis* is known to include some of the most extremophilic desert species, growing in exceptionally dry habitats and forming species-poor vegetation types (Lauterbach et al. 2019). It presents a variety of ecotypes, functional traits and growth forms, that include annuals, and perennial leaf and stem succulents, which may affect ecohydrological strategies of each species (Rudov et al. 2020).

CONCLUSIONS

The five species studied showed distinct ecohydrological niche segregation, using different proportions of free soil water acquired from different depths. Although growing on a gypsum rich substrate in certain patches of soil, these species did not rely on gypsum crystallization water as a main water source during the summer drought. Neither gypsum affinity nor photosynthetic pathway had any significant effect on the water sources used by the different coexisting species. These xerophytic species revealed three basic strategies of water utilization. First, deep soil water was the main source throughout the growing season by *O. montana*. Second, a drastic shift from topsoil water in April to deep soil water in August by *A. calcarea* and *A. suaedifolia*. Third, moderate variation in use of more topsoil water in April to more deep water in August by *A. eugeniae* and *C. gemmascens*. Rooting architecture was an explanatory factor for the water sources used for *O. montana*, *A. calcarea* and *C. gemmascens*.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS AND FUNDING

This paper is in part the result of postdoctoral studies of AR and AS in the Halophytes and C₄ Plants Research Laboratory, University of Tehran. The study was supported by grants from the Research Council University of Tehran, the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (Project H2020-MSCA-RISE-GYPWORLD GA No. 777803), the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation (MICINN, PID2019-111159GB-C31), and the Spanish Research Council, (CSIC, I-COOPB20231). The postdoctoral fellowship of AS was founded by the National Elite Foundation. LdP and SP received funding from FSE (Fondo Social Europeo)-Aragón 2014-2020 of the Gobierno de Aragón, Spain, and MICINN (RyC fellowship RYC-2013-14164), respectively. JPF was supported by Reference Group H09_20R (Gobierno de Aragón, Spain). The authors would like to express their gratitude to Maryam Malekmohammadi and Hossein Rahmaninia (Halophytes and C₄ Plants Research Laboratory, University of Tehran) for their participation in fieldwork.

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1. Plant species included in the study with indication of their average plant size, affinity for gypsum soils and taxonomic family. Growth forms: SSS = stem succulent subshrub; LSS = leaf succulent subshrub. Root systems: DT = long taprot with the presence of a dimorphic root system; T = long taproot; Shallow rootsystem (less than 1 m depth). Gypsum affinity: GV = gypsovag; GP = gypsophile. References: 1) Persson & Baitulin, 1996; 2) Wang *et al.* 2017; 3) Fet and Atamuradov 1994; 4) Rudov – unpublished data; 5) Smirnova *et al.* 1976.

Id.	Species	Growth	Root	Gypsum	Photo-	Family
		form &	system	affinity	syntetic	
		plant size			type	
An.ca	Anabasis calcarea	SSS	DT (1)	GV	C ₄	Amaranthaceae
	(Charif & Aellen) Bokhari & Wendelbo	20-40 cm				
An.eu	Anabasis eugeniae Iljin	LSS	DT (1)	GP	C 4	Amaranthaceae
		20 cm				
At.su	Atraphaxis suaedifolia	LSS	T (1, 2)	GP	C ₃	Polygonaceae
	Jaub &Spach	40 cm				
Ca.ge	Caroxylon	LSS	S (3, 4)	GV	C ₄	Amaranthaceae
	gemmascens (Pall.)	20-40 cm				
	Tzvelev					
Or.mo	Oreosalsola montana	LSS	T (5)	GV	C ₃	Amaranthaceae
	(Litv) Akhani.	50 cm				

Table 2. ANOVA (Type II Wald F tests with Kenward-Roger df) of linear mixed models analysing differences in the isotopic composition of the xylem sap among species and seasons, and among four fixed factors of the species and their interaction with the season. The three factors are:

The observed rooting depth of the species (Three levels: DT, S, T see Table 1)

The affinity for gypsum soils (gypsophily) with two levels: gypsovag and gypsophile, season and their interaction on the isotopic composition (δ 180, δ 2H)

The photosynthetic pathway of the species (two levels: c3 and c4)

The phylogeny (four levels: recent, medium-recent, medium-ancient and ancient)

The plant maximum height (Three levels: small, medium, big)

Species, season and their interaction were included as fixed factors (p<0.05) in the first model and for the rest of the models, "Family" and "Family" nested with "Species" were included as random factors. *F-ratios* and *p-values* are shown. Significant effects are highlighted in bold type.

	δ ² H (‰)		δ^1	⁸ O (‰)
	F-ratio	p-value	F-ratio	p-value
Species	6.19	<0.001	7.29	<0.001
Season	9.84	0.004	0.23	0.637
Species:Season	10.71	<0.001	7.44	<0.001
Gypsophily	0.06	0.814	0.16	0.724
Gypsophily : Season	1.41	0.244	4.40	0.044
Photosyntetic pathway	0.19	0.701	0.21	0.678
Photosyntetic pathway: Season	0.91	0.348	1.15	0.291
Rooting depth	0.59	0.665	0.99	0.550
Rooting depth:Season	1.01	0.377	0.61	0.547

Table 3. Bayesian Mixing Model result shown as the percentage of estimated contribution of the three potential water sources, combined from the initial five potential sources, in the xylem sap of the subshrub species.

Sasson	Spacies	Crystallization	Shallow free water	Deep free water
Season	species	water (%)	(%)	(%)
	Oreosalsola montana	11.66	29.69	58.65
	Caroxylon gemmascens	25.69	45.21	29.11
SPRING	Atraphaxis suaedifolia	33.05	39.46	27.49
	Anabasis eugeniae	10.86	53.44	35.69
	Anabasis calcarea	24.22	42.2	33.57
	Oreosalsola montana	9.3	17.92	72.78
	Caroxylon gemmascens	21.73	31.51	46.76
SUMMER	Atraphaxis suaedifolia	6.49	25.45	68.05
	Anabasis eugeniae	23.82	37.69	38.49
	Anabasis calcarea	8.94	16.14	74.93





Figure 1. Location of the study area in NW Iran and Sampling sites. Blue droplets denote the location of water samples and the transparent green rectangles denote the areas were plant samples were collected. The lower left panel is the climatogram based on long term climate data collected at major meteorological stations in the region.



Figure 2. Habitat and plant species studied for ecohydrological niche segregation in a gypsym-calcareous habitat in NW Iran. A. Gypsum-calcareous hills with showing *Anabasis eugeniae* in foreground and A. calcarea in background, inset shows close-up of a fruiting branch of *A. eugeniae* on a gypsum outcrop; B. *Anabasis calcarea*; C. Marl hill with *Caroxylon gemmascens*, *Oreosalsola montana* and *Atraphaxis suaedifolia*; D. Habit and close up of a fruiting branch of Caroxylon gemmascens; E. Habit and close up of a fruiting branch of Oreosalsola montana; F. Habit and flowering branch of *Atraphaxis suaedifolia*.



Figure 3. δ^2 H and δ^{18} O values of the xylem sap of the plant species and soil in both months (April and August). Labels for plant species correspond to *Anabasis calcarea* (Aca), *Anabasis eugenie* (Aeu), *Atraphaxis suaedifolia* (Asu), *Caroxylon gemmascens* (Cage) *and Oreosalsola montana* (Omo). The asterisk (*) in the labels indicate significate changes of the stable isotopes in the xylem sap of the species and in the free and crystallization water among seasons indicated in the linear mixing model (nlme package)



Figure 4. Xylem sap isotopic composition of the species grouped by their gypsum affinity and photosynthetic pathway for both seasons. (These grouping factors did not show any significant influence on the xylem sap isotopic composition of the subshrub species, see Table 2)



Figure 5. Plots showing the δ^2 H (‰) and δ^{18} O (‰) composition of the different sources of water and water xylem sap of the five different species and the global meteoric water line (GMWL) in spring and summer. Values are means ± plus SD. The colour in the sources symbols are for the depth of the source: black= 10cm depth, grey=20 cm depth.



Figure 6. Results from Bayesian stable isotope mixing models showing the estimated contribution of different water sources to the xylem water of the five plant species from community studied in April and in August. The sources named "Crystal" and "Free" included gypsum crystallization water and free water, respectively, sampled at two different depths: 10 and 20 cm underneath the plants; "Deep soil water" represented deeper water.


Helianthemum squamatum flowers.

Picture by I. Soriano, downloaded from Herbario Jaca (IPE-CSIC) Margins designed by Virginia de la Iglesia and Laura de la Puente

Integrated above and below-ground responses of the gypsum specialist *Helianthemum squamatum* (L.) Dum. Cours. to drought*

*To be submitted shortly

De la Puente, L, Ferrio, J. P, Cera, A., Igual, J.M, Palacio, S. (2023) Integrated above and belowground responses of the gypsum specialist *Helianthemum squamatum* (L.) Dum. Cours. to drought. *Environmental & Experimental Botany*.

ABSTRACT

Gypsum endemics (i.e. gypsophiles) have adapted to live in gypsum-rich soils where nutrient unbalance and drought can be extreme. Despite their relevance as plants adapted to extreme conditions, a complete analysis of the physiological responses of gypsophiles to drought is still lacking. Helianthemum squamatum (L.) Dum. Cours. is a conspicuous Iberian gypsophile that has been reported to use gypsum crystallization water during the driest period, but the mechanisms behind this process are unknown. To characterize gypsophile responses to drought and unravel the mechanisms underlying gypsum crystalline water use, H. squamatum plants were grown in pots with natural gypsum soil and gypsum soil with deuterium-labelled crystalline water. After three years, a drought experiment was carried out and whole-plant responses were investigated. Unexpectedly, the labelling treatment affected soil physicochemical characteristics and reduced microbial biomass and organic matter content, decreasing plant aerial biomass. H. squamatum plants did not use gypsum crystallization water during simulated drought neither in the labelled soil, nor in the natural one. Drought reduced plant transpiration, stomatal conductance, water use, photosynthetic rate and the foliar concentration of most nutrients except P and N, which were higher in the drought stressed plants. We detected increased root exudation of choline, an osmoprotector, by drought stressed plants. The drought treatment also affected the structure of microbial communities but did not reduce the relative abundance of functional microbial groups, highly adapted to the natural drought pulses. Our results highlight an integrated water-saving strategy of *H. squamatum* plants in the short-term, where responses at the leaf level are combined with belowground processes, like altered root exudation. Our findings also underline the remarkable resistance to drought of microbial communities present in gypsum soils.

INTRODUCTION

Gypsum soils are widespread in arid and semi-arid regions around the world (FAO, 1990; Verheye and Boyadgiev, 1997). Gypsum regions constitute unique and singular landscapes in Western Europe (Blanca, 1993; European Community 1992). These atypical soils host numerous edaphic endemics, whose mechanisms to cope with the harsh physical and chemical properties of the soil, and the remarkable droughtness of these ecosystems have intrigued scientists for decades (Meyer et al, 1992; Escudero et al, 1999). Plant growth in gypsum soils is particularly constrained by high Ca and S concentrations (Escudero et al, 2015), low porosity, low fertility and low water availability (Guerrero Campo et al, 1999; Moore et al, 2014). Amongst the mechanisms displayed by gypsum edaphic endemics to cope with these limitations are: the foliar accumulation of Ca, S and Mg (Palacio et al, 2022; Sánchez-Martín et al, 2021; Palacio et al, 2007), a great depth of water acquisition (Palacio et al. 2017; Sánchez-Martín et al, 2021) or the interaction with belowground microbiota (Palacio et al, 2012; Cera et al 2021b). Water is recognised as the most limiting factor for plant life in these habitats due to the aridity in addition to the low water retention of gypsum soils (Herrero and Porta, 2000), which increases plant vulnerability to the increasingly drier conditions derived from anthropogenic effects (Mendoza-Fernandez et al, 2014; Collins et al, 2013). Previous studies evaluated the long-term responses to warming and rainfall reduction of gypsum plant species (León-Sánchez et al, 2019; León-Sanchez et al, 2017), showing their potential vulnerability to forecasted climate change. However, information on the whole-plant immediate response to experimental drought (crucial to understand their physiological adaptation to drought stress) and the effects of drought on the soil microbiota, is still lacking.

Helianthemum squamatum (L.) Pers is one of the most conspicuous and frequent perennial gypsum endemisms (i.e. gypsophile) of the Iberian Penisula and North Africa (Rivas Goday *et al*, 1957). Its flowering period extends until the end of July (Aragon *et al*, 2007) corresponding with summer drought, and showing an optimum physiological status when there is almost no water in the soil (Aragón *et al*, 2008). According to previous studies, *H. squamatum* shows no stomatal regulation of photosynthesis, with a decrease of assimilation rate but increased transpiration and stomatal conductance under drought (León-Sánchez *et al*, 2017; Querejeta *et al*, 2021). This profligate use of water could suggest a shift in the water sources used during drought by this species. Plants may shift to deeper sources of water, more available during drought, although this may have consequences for plant nutrient status (Querejeta *et al*, 2021). Foraging deeper soil layers in arid conditions implies lower access to nutrients, reducing the average foliar N, P, Fe, K and Cu concentrations (León-Sánchez *et al*, 2020), and decreasing above-ground biomass of plants (Peñuelas *et al*. 2018; Wright & Westoby, 2002). Exploring *H. squamatum* physiological performance in humidity controlled pots along with above-ground responses could help identify its mechanisms to face drought and cope with the restrictive conditions of gypsum soils.

Another strategy of *H. squamatum* to survive drought is related to the uptake of gypsum crystallization water in the dry season (Palacio et al, 2014; de la Puente et al., 2021). Gypsum mineral (CaSO₄ 2H₂O) contains two water molecules in its crystalline structure, accounting for up to 20.8% of its weight (Bock, 1961). This crystallization water is prone to be used by plants growing on gypsum when free water in the soil is scarce (Palacio et al 2014, 2017; de la Puente, 2021), supporting the water-expender activity of *H. squamatum* without a need to rely on deeper water sources. The source of water used by plants can be traced by comparing the stable isotope composition (δ^2 H and δ^{18} O) of water in the xylem sap of plants with that of the different soil water pools (Meisner *et al.* 2014; Penna *et al*, 2018). For gypsum plant communities, δ^2 H and δ^{18} O under natural abundance have provided strong evidence for the use of crystallization water by plants, including H. squamatum (Palacio et al 2014; Palacio et al, 2017; de la Puente, 2019). However, to date no direct evidence has shown the use of this source of water by plants. The use of isotopicallylabelled gypsum could provide unequivocal evidence of the uptake of this water pool by plants. Deuterium-labelled water can be traced not only in the xylem water of plants to identify the water sources used (Dawson et al, 2002), but also in the bulk organic plant material (e.g. leaves, roots) or in recent plant metabolites (Schleucher, 2020). However, this labelling approach has not been tested in gypsum-endemic plants. Despite the existing evidence of the use of crystallization gypsum water by plants, the biotic and abiotic factors needed to activate this process, and the mechanisms behind it, are still unknown. Only recently, some studies have reported the induction of a phase transformation from gypsum (CaSO₄ 2H₂O) to anhydrite (CaSO₄) caused by the release of organic acids by microorganisms living in gypsum rocks in the Atacama Desert (Huang et al, 2020a; 2020b). Hence, the ability of plants to exudate organic compounds that could alter gypsum hydration or the occurrence of plant-microbial interactions leading to altered soil conditions may be crucial to cope with water stress in gypsum soils.

Many works have focused on the effect of drought as a shaping factor for root microbial communities (Hartman & Tringe, 2019). Previous studies indicate that plant-microbial interactions can lead to improved drought resistance for plants (Naylor et al, 2017; Fiztpatrick et al, 2018), although such effects remain unexplored in gypsum soils. H. squamatum, as many other dryland species, shows decreased diversity and relative abundance of its ectomycorrhizal communities with drought stress (León-Sanchez et al, 2018). However, no previous studies have evaluated the responses to drought of non-mycorrhizal soil fungal and bacterial communities linked to this model gypsum specialist species. In this context, plant root exudation is a vital component of plant drought responses (Karlowsky et al, 2018), as it constitutes a direct communication pathway with microbial life in the soil, contributing to plant performance under certain abiotic stresses (Bai et al, 2022; Pineda et al, 2013). The connection between rhizosphere chemical and microbial responses to drought stress has only been explored recently (Sasse al., 2018; Williams & de Vries, 2019). Root exudation has been shown to influence rhizosphere colonization, promoting arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Quiroga et al, 2017; Huang et al, 2017), or specific bacteria by the exudation of organic acids (Henry al., 2007; Kumar et al, 2016). The potential interplay between the microbiota and root exudates in response to drought in species living in drylands remains poorly explored.

The aim of this work was to perform an integrated analysis of the responses to experimental drought of the gypsophile *H. squamatum* cultivated on gypsum soil with labelled crystallization water and natural gypsum soils. We characterized processes in relation to water use, plant aerial status (physiology, biomass, water content and foliar nutrient composition) and the effects belowground (plant-soil microbial interactions and root exudation). We hypothesized that (1) the main water source used by this species during drought will be the crystallization water of gypsum. Moreover, if it was used any time in the plant life, we expected to detect the deuterium labelling not only in the xylem sap, but also in the transpired water or in the bulk organic matter of its tissues, such as leaves or roots. In addition, we hypothesized that, (2) stomatal conductance and transpiration would be maintained under drought stress, due to the reported non stomatal regulation of *H. squamtum* (León Sánchez *et al*, 2017) and the potential use of crystallization water, but photosynthetic rate may be affected. As a consequence, (3) plant aerial biomass will decrease with drought, as well as leaf elemental concentrations. Finally, we postulated that (4) drought will affect the soil microbiota and plant-soil interactions, leading to a reduction in the microbial biomass and

an increase in the stress of the microbial communities in the soil, and modifying the concentration of certain molecules exuded by plant roots.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Experimental design

The study species was *Helianthemum squamatum* (L) Pers (Cistaceae), which grows only on gypsum soils and is considered a diagnostic species of Iberian gypsum vegetation (Braun-Blanquet & J. Bolòs, 1957). This species is a small (10-30 cm), evergreen, woody sub-shrub (Mota *et al*, 2011), mainly distributed in the eastern half of the Iberian Peninsula, with other localities in Northern Algeria (López- Gonzalez, 1993). Its root system is shallow with most of fine roots occurring in the first 25 cm of the soil (Guerrero-Campo *et al.* 2006). Seeds were collected from several individuals from natural populations near Villamayor, Zaragoza. They were sorted in the laboratory and stored in paper envelopes at room conditions until their germination in the pots. Seeds were scarified with sand paper and kept in distilled water for 24 hours before sowing. Pot surface was covered with coconut fiber to prevent rapid soil dehydration by evaporation.

In May 2019, we started a common garden experiment at the Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología-CSIC in Jaca, Huesca, Spain. Twenty pots of 15 x 15 x 20cm (3.6 L) were germinated with Helianthemum squamatum seeds to obtain one seedling per pot. Ten plants were grown on each of two different types of soil: natural gypsum soil and gypsum soil with deuterium-labelled crystallization water. Natural gypsum soil was collected from gypsum outcrops in the Middle Ebro Bassin (Villamayor del Gállego, Zaragoza, NE Spain, 41°41'44.5N 0°44'26.7W). The dominant substrate in this area is gypsum with a few inserted outcrops of marls and clays (Quirantes, 1978). The soil in the experiment is representative of natural gypsum soils where gypsum endemics frequently grow. Soil was kept in polypropylene raffia bags in the warehouse at room conditions until its use in the pots. Labelled gypsum soil consisted of an artificial soil resulting from heating natural gypsum soil at 100 °C for three days to promote dehydration and loss of gypsum crystallization water and then, re-hydrating it with deuterated water obtained by adding 1 ml of deuterium oxide (99.9 % atom D, CAS 7789-20-0, Sigma-Aldrich, Germany) to 5 litres of water. The recrystallized gypsum soil was then broken into small pieces using a hammer and subsequently ground to pass a 2 mm sieve. The resulting gypsum labelled soil had lower organic matter content than the natural gypsum soil, was much sandier and had slightly different electrical conductivity (see Table 1). Its physicochemical properties considerably changed the growing

conditions of plants, which constitutes an important methodological limitation to consider when interpreting the results.

Plants were regularly watered with tap water to keep the soil moist, they were located in the open air until temperature dropped below 0 °C, when they were moved inside a greenhouse to prevent root freezing. From the 28th Jun 2022, a progressive drought treatment designed to reduce water availability as a function of water use was applied. Plants were watered every second day and they were weighted each morning and just before watering to calculate the amount of water lost by evapotranspiration. Five plants from each type of soil (natural and labelled) were watered with the same amount of water they had lost (control), whereas the other five were watered with 25% of the water lost (drought treatment). To avoid the death of some plants caused by a sharp rise in temperatures, on 10th July we exceptionally watered all plants to field capacity, including the drought treatment replicates. Water content in the pots was also registered every fifteen minutes by EC-5 humidity sensors placed inside three pots per treatment and type of soil (12 sensors). The weight of pots was also used to monitor daily water use by plants.

Plant harvest was performed on the 22nd July 2022, 24 days after the beginning of drought treatments and when plants were three-year-old. From each pot, different portions of shoot, roots and soil were collected and stored for subsequent analyses (detailed below). Specifically, the different fractions collected were: bulk and rhizosphere soil, fine roots, including tips and aboveground plant biomass (main stems, branches and leaves).

Soil physicochemical characterization

Bulk soil samples were collected by considering pot soil that was not in direct contact with the fine roots. One aliquot of each sample was used for water isotope analyses and a second aliquot was immediately frozen at -20°C and then freeze-dried for microbial analyses (see below). The remaining bulk soil was air dried during three months at room temperature and then sieved through a 2 mm sieve prior to physical and chemical analyses. The hydration of labelled gypsum was likely to differ from natural gypsum, leading to an underestimation of gypsum content when applying standard gravimetric procedures based on gypsum dehydration (e.g. Artieda *et al.*, 2006). To overcome this limitation, we analysed the total sulphur (S) content in the soil (Casby-Norton *et al*, 2016) using an elemental analyser (LECO CNS928) and estimated the amount of gypsum content

in the soil by considering the molecular weight of gypsum and assuming that all S in the soil was in the form of gypsum. Soil texture was determined with a particle laser analyser (Mastersizer 2000 Hydro G, Malvern, UK). Soil pH and electrical conductivity were measured with a pH/conductivity meter (Orio StarA215, Thermo Scientific, Waltham-MA, USA) by diluting samples with distilled water to 1:2:5 (w/v) to measure pH and then 1:5 (w/v) to measure conductivity. Available Olsen-Phosphorus (P Olsen) was determined following standard methods (Anderson and Ingram, 1989). To analyse organic matter, a subsample of bulk soil was finely ground using a ball mill (Retsch MM200, Restch GmbH, Haan, Germany) and analysed following the Anderson and Ingram (1989) methodology. All these analyses took place at the Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología-CSIC.

Identification of water sources used by plants

We collected the main stems (including the upper coarse root portion) of study plants. The bark and phloem were scrapped off the stems with a knife to avoid the evaporative surface of the stem and contamination with organic compounds. Right after harvest, stems and a subsample of bulk soil were placed in individual airtight sealed tubes (Duran GL18) and immediately frozen (-20 °C) until distillation.

Xylem and soil water was extracted by cryogenic vacuum distillation (Ehleringer and Dawson, 1992), adapted as described in Palacio *et al.* (2014) at the Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología (IPE-CSIC, Jaca, Spain). Sample tubes were placed in a heated silicone oil bath, and connected with Ultra-Torr unions (Swagelok Company, Solon, OH, USA) to a vacuum system (approx. 10–2 mbar) including U-shaped water traps in series that were cooled with liquid nitrogen. Four lines were installed. After an extraction time of 90 min for plant and soil samples (West *et al.* 2006; Meisner *et al.* 2014), captured water was transferred into screw capped 2 mL vials, and stored at 4 °C until isotope analysis. Xylem water was distilled at 130 °C for 90 min, whereas gypsum soils were distilled in two steps: first at 35 °C, and then at 130 °C to separate free and crystallization gypsum water and ensure complete dehydration of gypsum for 120 min each (Freyer and Voigt, 2003; Palacio *et al.*, 2014). Between the first and second distillation, sample tubes were kept in a desiccator with silica gel to avoid any re-hydration with ambient moisture, which could contaminate the next extraction water. Distilled samples were completely dried in the oven for 24

h at 60 °C. The samples were weighed before and after each distillation and after oven-drying to measure water content and confirm complete distillation.

Oxygen and hydrogen isotope composition (δ^{18} O and δ^{2} H) were determined by cavity ring-down spectroscopy (CRDS) at the scientific services of the Instituto Pirenaico de Ecología (CSIC), using a Picarro L2130-i with vaporizer A0211. The estimated precision was 0.10 % for δ^{18} O and 0.40 % for δ^{2} H. Deuterium excess was calculated according to Dansgaard (1964), as the divergence from the Global Meteoric Water Line as:

$Dex = \delta^2 H - 8 \times \delta^{18} O$

We did not consider the eventual role of organic contaminants because in labelling experiments their effect is negligible. For the δ^2 H and ¹⁸O analyses of transpired water, we used a cryogenic vapour trapping system (see Supplementary Figure 1 B, C), as described elsewhere (Ferrio *et al.* 2009). Three plants per treatment and type of soil were wrapped with a plastic bag and connected to suction pumps (i.e. reversed aquarium pumps), in line with a glass U-tube immersed in a mixture of ethanol and dry ice (at ca. -70 °C). For each plant, air was pumped at *ca.* 1 L min⁻¹ for about 2 h. After thawing, the collected water was immediately transferred into sealed 2 mL vials, and stored at 4 °C until isotope analyses.

Differences in δ^2 H in bulk leaf tissue among treatments and type of soils were analysed at the Serveis Cientifics i Tècnics of the Universitat de Barcelona trough pyrolysis TC/EA (Thermo Fisher Scientific) coupled with a mass spectrometer IRMS with isotopic ratios (DELTA PLUS XP).

Presence of deuterium in root metabolites was analysed at Estación Experimental Aula Dei-CSIC (EEAD-CSIC), through Liquid Chromatography- High Resolution Mass Spectometer (LC-HRMS), and based on untargeted metabolomics following the protocol indicated in Pezzatti *et al.* (2020).

Plant aerial status: physiological parameters, water content, biomass and foliar nutrient concentrations

Gas exchange and photosynthesis were measured using a portable gas photosynthesis system CIRAS-3 (PP-Systems, Amesbury, MA, USA), fitted with an automatic universal leaf cuvette (PLC3-U, PP-Systems) and a chlorophyll fluorescence module (CFM, PP-Systems). All measurements were conducted under standard environmental conditions: cuvette CO₂ concentration of 400 µmol mol⁻¹, cuvette temperature of 25 °C, reference humidity set to 100% of ambient conditions, and saturating PPFD of 1200 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. The following gas exchange variables were determined: net CO₂ assimilation rate ($A_n - \mu$ mol CO₂ m⁻² s⁻¹), transpiration rate ($E - mmol H2O m^{-2} s^{-1}$) and stomatal conductance ($g_s - mol H_2O m^{-2} s^{-1}$). To estimate foliar area included in the cuvette, we took a picture of the leaves on a measurement scale, and subsequently calculated leaf area with Image J 1.5r (National Institutes of Health, USA) (see Supplementary Figure 1) approximating it to that of an ellipse (see Supplementary Figure 1 D). These measurements were used to calculate gas-exchange parameters on a per leaf area basis and to estimate mean leaf area from each individual (see below). As the first day of measures was an exceptionally cloudy and cold day, leading to overall limitations of photosynthesis, we kept for analysis only the measures from the second round, on the 21st of July, i.e. just before plant harvest.

On the harvest day (22th July), ten leaves were separated from each plant and rinsed with tap water to remove soil or dust, then weighed in a precision scale (42 g / 0.00001 g, MS105DU, Mettler Toledo, Columbus-OH, USA) and dried at 50 °C. Once dried, they were weighed again to calculate leaf water content. The rest of plant leaves and shoot biomass were separated, dried on the stove at 50 °C and weighed. Dried leaves were subsequently finely ground using a ball mill (Retsch MM200, Restch GmbH, Haan, Germany) to analyse nutrient content. N and C concentrations were analysed with an elemental analyzer (TruSpec CN, LECO, St. Joseph-MI, USA) in the Insituto Pirenaico de Ecología-CSIC. The elemental composition of Al, As, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Hg, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, Ni, P, Pb, S, Se, Ti, V, Zn was measured by extracting samples with HNO₃-H₂O₂ (8:2) by microwave acid digestion (Speed Ave MWS-3+, BERGHOF, Eningen, Germany), followed by inductively coupled plasma-optical emission spectrometry (Varian ICP 720-ES, Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara-CA, USA). ICP elemental analyses were performed by EEZ-CSIC Analytical Services. To approximate mean leaf area from each individual we used the same data as for IRGA measures (see above).

Belowground effects: soil microbial community analyses

The characterization of the main functional groups within soil microbial communities was made using Phospholipid Fatty Acid (PLFA) analyses of soil microbia carried out at IRNASA-CSIC Salamanca, Spain. Aliquots of 2 g of lyophilized bulk soil were used for lipid extraction. Lipids were extracted with a one-phase chloroform-methanol-phosphate buffer solvent. Phospholipids were separated from non-polar lipids and converted to fatty acid methyl esters before analysis, following the methodology described by Buyer and Sasser (2012). The resulting fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) were separated by gas chromatography using an Agilent 7890A GC System (Agilent Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA) equipped with a 25-m Ultra 2 (5%-phenyl)-methylpolysiloxane column (J&W Scientifc, Folsom, CA, USA) and a flame ionization detector. The identification and quantification of FAMES was carried out using the PLFAD1 method of Sherlock software version 6.3 from MIDI, Inc (Newark, DE, USA). The internal standard 19:0 phosphatidylcholine (Avanti Polar Lipids, Alabaster, AL, USA) was used for the quantification of the FAMEs. Total microbial biomass was estimated by summing the contents of all individual PLFAs and reported as nanomoles of PLFAs per gram of soil.

Specific PLFAs were used as biomarkers to quantify the biomass of broad taxonomic microbial groups, according to their characteristic fatty acids: eukaryote, Gram negative and Gram positive bacteria (hereafter G- and G + , respectively), saprophytic fungi and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) (Frostegard and Baath, 1996). Saturated to unsaturated fatty acids (hereafter Sat/Unsat) and cyclopropyl fatty acids to their monoenoic precursors $(cy17:0 + cy19:0) / (16:1\omega7 + 18:1\omega7;$ hereafter G- cy/pre) ratios were calculated as proxies of physiological or nutritional stress in the bacterial communities (Frostegård *et al.* 2011; Willers *et al.* 2015).

Belowground responses: root exudates collection and analysis

Root exudates were collected following the methodology in Teodoro *et al* (2019) with small modifications for the fine rooted species included in this study. A small portion of fine root tips was rapidly collected, weighed up to about 60 mg, and shaken in 0.5 mL of 0.01% miliQ water-dissolved formic acid to avoid microbial consumption of the organic compounds (Abrahao *et al*, 2014; Teodoro *et al*, 2019). After ten minutes, the root tips were removed, the samples were filtered with a 0.22 µm cellulose acetate filter and frozen at -80°C until analysis.

To identify the released carboxylates, we used an ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography (UHPLC) system coupled to a quadrupole-time-of-flight (maXis Impact HR Q-TOF-MS, Bruker Daltonik GmbH, Bremen, Germany) orthogonal accelerated Q-TOF mass spectrometer, equipped with an electrospray ionization source (ESI). UHPLC analyses were made at the Metabolomics Platform of CEBAS-CSIC (Centro de Edafología y Biología Aplicada del Segura). Organic acids are the main compounds known to be released by roots and to have direct or indirect effects on the acquisition of mineral nutrients required for plant growth (Dakora & Phillips, 2013). Consequently, we focused on the following organic acids: citric, isocitric, malic, oxalic, succinic, lactic, maleic, tartaric, malonic and fumaric acid. In addition, sugar alcohols or polyols, such as myo inositol, galactinol, xylitol, sorbitol-mannitol and the osmolyte choline were detected just by using spectral features (exact mass, isotopic distribution, elution order and fragmentation profile) with external and internal databases (using the generated molecular formula) and information provided in the literature about plant metabolome (Garcia et al., 2016). Analytical results of organic acids are show as µg/mL (ppm) but the rest of compounds (sugar alcohols and choline) are shown as a ratio of areas under the peaks (AUP), calculated with respect to the highest value detected, for comparative purposes only, without quantifying its concentration, and assuming that matrix composition variation is low (Warwick et al., 2005).

Calculations and statistical analyses

All statistical and graphical analyses were carried out using R version 4.0.0 (R Core Team, 2020). Graphs were designed with ggplot2 package 3.3.1 (Wickham, 2016). The effects of treatments on the deuterium excess of xylem and soil water were assessed by linear models using lm function (Chambers, 1992) in the *stats* package, which is part of R (R Core Team, 2020). The model included "drought treatment" (drought /control) and soil "labelling treatment" (labelled/natural) as fixed factors, and the interaction between them. The relative contribution of potential water sources to xylem sap was estimated using Bayesian Mixing Models for stable isotopic data with *MixSIAR* (Stock *et al*, 2018). This procedure estimates the proportion of source contributions to a mixture, using as "consumers" the isotopic values (δ^2 H and δ^{18} O) of xylem water in each individual. These results were compared with the visualization of both isotopes composition of free and crystallization water, xylem sap and the Global Meteoric Water Line to avoid misleading interpretations of Mixing Models.

Differences among treatments ("drought treatment", "labelling treatment" and its interaction) in the stomatal conductance, transpiration rate, water use and assimilation rate, as well as in the concentration of each exudate detected and the total aboveground biomass of the plant, were also evaluated with the lm and ANOVA functions from *stats* package. Residuals were visually checked using the *DHARMa* package (Hartig, 2020).

We visualized relationships among elemental concentrations and treatments using a Redundancy Analysis with RDA function of the *vegan* package version 2.5-7 in R (Oksanen *et al.* 2020). Then, we plotted the Principal Component Analysis (PCA) using the first and second Principal Components as the X and Y axis. We used elements with concentrations above the detection limit of the ICP-OES spectrometer and N and C concentration data. All elemental data were transformed to Center Log-Ratio coordinates (Aitchison., 1982) using compositions (van den Boogaart *et al.* 2022) to maintain relationships between elements regardless of the concentration, which allows studying joint patterns among elements (Prater *et al.* 2019). Differences in nutrient composition between treatments were assessed using Permutational Multivariate Analysis of Variance (PERMANOVA) based on distance (Adonis function on *vegan* package version 2.5-7 in R) with "drought treatment" (drought / control) and "labelling treatment" as fixed factors and using the Euclidean as distance from Center Log-ratio coordinates. For univariate approaches, we analysed the effect of treatments and their interaction (independent variables) with individual ANOVAs run on the 18 elements analysed separately. As above, residuals were visually checked using the *DHARMa* package (Hartig. 2020).

Relative abundance percentages of individual fatty acids were arcsine-transformed for normality before statistical analyses. A PCA was performed to represent and analyse the differences in soil microbial community composition (PLFAs) between experimental treatments. This PCA was conducted with CANOCO v 5.15 (Braak, & Smilauer., 2002). To test for the differences in PLFA composition of soil microbia between treatments and the interaction between them, PERMANOVA was used. Data on relative abundances of microbial groups (eukaryote, Gram negative bacteria, Gram positive bacteria, actynobacteria, saprophytic fungi and mycorrhizal fungi) and stress indexes were analysed, in the same way than the leaf elements, by ANOVA with treatments and their interaction as independent variables. Holm–Sidak's multiple comparisons test was used for further comparison when a significant difference was found in ANOVA.

RESULTS

Water sources used by plants

The isotopic composition of gypsum crystallization water of pot soil varied markedly with the labelling treatment (Table 2). Crystallization water of labelled gypsum soil was highly ²H-enriched reflecting the stability of the labelling treatment (Supplementary Table 1, Supplementary Figure 2 and 3). Compared with free water, crystallization water from natural soils was always more $\delta^2 H$ and δ^{18} O enriched (Figure 1, Supplementary Table1, Supplementary Figure 2 and 3). Free water δ^2 H, δ^{18} O and Deuterium-excess varied between control and drought treatments but, as expected, not with labelling treatments. However, there was a significant interaction between labelling and drought treatments on the δ^{18} O composition and Deuterium excess of free water (Table 2), showing more evaporated values under drought conditions for the labelled soil than in the natural soil (Figure 1, Supplementary Table 1, Supplementary Figure 2 and 3). On the other hand, we found significant effects of both treatments and their interaction on the isotopic composition and Deuterium-excess of xylem sap water: D-excess of the control treatment plants was always higher than those of the drought treatment, but this difference was much stronger in the labelled soil than in the natural one. However, the isotopic composition of transpiration water did not change significantly with any of the treatments or their interaction (Table 2, Supplementary Figure 2), indicating no use of labelled gypsum crystallization water during drought. Similarly, we did not detect the use of labelled crystallization water during plant life: $\delta^2 H$ values of bulk leaf biomass were not significantly different between the labelled treatment: -91.0 \pm 2.7 (mean \pm SD); and the natural treatment; -96.5±5.0 (mean± SD).

The estimation of the most likely sources of water used by plants by Bayesian Models indicated that plants grown in the labelled soil did not use crystallization water, but free water was the main source used, showing a high contribution (97 % and 98% for the labelled drought and labelled control plants, respectively). Conversely, plants grown in natural soil showed a certain contribution of gypsum crystallization water in their xylem sap water according to Bayesian models. The model estimated that gypsum crystallization water was the main water source (61.7%) under drought, but a secondary water source (27.8%) in control pots (Supplementary Figure 3). However, contrasting with the model outcomes, the δ^2 H- δ^{18} O biplot of xylem water and the different sources (Figure 1) showed that xylem sap water of both labelled and natural pots fell on the same evaporation line of

soil free water. Plants in the drought treatment had more evaporated values (i.e. higher δ^2 H and δ^{18} O) than in the control, with the most evaporated values found in the labelled-drought treatment (i.e. L8, L9, L6). These results indicate no use of crystallization water by plants in this experiment.

Drought effects on plants

Drought caused a significant reduction of stomatal conductance, transpiration and assimilation rates and also of whole-plant water use in *H. squamatum* (Figure 2). The interaction between drought and labelling treatments had also a slight effect on the amount of water used by plants, being lower under drought for the labelled pots than for the pots with natural soil (Figure 2, Supplementary Table 2).

Plants cultivated in the labelled soil had significantly lower aerial biomass but drought treatment did not modify this trait. Leaf and root water content did not change with any of the treatments or their interaction (Supplementary Table 3). On the other hand, both treatments had an independent effect on the elemental composition of plant leaves (Table 3, Figure 3). Plants subjected to drought showed a different foliar elemental composition tan control plants (*p-value* = 0.001; *F-ratio* = 2.64), with significantly higher concentrations of N, P, Zn and C, and lower concentrations of Mg, Mn, Ca and Cu, S, Sr, Li and Ti (see Figure 3). Moreover, plants subjected to the labelling treatment showed significantly higher concentrations of Na, Ca, Al, S, Sr, Fe, Ti and Li, but lower C, K, Mn in their leaves (Table 3, Figure 3).

Drought effects on plant-soil interactions: microbial communities and plant root exudation

PERMANOVA showed significant effects of both treatments on the phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA) composition in the soil, indicating a considerable modification of the structure of microbial populations with drought and labelling (Table 4, Figure 4). Univariate analyses showed that the labelling treatment reduced drastically the total microbial biomass, as well as the relative abundance of Eukaryota, AM Fungi, Saprophitic Fungi and the Fungi/ Bacteria ratio. Conversely, effects of drought on these parameters were not significant. The labelling treatment showed significantly higher indices of microbial stress (indicated by the indexes "G- cy/pre" and "Sat/Unsat"; Table 4, Figure 4).

We did not find differences in the concentration of organic acids and alcohols exuded by plants between the labelling and natural treatment. However, in the drought treatment we detected a remarkably higher exudation of the amine choline by the roots of plants subjected to drought as compared to control plants (Figure 5, Supplementary Table 4).

DISCUSSION

Labelling gypsum crystallization water strongly modified soil characteristics

The labelling treatment applied in this experiment in order to trace gypsum water crystallization along the soil-plant system resulted in a gypsum soil with different physicochemical properties, respect to the original natural soil (Table1). This fact forced us to consider the labelling of the soil as an additional treatment that caused sharp responses by plants. The effect of the soil labelling was reflected in most of the parameters analysed in this work; from the temperature of gypsum dehydration when extracting it to calculate gypsum content in the soil (Material and Methods: Soil physicochemical characterization), to changes in the microbial biomass (Table 5, Figure 5), and including plant photosynthetic rate, plant aerial biomass or leaf elemental concentrations. Labelled soil had a sandier texture and lower organic matter content, and consequently, dried faster, and presented a significantly reduced microbial biomass and the microbiota colonizing it was subjected to higher stress (Tejada et al, 2006; Ros et al, 2003). Therefore, plants growing on the labelled soil showed the effects of increased water stress and lower soil fertility, rendering less productivity (i.e. lower aerial biomass). The leaf elemental composition of plants also changed as a result of soil labelling; plants growing on the labelled soil showed higher contents of certain metals (e.g. Na, Al, Fe and Li), but lower K compared to the natural soil. The lower K values in the plants growing on labelled soil could be the result of lower uptake, as the lack of microbial activity in this poorer soil might have limited K availability for plants (Meena et al, 2014).

Free water in the soil was the only water source used by plants, even during drought

Contrary to our hypothesis, our pot-grown *H. squamatum* plants did not use gypsum crystallization water, even when subjected to drought. These experimental results do not agree with previous field studies that evidenced the presence of gypsum crystallization water in the xylem sap of this species and other shallow rooted species at the driest time of the year (Palacio *et al*, 2014; de la Puente *et al*, 2021). Unlike our study, these works showed isotopic values of the *H. squamatum* xylem water much better aligned with crystallization water than with free water evaporation line during summer.

According to our results, the isotopic composition of the xylem sap of plants growing in the labelled soil differed from that of plants growing on natural soil. However, the differences could not be explained by the different water sources used by plants, but by the faster evaporation of free

soil water in the labelled soil exposed to drought (owing to the different physicochemical features of the labelled soil), so plants growing in this soil had more evaporated water in the xylem. The study of the water sources in this experiment let us make a call for caution in the interpretation of Bayesian Mixing Models, which should always be supported by the biplot showing the δ^2 H- δ^{18} O data of the potential water sources and the xylem of plants (Figure1). Bayesian Mixing Models estimated a big proportion of gypsum crystalline water use in the natural drought treatment, however, values were comparatively much lower in the labelled drought treatment (Supplementary Figure 4). Without a proper interpretation of the biplots, this fact could have been interpreted as evidence that gypsum water in the labelling treatment was more difficult to uptake by plants (as it was more difficult to extract by heating), and let us confirm the use of gypsum crystallization water during drought in natural soils. However, when looking at Figure 1, we observed that all xylem water isotopic values (including those of the natural drought treatment) were aligned with the free water evaporation line, but not with the gypsum crystallization water line, ruling out the possibility of crystallization water use by the plants included in our experiment.

The lack of crystallization water use could be due to the artificial environment where the plants grew (i.e. watering and pot conditions), compared to the natural environment in the field, where previous studies were performed. There are several environmental conditions that were modified in our experimental approach and could have affected the development and performance of plants, and hence their water up-take mechanisms. Although care was taken to mimic natural conditions as much as possible, our experimental set up might have potentially altered water and nutrient availability, root foraging ability, soil temperature and microbial communities composition and performance (Lynch *et al*, 2012). More research is needed to identify experimental approaches that increase reproducibility of natural conditions and enable tracing the path of gypsum crystallization water in the plant-soil system.

Drought treatment decreased transpiration, stomatal conductance, photosynthesis and leaf elemental composition

This experiment showed, for the first time, short-time responses of *H. squamatum* to drought. Contrary to our hypothesis about the water spender strategy of the species based on previous longterm studies (Querejeta *et al* 2021, León-Sánchez, 2018), we observed a coordinated water-saving response in the short-term. This different behaviour could be linked to the inability to acquire gypsum crystallization water that would otherwise have allowed the plant to maintain transpiration and stomatal conductance.

The closure of stomata and associated decrease in transpiration rate recorded, might have decreased transpiration-driven mass flow of soil nutrients to roots (Matimati *et al*, 2014). Accordingly, we observed a reduction of some leaf macronutrients (S, Ca, Mg) and micronutrients (Mn and Cu) with drought. These results agree with other manipulative studies on this species (Prieto & Querejeta, 2019). However, contrary to previous results of lower N leaf content with drought (León-Sánchez *et al*, 2017, Querejeta *et al*, 2021), we could see an increase of this macronutrient in the leaves of plants from the drought treatment. This observation could be the result of N recycling from leaves shed at the onset of a partial defoliation of stressed plants. The higher concentration of Ca and Mg in control plants leaves could be due to the higher transpiration rate of these plants. These elements are not easily remobilized from shed leaves, but their uptake from soil largely depends on the transpiration stream (White & Broadley, 2003)

Drought did not decrease soil microbial biomass but changed root exudation

The process of labelling involved heating and dehydration of the soil and, thus, extreme conditions for microbial life (Meisner *et al*, 2015; Fierer *et al*, 2003) that negatively affected a significant portion of the native microbiota. Moreover, the labelling process also altered the physico-chemical properties of the soil, mostly by decreasing the organic matter content and modifying its texture, being both soil characteristics reported as strong drivers of microbial soil communities (Chau *et al*, 2011; Grandy *et al*, 2009). Consequently, labelled gypsum soils showed increased relative abundance of Actinobacteria, a phylum renowned for its resistance to extreme conditions (Naylor & Coleman, 2018).

Contrastingly, drought did not alter the abundance of the different functional microbial groups or the stress indexes calculated from PLFA profiles. Native microbial communities of the gypsum natural soil might be highly adapted to this abiotic stress. This result agrees with previous findings reporting a high resistance of soil microorganisms like fungi to drought (Yuste *et al*, 2011; Barnard *et al*, 2013). However, our results contrast with previous studies on bacteria, which showed an increased sensitivity to drought (Griffin, 1985) and tended to become enriched in the phylum Actinobacteria (Naylor & Coleman, 2018), as observed for labelled gypsum soil in this study. We detected a significant increase in the exudation of choline at the rhizosphere of drought stressed plants. This compound has an osmoprotective role which mitigates drought stress by the stabilization of biological structures (Sakamoto & Murata, 2001). This molecule is synthesized by plants (Zia *et al.* 2020), induced by certain bacteria in the soil (Zhang *et al*, 2011) or by rhizospheric microbes (Aslam *et al*, 2022; Mathesius. 2019), but our data do not enable clarifying the origin of this molecule in this study.

CONCLUSIONS

We performed an integrated study of the short-term responses of the gypsum specialist Helianthemum squamatum to experimental drought, identifying a water-saving strategy that contrasts with former findings. Contrary to previous field-work evidences, we could not demonstrate the use of gypsum crystallization water under experimental conditions by this species, probably due to the marked differences between environmental conditions in our experimental set up and those in the wild. We highlight the need to combine Bayesian Mixing Models with the observation of the xylem isotopic data in the δ^2 H- δ^{18} O plot to infer potential water sources used by plants. In this study, the constraint of H. squamatum plants to use only the scarce free water content in the pot soil, likely forced them to reduce stomatal conductance and transpiration rates, showing a previously undescribed water-saving strategy in the short-term. Linked to these physiological responses, foliar nutrient concentrations decreased in drought-stressed plants, except for P and N, which could have been reabsorbed from senescing leaves of stressed plants. In addition, H. squamatum roots increased choline exudation, an important osmo-protective molecule, to face drought. Such exudation could, at least partly, be supported by the gypsum soil microbiota, which showed a strong resistance to arid conditions. Altogether, these results point at an integrated, conservative strategy of this gypsum specialist plant, at least in the short-term. Our study revealed interesting reactions of a gypsum specialist species and its microbiome under severe drought, prone to serve as a model species for future forecasted drought intensification.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS AND FUNDING

We thank Lola Echevarría Jiménez for help with the harvesting and L. Echevarría and Tulia Ferrio Romero for helping during physiological measurements of the plants; M. Perez-Serrano for assistance with sample shipping, Jose Enrique Yuste for supporting the analysis of root exudation data; Laboratorio Subterráneo de Canfranc, for supplying liquid nitrogen necessary for distillations, Juan Herrero Isern for help with labelled soil grinding and Raúl Carrey Labarta for providing leaf isotopic data.

This work was supported by the Spanish Government [MICINN, CGL2015-71360-P and PID2019-111159GB-C31], and by European Union's Horizon 2020 [H2020-MSCA-RISE-777803 GYPWORLD]. LP was funded by fellowship FSE-Aragón 2014-2020 by Gobierno de

Aragón, Spain; JPF was supported by Reference Group H09_20R (Gobierno de Aragón, Spain) and SP was supported by a Ramón y Cajal Fellowship [MICINN, RYC-2013-14164].

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1. Mean and standard deviation of principal soil physicochemical properties grouped by

 treatments. EC, electric conductivity; P, available P Olsen; OM, organic matter content.

	pН	EC	%gypsun	n SAND	SILT	CLAY	Р	ОМ
Labelled-Control	7.6 ± 0.2	4.5±2.3	60.1±1.9	74.6±2.1	17.8±1.4	7.6±0.8	0.1±0.1	1.6±0.2
Labelled-Drought	7.4 ± 0.4	4.4 ± 1.1	60.8 ± 0.8	75.2±2.1	6.4±1.6	6.4 ± 0.7	0.0 ± 0.0	1.5 ± 0.1
Natural-Control	7.5±0.3	3.4±1.1	54.7±0.6	40.0±3.6	15.4±2.4	15.4±1.7	0.0 ± 0.0	2.3±0.1
Natural-Drought	7.7 ± 0.1	3.4±0.9	$54.0{\pm}1.8$	43.2±2.4	12.3±1.8	12.3±0.7	0.0 ± 0.0	2.2±0.2

Table 2. Results from linear models on the effects of treatments in the isotopic composition of xylem sap of the plants, transpiration water and water sources in the soil (free and crystallization). *F-ratios* and *p-values* are provided. Significant effects (at α =0.05) are highlighted in bold.

		XYLE	M SAP WA	TER				
	$\delta^2 H$			$\delta^{18}O$	L	D-excess		
	\overline{F}	р	F	р	F	р		
Drought	38.33	<0.001	49.30	<0.001	47.61	<0.001		
Labelling	4.87	0.045	10.67	0.006	12.82	0.003		
Drought:Labelling	18.34	<0.001	21.58	<0.001	19.92	<0.001		
		SOIL	FREE WAT	ΓER				
	$\delta^2 H$			$\delta^{18}O$	L)-excess		
	F	р	F	р	F	р		
Drought	4.08	0.062	25.59	<0.001	37.45	<0.001		
Labelling	2.80	0.115	1.46	0.246	0.17	0.687		
Drought:Labelling	2.94	0.107	4.94	0.042	3.84	0.069		
	SC	DIL CRYST	ALLIZATI	ON WATER				
	$\delta^2 H$ $\delta^{18} O$ D-excess							
	\overline{F}	р	F	р	F	р		
Drought	1.89	0.190	4.24	0.057	8.79	0.010		
Labelling	5240.35	<0.001	94.51	<0.001	8747.21	<0.001		
Drought:Labelling	1.38	0.258	7.64	0.014	0.11	0.743		
		TRANSP	IRATION V	WATER				
	$\delta^2 H$			$\delta^{18}O$	D-excess			
	F	р	F	р	F	р		
Drought	0.49	0.49	2.39	0.145	4.48	0.053		
Labelling	0.04	0.841	0.12	0.739	0.06	0.809		
Drought:Labelling	1.98	0.18	0.51	0.486	0.01	0.941		

Table 3 Multivariate test (PERMANOVA) testing the effect of drought, soil labelling and their interaction on the elemental composition of plant leaves. *F-ratios* and *P-values* are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at $\alpha = 0.05$. Results of univariate linear models (ANOVA) testing the effect of the treatments and their interaction on the foliar concentration of each element analyzed separately are also shown.

		Р	ERMA	NOVA			
			F-rati	0	p-value		
Drought		2.64		0.001			
Labelling	Labelling				0.004		
Drought*	ng	0.74	0.811				
			AN	OVA			
Labelling Drough			ht	t Drought*Labelling			
F-ratio p-value F-ratio p-value F-ratio p-value							
<i>Al</i> 12.78	0.003	2.87	0.111	1.04	0.325		
Ca 9.97	0.006	28.97	<0.001	2.64	0.125		
Cu 1.94	0.184	5.46	0.034	1.45	0.246		
Fe 5.99	0.027	0.64	0.438	1.93	0.185		
K 9.15	0.008	1.11	0.308	0.46	0.508		
Mg 0.64	0.433	7.38	0.015	0.16	0.696		
Mn 19.36	<0.001	19.81	<0.001	1.13	0.304		
Na 4.96	0.041	0.02	0.792	0.366	0.554		
P 0.061	0.807	13.84	0.002	0.12	0.738		
S 6.77	0.020	12.29	0.003	0.74	0.405		
Zn 1.24	0.283	0.75	0.399	0.03	0.855		
<i>Sr</i> 24.31	<0.001	1.09	<0.001	1.11	0.309		
N 0.84	0.375	6.01	0.028	0.02	0.891		
<i>C</i> 11.84	0.004	36.41	<0.001	6.10	0.027		
<i>Li</i> 20.4	<0.001	12.13	0.003	1.10	0.310		
Cr 2.31	0.149	0.13	0.716	1.64	0.220		

Table 4. Multivariate test (PERMANOVA) testing the effect of the treatments on the molar percentage of all phospholipid fatty acids analysed in the pot soil and ANOVA results comparing the relative abundance of different microbial groups and of two stress indexes among treatments and their interaction. *F-ratios* and *p-values* are shown. Significant effects (at α =0.05) are highlighted in bold.

PERMANOVA								
		F-ratio			p-value			
Drought		4.00			0.014			
Labelling		8.64			<0.001			
Drought*Labelling	g	1.83			0.134			
		AN	OVA			_		
	Label	ling	Drou	ght	Labelling* Drought			
	F ratio	p-value	eF rati	iop-valu	e F ratio	p-value		
Microbial biomass	s 11.79	0.004	0.01	0.958	3.04	0.102		
%Eukariota	14.80	<0.001	1.83	0.196	0.12	0.728		
%Gram Negative	0.93	0.349	8.90	0.009	1.56	0.231		
%Gram Positive	1.59	0.226	0.18	0.677	0.07	0.800		
%Actinobacteria	0.36	0.555	6.85	0.019	0.86	0.369		
%Fungi	8.19	0.012	1.16	0.301	0.58	0.460		
%AM Fungi	29.54	<0.001	0.83	0.378	0.70	0.416		
G- cy/pre	26.77	<0.001	1.92	0.186	0.09	0.771		
Sat/Unsat	19.83	<0.001	1.56	0.230	0.01	0.911		



Figure 1. Isotopic composition (δ 2H and δ 18O) of each potted plant and the water sources in the soil. Diamonds indicate xylem water composition of plants growing either on labelled ("L") or natural soil ("N"). Dots stand for crystallization (black) and free soil (grey) water isotopic composition in the soil. Regression lines are represented to compare the slopes: black and grey dashed lines for crystallization and free soil, respectively; Solid black line: global meteoric water line (GMWL); solid blue line: xylem water of all potted plants.



Figure 2. Comparison of tomatal conductance, transpiration rate, assimilation rate and water use in *H. squamatum* plants subjected to different treatments. L stands for labelled and N for natural treatment. Black bars are for the control and grey bars for the drought treatment. Different letters indicate significant differences across all treatments after multiple comparisons Tukey tests ($\alpha = 0.05$).



Figure 3. Distance plot of principal components analysis (PCA) from leaf elemental concentration data. Arrows indicate the loadings of each element (Al, As, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Hg, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, Ni, P, Pb, S, Se, Ti, V, Zn). Symbols stand for the scores of individual plants under control (squares) and drought (circles) conditions, separated by labelling (white symbols) and natural treatments (black symbols)



Figure 4. A. Biplot showing the results of PCA on the matrix of relative abundance of all PLFAs detected in soil samples. Arrows represent variables passively projected into the PCA diagram but not included in the calculation (accessory variables): relative abundance of eukaryote, Gram negative bacteria (Gram N), Gram positive bacteria (Gram P), Actinobacteria (Actinob.), saprophytic fungi (SapFungi), mycorrizal fungi (AMFungi), saturated to unsaturated fatty acids ratio (Sat/Unsat), cyclopropyl fatty acids to monoenoic precursors ratio (GN cy/pre) and total microbial biomass (Biomass). Values on the axes indicate percentages of total variation explained by each axis. Symbols stand for the scores of individual soils under labelled (squares) and natural (circles) conditions separated by drought (white symbols) and control treatments (black symbols). B. Mean and standard error of microbial parameters grouped by labelling treatment. L: Labelled. N: - Natural. Black bars are for the control treatment (C) and grey bars are for the drought treatment (D).



Figure 5. Mean and standard error of root exudate concentration grouped by labelling treatment. -L: Labelled N: Natural. Black bars are for the control treatment (C) and grey bars are for drought treatment (D). Choline was the only exudate which changed with the drought treatment (F=9.28; *p*-*value*=0.008). No effects of the labelling treatment were observed in the concentration of these compounds in the rhizosphere.
Chapter 4

Ononis tridentata flowers.

Picture by Gabriel Montserrat, downloaded from Herbario Jaca (IPE-CSIC) Margins designed by Visrginia de la Iglesia and Laura de la Puente

Soil microorganisms and root exudation mediate rhizosphere acidification of the gypsum specialist *Ononis tridentata* Devesa & G. López*

Article under review

De la Puente, L, Echavarría, L., Igual, J. M., Ferrio, J.P., Palacio, S. (2023) Soil microorganisms and root exudation mediate rhizosphere acidification of the gypsum specialist *Ononis tridentata* Devesa&G.López. *Plant & Soil*.

https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-3072399/v1

ABSTRACT

Background and Aims: Plants living on gypsum are adapted to uptake nutrients in extremely poor alkaline soils. Under such extreme conditions, processes affecting the chemical conditions of the rhizosphere may be crucial for plant survival and growth. Rhizosphere acidification in plants living on gypsum soils has never been reported before and the effect of root exudation and microbial fungi on the rhizosphere pH remains undescribed.

Methods: In this study we cultivated seeds of the gypsum specialist *Ononis tridentata* in rhizoboxes with natural gypsum soil and with fungi-sterile gypsum soil, and monitored changes in the rhizosphere pH with planar optodes coupled to a calibrated image recording system. Soil microbial life and root exudation were characterised.

Results: The acidification was steep in both treatments, more intense in the root tip. The higher presence of fungi led to lower pH values in the natural soil treatment. In the fungi-sterile treatment, however, rhizosphere acidification was more extensive across the root surface. Several organic acids and alcohols were exuded by plant roots, with a significantly higher concentration of some compounds in fungi-sterile roots, potentially due to the reduced fungal activity. However, the exudation of lactic acid, a compound related to rhizosphere bacteria, was higher in plants grown in the natural treatment.

Conclusion: Root exudation seemed to be a fundamental process to acidify the rhizosphere in gypsum soil, and fungal microbiota participated in the process without showing a dependency for plant growth. The direct visualization of pH changes at the rhizosphere helped to describe an important mechanism of plant life on gypsum.

Keywords: gypsum soils, rhizosphere acidification, pH, soil microbiota, Ononis tridentata.

INTRODUCTION

Soils with high contents of gypsum are present in arid and semiarid areas worldwide (Herrero & Porta, 2000). Its life-limiting properties such as water scarcity and nutrient imbalance have important consequences for plant nutrition and survival (Escudero et al, 2015; FAO, 1990). Gypsum chemical composition (CaSO₄. 2H₂O) results in an alkaline soil solution with exceptionally high ionic concentrations of calcium and sulphate, oversaturating the cation-exchange complex and leading to remarkably low nutrient availability (Meyer et al, 1992). Thus, plants growing in gypsum soils have to cope with extremely high contents of Ca, S and Mg ions and extremely low concentrations of available P, N and K (Moore et al, 2014). However, some plant species have adapted to the harsh condition of gypsum soils, which host a diverse flora rich in edaphic endemics, frequently named gypsophiles (Mota et al, 2003).

It is known that the gypsophile *Ononis tridentata* tends to accumulate S and Ca in the leaves as a strategy to uptake nutrients from gypsum soil while avoiding the toxicity derived from the high contents of these elements in the soil (Cera et al, 2021a). Root nutrient uptake is coupled with the uptake or release of protons, and therefore is commonly associated with root-induced changes in rhizosphere pH (Neumann& Römheld, 2012). The spatial extent of these pH changes into the rhizosphere strongly depends on the buffering capacity of the soil. Rhizosphere pH changes affect nutrient solubilisation in soils and nutrient uptake, so that, generally, cation uptake decreases with declining pH whereas anion uptake is inhibited when pH increases (Neumann & Romheld, 2012). Soil nutrients are not equally available for plants across the pH spectrum, and the optimal availability for most of them has been reported to be in a slightly acidic pH (Lauchli & Grattan, 2012). Therefore, rhizosphere acidification is necessary for nutrient solubilisation and uptake from this alkaline gypsum soil, however, it has never been observed *in situ*.

The formation of mycorrhizal symbiosis is considered to be one of the most successful and widespread strategies to maximize the access of plant roots to available P, playing an important role in nutrient uptake efficiency (Smith and Read, 2008). Several studies have shown that plants living on gypsum soils rely on mycorrhizal fungi to acquire the scarce P available in the soil (Palacio et al, 2012; Cera et al, 2021b). Mycorrhiza is also known for alleviating different plant stresses (Smith et al, 2010) and so, this fungi-root symbiosis has been suggested as an important factor for plant edaphic adaptation in stressful habitats (Schechter and Bruns, 2008). Rhizosphere

pH has been speculated to be decreased by the activity of mycorrhiza, as an indirect effect of mychorrizal facilitation of the P availability in the root (Rigou et al, 1995) or by external measures of the pH in agar with different ectomycorrhizal cultivation (Arvieu et al, 2003), but there is no direct evidence of a quantitative change in pH in the rhizosphere due to mycorrhizal infection. Several studies have assessed the diversity of AM fungi in gypsum plant communities (Alguacil et al, 2009; Menendez-Serra et al, 2018). Other works evaluated the differences in AM colonization between gypsum-tolerant and gypsum-exclusive plant species (Palacio et al, 2012), as well as the variability of colonization among seasons (Cera et al, 2021b). However, comparative studies aimed to elucidate the role of fungi in the interaction between plants and gypsum soils are lacking.

Besides AM fungi, previous studies indicate that gypsophiles may use alternative mechanisms (such as root exudation) to achieve an efficient nutrient uptake, whereas gypsum-tolerant plant species are more dependent on mycorrhizal fungi (Palacio et al, 2011; Cera et al., 2021b). The production of root exudates to mobilize unavailable nutrients is a well-known mechanism to enhance nutrient acquisition in nutrient-limited soils (Marschner, 1995; Lambers et al, 2008). However, there are no studies analysing root exudation in gypsophiles. Major fractions of Low-Molecular-Weight (LMW) compounds are permanently lost from root cells by diffusion. They include sugars, organic acid anions, amino acids and various phenolics that may contribute to nutrient cycling as C and N sources for rhizosphere microorganisms (Jones et al., 2005). In addition, LMW compounds such as organic acids have also been proposed to be released as a controlled excretion by roots in response to different stresses, such as a shortage of oxygen (Xia and Roberts, 1994), Al-toxicity in acid soils (Kochian et al., 2004) or P deficiency, to mobilize P in the soil (Neumann and Römheld, 2000). Thus, in a soil where fungi are scarce, root exudation should be the key agent in charge of nutrients uptake and mobilization by soil acidification (Yan et al., 2002). However, research on pH changes and root exudation under different scenarios of microorganism presence are needed to better understand the role of root activity in the adaptation of plants to nutrient-poor soils like gypsum. Such studies cannot take place directly in the field. However, rhizoboxes coupled with optode technology to track dynamic and spatial pH changes offer a unique opportunity to gain new knowledge on the effect of fungi on rhizosphere soil pH.

The aim of this study was to analyse the plant-soil interaction of a gypsophile plant cultivated in natural and a fungi-sterile gypsum soil with a special focus on processes at the rhizosphere level. We intended to determine the importance of soil fungi and the role of root exudation in the acidification of the rhizosphere of *Ononis tridentata* seedlings growing in alkaline gypsum soils with contrasting fungal presence. We hypothesized (1) that the presence of fungi in the soil will promote rhizosphere acidification, reaching lower pH in natural than in fungi-sterile soils. We also hypothesized (2) that root exudation will be promoted in the fungi-sterile soil treatment, as a response to a higher nutrient stress.

MATERIALS & METHODS

Experimental conditions

Ononis tridentata is a perennial gypsophile shrub widespread in gypsum soils across Spain and reaching Northern Africa (Mota *et al.*, 2011). Seeds from *O.tridentata* were collected from mixed adult individuals from a natural population growing in Villamayor (41°41'48.3"N 0°44'34.7"W, Zaragoza Province, Aragón, Spain). The soil for the experiment was collected in the same area from the top 0.5-1m of the soil, removing the top litter and biological crust layer, and then, homogenized and cultivated in the Pyrenean Institute of Ecology (IPE-CSCIC), Jaca (Huesca province, Aragón, Spain).

To understand the influence of fungi on the rhizosphere pH and the root exudation profile of *O*. *tridentata*, plants were grown in either natural soil or in fungi-sterile soil. Sterile soil was obtained after gamma irradiation (25 kGy) with a ⁶⁰Co source (Aragogamma, Granollers, Spain), and afterwards the sterilized soil was inoculated with a bacterial filtrate from the natural soil in order to add the bacterial community present in it. This bacterial inoculum was obtained by stirring natural soil in sterile distilled water in a proportion of 1/10 (weight/volume) for 5 minutes, and then passing the suspension sequentially through filter paper and a 9 μ m ø filter to eliminate soil particles and fungal spores and propagules (Doubková et. al, 2011; Chaudhary *et al*, 2020), but not bacteria. Each fungi-sterile pot was inoculated with 50 mL of this bacterial inoculum.

We cultivated *O. tridentata* plants in rhizoboxes (i.e. plastic containers of 220 x 170 x 15 mm with a transparent plexiglass window that enabled root observation, see Figure 1A) and filled them with 561 ml of either natural soil or fungi-free soil. Five rhizoboxes per soil treatment were used.

Before cultivation, seeds were carefully scarified using a sandpaper, rehydrated with distilled water for 24 hours, and germinated in petri dishes humidified with distilled water. Afterwards, three germinated seeds of *O. tridentata* were planted in each rhizobox. Altogether there were 15 plants sown per treatment (natural and sterilized soil), although only one seedling per rhizobox was finally included in the soil pH measurements (the most vigorous one), amounting five replicates per treatment. During cultivation, the transparent windows of the rhizoboxes were covered with dark acetate sheets to prevent light from reaching the roots. Rhizoboxes were kept at a ~ 45° angle to ensure root growth towards the window (see Figure1B) and had several holes in

its bottom to drain excess water. Plants were watered with distilled water every 12 hour for 1 minute, maintaining soil humidity at field capacity. However, due the low water retention of gypsum soils (Herrero and Porta, 2000), and to guarantee the constant humidity of the VisiSens sensor foils (see pH visualization), rhizoboxes were placed in a plastic tray that retained the excess irrigation water, which could be absorbed to keep the field capacity in the soil. Plants were grown in a room under natural non-direct sunlight and supplementary 12h artificial illumination (full spectrum LED light, 380nm-800nm). They were harvested after 22 days of cultivation.

pH visualization

Changes in rhizosphere pH were monitored by obtaining pictures of optodes placed at the root tip of selected seedlings and the resulting images were edited with the VisiSens TD® software (PreSens GmbH). VisiSens is a 2D pH mapping device with PC data acquisition and evaluation. Six days after cultivation, VisiSens sensor foils of 2 cm² were installed between the transparent plexiglas of the rhizobox and the soil, covering the root tip in the healthier seedling of each rhizobox (see Figure 1C). After that, images were taken daily at 1 p.m. during a period of 14 days, to ensure the roots have grown and passed behind the sensor foil. The pictures were taken in a small dark chamber where the only light source came from the VisiSens TD camera. The camera was re-fixed for each image taken, placed in contact with the plexiglass, as near as possible of the sensor foil and focusing it whole (see graphic scheme in Figure 1D and Figure 1E). Images were edited by IDL evaluation pH software (VisiSensTM Analytical 2 Software) using previous calibration data of the sensor foils. Maximum, minimum and average pH were noted for each rhizobox, during the monitoring period (Figure 1F).

Plant harvest and analysis of root exudates

After 14 days of pH measures, the transparent methacrylate (Plexiglas) of the rhizobox was carefully removed to access the roots. The aboveground plant part was separated from the root part. The roots were cleaned with a brush to remove rhizosphere soil. All the root tips of the rhizoboxes were fresh-weighted in a precision scale (42 g / 0.00001 g, MS105DU, Mettler Toledo, Columbus-OH, USA) and, as quickly as possible, placed in a small vial with 1 mL of a 0.01% formic acid solution (obtained by adding 10 µL of 98% purity Formic acid to 100 mL Mili-Q water, the resulting solution had a pH of 3.06). Fine roots were then shaken for 10 minutes at

medium speed in an automated agitator (Rotabit, JPselecta). Exudates were then filtered through a 0.22 μ m of 13 mm ø cellulose acetate filter (CA Syringe Filter 1mL, Filter-Lab. REF: JS1) and kept at -80 °C. The rest of the root was weighted fresh and dried in an oven at 50 °C for a minimum of three days, then weighted in a precision scale (42 g / 0.00001 g, MS105DU, Mettler Toledo, Columbus-OH, USA) to obtain the dry weight of roots.

Exudates were analysed at the metabolomics service/lab (CEBAS-CSIC) with a ultra-highperformance liquid chromatography system with a triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (UPLC-QToF-MS). Organic acids are the most common exudates, so organic standards were used and results are provided as μ g/mL (ppm). Contrastingly, alcohols were analysed without standards, as the study focused on organic acids. Consequently, results for alcohol measurements are reported as a ratio of concentration, comparing each data with the highest value detected and for comparative purposes among treatments only.

PLFAs analyses

To characterize soil microbial communities and to detect shifts in the main functional groups of microbes, we used phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) profiling. Aliquots of 2 g of lyophilized bulk soils were used for lipid extraction. Lipids were extracted with a one-phase chloroform-methanol-phosphate buffer solvent. Phospholipids were separated from non-polar lipids and converted to fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) before analysis, following the methodology described by Buyer and Sasser (2012). The resulting FAMEs were separated by gas chromatography using an Agilent 7890A GC System (Agilent Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA) equipped with a 25-m Ultra 2 (5%-phenyl)-methylpolysiloxane column (J&W Scientific, Folsom, CA, USA) and a flame-ionization detector. The identification and quantification of FAMES was carried out using the PLFAD1 method of Sherlock software version 6.3 from MIDI, Inc (Newark, DE, USA). The internal standard 19:0 phosphatidylcholine (Avanti Polar Lipids, Alabaster, AL, USA) was used for the quantification of the FAMEs. Microbial biomass was estimated by summing the contents of all individual PLFAs and reported as nanomoles of PLFAs per gram of soil.

Specific PLFAs were used as biomarkers to quantify the biomass of broad taxonomic microbial groups, according to their characteristic fatty acids: eukaryote, Gram negative and Gram positive bacteria (hereafter G- and G +, respectively), saprophytic fungi and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) (Frostegard and Baath, 1996). The ratio between cyclopropyl fatty acids and their

monoenoic precursors $[(cy17:0 + cy19:0) / (16:1\omega7 + 18:1\omega7);$ hereafter GN cy/pre] were calculated as proxies for physiological or nutritional stress in the bacterial communities (Frostegård *et al.* 2011; Willers *et al.* 2015).

Statistical analyses

The plotted pH data were filtered to select only the replicates where the root passage was clearly observed through the optode in PreSens VisiSens software.

All statistical analyses but the PCA for PLFAs (see below) were carried out using *R* version 4.0.0 (R Core Team, 2020). Graphs were created with ggplot2 package 3.3.1 (Wickham, 2016).

Statistical differences in pH among treatments were calculated with Kruskal Wallis test (Hollander & Wolfe, 1973) as data were not parametric and Shapiro Test indicated they were not normally distributed. The same procedure was used to analyse differences in the quantified exudates detected, creating an individual data set for each compound.

Relative abundance percentages of individual fatty acids were arcsine-transformed for normality before statistical analyses. A PCA was performed to represent and analyse the differences in soil microbial community composition (PLFAs) between experimental treatments. Then, we selected the parameters of the relative abundance of Saprophytic and Arbuscular Fungi, Gram Positive, Gram Negative and Actinobacteria; and the ratios Gram+/Gram- and G- cy/pre to project on the PCA plot to a facilitate visualization of the differences on the microbial composition on the soil of the different treatments. PCA analysis was run with CANOCO software (Braak & Smilauer, 2002). The comparison between fungi-sterile soils and natural soils for the selected parameters related to fungi and bacterial composition or to microbiota stress were individually analysed by a one-way ANOVA test (Welch, 1951) or a Kruskal Wallis test (Hollander & Wolfe, 1973) when data were not parametric. Normality of the data was double checked by Shapiro Test (Royston, 1995) and by checking the residuals of the *lm* model (Chambers, 1992) with the DHARMa package (Hartig, 2020).

RESULTS

Effects of experimental conditions on soil microbial communities

We observed a clear segregation of the treatments according to the presence and relative abundance of PLFAs in soil (Figure 2), which indicates the existence of distinct microbial communities. Although we detected fungal presence in both treatments, the relative abundance of saprophytic fungi and AM fungi was, however, significantly lower in the "fungi-sterile" treatment (p = 0.016and p = 0.012, respectively; Table 1). Therefore, our methodology worked in terms of reducing the presence of fungi, so for simplicity we will keep referring to natural and fungi-sterile treatments although we acknowledge that there was some fungal presence in the fungi-sterile treatment. Moreover, there was a higher relative abundance of Gram-negative bacteria (p < 0.001) and, consequently, a lower ratio Gram+/Gram- in the fungi-sterile soils (p < 0.001). On the other hand, the microbiota living in the fungi-sterile soil showed higher ratio of GN cy/pre (p= 0.047), indicating that it was suffering higher nutritional stress than that in the natural soil (White *et al.* 1996; McKinley *et al.* 2005)

Rhizosphere pH acidification

Ononis tridentata seedlings developed a single apical radicle, whose position and morphology coincided with the images revealed by the VisiSens software. We observed an acidification in the rhizosphere for both treatments, with a pH decline of 2.4 units on average in natural replicates and 2.1 units in fungi-sterile replicates (Supplementary Table 1), calculated from the values of the mean of the pH maximum and pH minimum within the replicates. Figure 3 shows a darker blue area corresponding with the root tip, and how the intensity of this coloured signal descended as the root passed by the sensor over the days. The lowest minimum pH was reached in the rhizosphere of the seedlings growing in the natural soil, significantly lower than the minimum pH reached in the rhizosphere of seedlings growing in the fungi-sterile soil (p = 0.014; Figure 4), indicating a greater acidification surface across the roots of plants grown with decreased fungal presence. The picture of the acidified rhizosphere was more intense and defined in the roots of the natural treatment, contrasting with the less intense but more widespread acidification in the fungi-sterile rile roots of the natural treatment, contrasting with the less intense but more widespread acidification in the fungi-sterile rile roots of the natural treatment.

Differences in exudation patterns

The UPLC analysis detected several organic acids (citric, malic, succinic, lactic, malonic and fumaric) as root exudates in both treatments, accounting for significantly higher quantities of malonic acid in the fungi-sterile treatment (p = 0.036). The isocitric acid was detected only in the fungi-sterile treatment, contrary to the natural treatment, whose seedlings did not exudate this compound. Conversely, lactic acid was significantly higher in the exudation profile of the seedlings growing in the natural treatment (p = 0.016). Some polyols were also detected in both treatments (myo-Inositol, galactinol, xylitol and sorbitol-mannitol), but only one of them presented significant differences in its abundance proportion: sorbitol-mannitol was significantly higher in the fungi-sterile treatment (p = 0.021; Table 2, Figure 5). In general, as we expected, we found a greater proportion of root exudation in the fungi-sterile soil replicates, except for lactic acid, an organic acid related to microbial activity (Juturu & Wu, 2015).

DISCUSSION

Effects of experimental conditions on soil microbial communities

The lower G+/G- ratio found in the gamma irradiated soil might be a consequence of some Gbacteria being r-strategists that, after the inoculation of the sterilized soil, may have surpassed in growth rate Gram+ bacteria under the elevated labile organic C conditions induced by radiation (McNamara et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2016). Moreover, gamma-irradiation of soil is known to increase the pool of available inorganic nitrogen (Lensi et al., 1991; McNamara et al., 2003), which can stimulate the processes of nitrification and denitrification, both of them mostly conducted by Gram - bacteria (Hayatsu et al., 2008). Although increased relative abundance of Gram- bacteria after soil gamma-irradiation has been also reported in other researches (Yim et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016), it is far from being a general fact (Ogwu et al., 2019).

Plants from natural gypsum soil reached lower rhizosphere pH than those from fungi-sterile soil but the root acidification area was smaller

The key findings in our research were that (1) natural gypsum soils reached lower pH in the rhizosphere, showing a steeper rhizosphere gradient of pH but (2) fungi-sterile soils acidified a greater area in the soil, showing a larger extent of the rhizosphere. There is no previous literature about pH changes in such alkaline soils, especially in wild plant species. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time an acidification of more than 2 pH units is shown in situ in a rhizosphere of a species not used for cropping purposes. The maximum pH observed in the soil (pH~9.4, see Figure 2 and Supplementary Figure S1) could be due to the natural intrusions of calcium carbonate in the gypsum soil, which increases significantly the soil pH and reduces the Ca^{2+} activity (FAO, 1990). Given this high soil pH, plants might have needed to acidify the soil to favour nutrient solubilisation and uptake. O. tridentata seedlings growing in natural soil seemed to be helped by its microbiota, which promoted a greater soil acidification by the release of H^+ protons to the rhizosphere (Zhu et al, 2023). In this way, a steeper rhizosphere acidification could be indicating a greater P and N availability in the soil (Ma et al, 2021; Cakmak & Marschner, 1990). Rhizosphere acidification may be also indicating the uptake of calcium and magnesium cations, which is balanced by a net release of protons (Neumann & Röhmheld, 2012). These cations can be found in excess in the gypsum soil (Cashby-Horton et al, 2015), and are extensively accumulated in O. tridentata leaves (Cera et al., 2021a).

The fact that in plants grown in fungi-sterile the rhizosphere soil was broader could be due to the different pH buffering capacity of the soil. Altered microbial composition could reduce the presence of secondary minerals that contribute to the pH buffering capacity (Bilyera et al, 2022). In addition, rhizosphere acidification under P-limiting conditions has often been associated with the release of organic acids, which were detected in both treatments. However, the rapid microbial decomposition of root exudates (Jones et al., 2005) could be affecting the natural replicates, but not the fungi-sterile rhizosphere, where exudates could be increasing the space and time residence in the soil (Boudot, 1992). Another possibility to explain this extended acidification could be due to an increased growth of the root of nutrient-deprived plants cultivated in the fungi sterile treatment to promote soil foraging (de la Fuente et al., 2020) or the extension of its bacterial microbiota due to the lack of fungi that also contributes to the acidification of the soil.

The release of root exudates differed between soil treatments

Until now, most studies investigating root exudation have focused on agricultural plants (Henry et al., 2008) but see Williams et al. (2020 and 2022). However, the exudation profiles in different ecosystems may significantly differ and play important roles in shaping the microbial community (Baudoin et al, 2003; Ma et al, 2021). It is difficult to find direct evidence of the influence of a certain root exudate on soil microbial communities, because of the complexity of the rhizosphere environment and the difficulty in studying belowground processes (Biedrzycki & Bais, 2009). Our work revealed the differences in the release of exudates at the rhizosphere of *O. tridentata* in plants interacting with contrasting microbial communities. These results have important implications for the understanding of the plant-soil interactions mediating plant nutrition and survival in alkaline nutrient poor soils like gypsum.

The main contribution of this work about root exudation was that plants growing with a reduced fungal population in the soil, exuded, in general, greater quantities of several compounds, thus seeming to compensate for the lack of the fungal interaction on making nutrient available. Fungisterile replicates exuded higher quantities of different organic acids and a polyol, likely as a consequence of their nutrient deficiency due to a reduced fungal and bacterial activity in the soil. In low nutrient environments, root exudation could be employed as symbiotic signals to soil microbes involved in nutrients procurement (Dakora & Phillips, 2002). Moreover, our study showed that this species of plant adapted to such high pH soils is able to reduce the pH very significantly and, thus, facilitate nutrition processes through the exudation of different organic acids. Isocitric acid and malonic acid were found in greater quantities in the fungi-sterile rhizosphere. These compounds are in the class of aliphatic acids, whose function as root exudates includes growth regulation (Oliveros-Bastidas et al, 2009) and have been reported as major compounds influencing the dissolution of minerals (Sokolova, 2019), thus contributing to *O. tridentata* nutrition.

We detected additional compounds in fungi-sterile replicates: the sugar alcohols sorbitol-mannitol. These compounds are also involved in the improvement of soil nutrient environment and soil nutrient cycling and, as such, they are beginning to be used as fertilisers in agriculture (Yu et al, 2014; Ichimura et al, 2016). Additionally, they have an important role in shaping and increasing different rhizosphere microbial communities (Yu et al, 2023).

Conversely, the exudation of lactic acid was significantly higher in *O. tridentata* replicates growing on natural soils, with an unaltered microbial composition. This compound has been reported to be a product of several bacteria associated to roots and is known by its beneficial effects on crops (Minervini et al, 2015). Significant increases in the abundance and diversity of soil bacteria communities have been reported after the artificial addition of lactic acid (Hengjing et al, 2011). In addition, this compound has also been reported to be exuded by plants in the rhizosphere to detoxify its high concentration in cells under oxygen deprivation caused by high soil moisture(Badri & Vivanco, 2009 and cites therein). Other studies showed a biocontrol function of lactic acid in tomato plants (Wang et al, 2019), or a detoxification function in response to copper or cadmium toxicity (Lyubenova et al, 2013; Chiang et al, 2006 respectively).

Combining planar optodes with root exudation and a treatment of partial soil sterilization in a gypsum soil helped understand *Ononis tridentata* rhizosphere behaviour. However, the high soil humidity requirements of the pH sensor restricted our observations of root activity to well-watered conditions. This situation in gypsum ecosystems would take place in the most favourable moment of the year, when gypsum plants tend to grow and maximize their demand for N and P (Cera et al., 2021b).

It is also important to mention a potential consequence of the root exudation shown by plants living on gypsum, related to the use of gypsum crystallization water. Gypsum (CaSO₄·2H₂O) contains two water molecules in its crystalline structure, and several authors (Palacio et al., 2014; de la Puente et al., 2021; Huang et al., 2020) have reported the use of this water as the main water source by plants or other microorganisms growing on gypsum during drought. The mechanism to obtain this water proposed by Huang et al. (2020) for cyanobacteria consists on gypsum dissolution by the acidification caused by the exudation of organic acids. However, the mechanisms displayed by plants to acquire gypsum crystallization water remain unknown. Our results show the ability to exude different organic acids by plants living on gypsum, which may affect the release of gypsum crystallization water. Similarly, the release of low molecular weight alcohols may also alter the thermodynamic conditions of calcium sulphate phases, modifying its hydration (Van Driessche et al, 2017; Tritschler et al, 2015). Although adult O. tridentata plants have been reported to rely mainly on deep water and not gypsum crystalline water (Palacio et al, 2014; de la Puente et al, 2021), the changes in rhizosphere pH observed in this study correspond to seedlings, whose access to gypsum crystalline water may be crucial for their survival at early stages. Preliminary results on root acidification similar to those observed in O. tridentata on other gypsum endemics plants with shallow root systems previously reported to rely on gypsum crystalline water, like Helianthemum squamatum or Helianthemum syriacum (Palacio et al, 2014; de la Puente et al, 2021) (see preliminary data in Supplementary Material Fig.S2), further support the potential role of root exudation in gypsum plants as a mechanism to obtain gypsum crystalline water.

CONCLUSIONS

For the first time, we visualized *in situ* rhizosphere acidification in wild plants growing in alkaline gypsum soils. According to our results, rhizosphere acidification seems to be a necessary process to grow on gypsum. We conclude that soil fungi participates in the rhizosphere acidification, as we observed a steeper pH decline in natural-soil replicates. However, the roots of *O. tridentata* also contributed directly to this acidification, through the exudation of different organic aliphatic acids and sugar-alcohols. This indicates that *O. tridentata* is not fully dependent on microbiota for nutrient acquisition, although it is facilitated by their presence, and has ways to compensate for the missing symbionts. We further conclude that root exudation is a determining factor for plant adaptation to atypical gypsum soils that could mediate plant nutrition and access to gypsum crystalline water.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS AND FUDNDING

We thank J. Revilla for help with the rhizoboxes design, M. Perez-Serrano for assistance during harvesting, Gregor Liebsch for the support with Visisens[™] Scientifical Software management and A. Cera and V. Temperton for useful comments on the results of the manuscript.

This work was supported by the Spanish Government [MICINN, CGL2015-71360-P and PID2019-111159GB-C31], and by European Union's Horizon 2020 [H2020-MSCA-RISE-777803 GYPWORLD]. LP was funded by fellowship FSE-Aragón 2014-2020 by Gobierno de Aragón, Spain; JPF was supported by Reference Group H09_20R (Gobierno de Aragón, Spain) and SP was supported by a Ramón y Cajal Fellowship [MICINN, RYC-2013-14164].

TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 1. Significance of the differences (p<0.05) between fungi-sterile and natural soils in different phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA) related to fungal and bacterial composition or to microbiota stress, based on one-way ANOVA or Kruskal Wallis test when data were not normally distributed. Significant *p*-values are in bold.

	F	Kruskal-Wallis	p-value
		chi-squared	
% Total Fungi	8.60		0.033
% Saprophyte Fungi		5.77	0.016
% AM Fungi	12.14		0.012
Fungi/Bacteria	9.26		0.026
Total Bacteria	5.38		0.049
Gram+/Gram-	60.17		<0.001
GN cy/pre	6.46		0.047
Gram -	46.64		<0.001
Gram +	20.68		0.003
Actinobacteria	100.39		<0.001

	F	Kruskal-Wallis	p-value
		chi square	
Citric		0.54	0.459
Isocitric		5.54	0.019
Malic		0.10	0.754
Succinic	0.23		0.645
Lactic		5.77	0.016
Malonic	7.45		0.036
fumaric		1.33	0.249
Myo_Inositol		0.27	0.602
Galactinol	4.18		0.093
Xilitol	4.26		0.074
Sorbitol-Manitol	8.25		0.021
Choline	3.91		0.093

Table 2. Significance of the differences (p<0.05) between fungi-sterile and natural soils in root exudates, based on one-way ANOVA or Kruskal Wallis test when data were not normally distributed. Significant *p*-values are in bold.



Figure 1. Methods. A. Picture of one of the rhizoboxes where seedlings were grown. **B.** rhizoboxes positioned *ca*. 45° to force the roots to be visible through the transparent plexiglass. **C.** Picture of the area where the sensor foil was installed, taken after the pH measures. **D.** Image acquired with the VisiSens PreSens camera before its edition with the calibrated pH. **E.** Graphic scheme of the procedure to take pictures. The software in the computer was connected to the camera, which was placed as close as possible to the sensor in contact with the transparent window. Pictures were taken with the camera light source. **F.** Example of the final image given by the software, indicating the maximum, minimum and mean pH of all the pixels corresponding to the sensor.



Figure 2. Biplot of the results of a PCA performed on the matrix of relative abundance of all PLFAs detected in soil samples. Arrows represent variables passively projected into the PCA diagram but not included in the calculation (accessory variables): relative abundance of Gram negative bacteria (Gram N), Gram positive bacteria (Gram P), Actinobacteria (Actinobacteria), saprophytic fungi (Fungi), mycorrizal fungi (AM Fungi), cyclopropyl fatty acids to monoenoic precursors ratio (GN cy/pre) and the ratio of the relative abundance of Gram Positive and Gram Negative Bacteria. Values on the axes indicate percentages of total variation explained by each axis. Green points stand for the scores of the five replicates of natural soil treatments and red points for the five replicates of fungi-sterile treatment.



Figure 3. IDL evaluation images of growing roots taken with VisiSens PreSens. Sequential images show the movement of the acidification front due to the root tip passing through the sensor. **A**. Sequential images of one replicate of *Ononis Tridentata* ("rep1 natural") seedling root growing in natural gypsum soil in different days (day 1, 4 and 9). **B**. Sequential images of one replicate of *Ononis Tridentata* ("rep 2 sterile") seedling root growing in the fungi-sterile gypsum soil in different days (day 1, 3 and 9).



Figure 4. Boxplot of minimum and mean pH observed in the sensor foils placed in the roots of the growing seedlings of *Ononis tridentata*, compared per soil treatment: green boxes for the natural treatment, red boxed for the fungi-sterile treatment. *P-values* of Kruskal Wallis tests show the significance of the differences between treatments.



Figure 5. Bar plots showing the mean and SD of the exudates analysed in Ononis tridentata roots growing in natural gypsum soil (green bars) and in fungi-sterile gypsum soil (red bars). Organic acids were calculated as mg of the compound exuded by g of root (A), whereas the other exudates that belong to the polyols family or amine (such as choline) were calculated as ratio of detection, but not as exact concentration (B). The asterisk (*) indicate significant differences in each exudate between treatments (see also Table 2)

General Discussion

This thesis brought new knowledge about the ecology and physiology of plants living on gypsum soils. We contributed with novel information on the use of water in different gypsum plant communities, including plants growing in remote areas of Iran, and characterized the integrated ecophysiological response to drought by a gypsum specialist species, at the whole-plant level. Additionally, we showed, for the first time, evidence of the relevance of soil fungi on important rhizosphere processes that mediate plant life on gypsum.

The inherent aridity of gypsum ecosystems, and thus, the variability and seasonal water scarcity, is an important factor that shapes these diverse communities and conditions the water partitioning between neighbour species growing on gypsum soils. The results presented in this Thesis showed a clear eco-hydrological niche segregation, most pronounced during the drought season, in both gypsum ecosystems studied. Contrary to our hypothesis, the factors underlying species segregation in hydrological niches were not related to plant gypsum affinity (Chapter 1, 2) nor their photosynthetic pathway (Chapter 2). Contrastingly, rooting depth (in Chapter 1) seemed to be a key determinant factor explaining differences in the main water sources used by plants during seasonal shifts in water availability.

The most relevant contribution of Chapter 1 was the identification of gypsum crystallization water as the main water source used by almost all shallow-rooted species from a gypsum plant community in NE Spain during summer. This is a remarkable contribution that rules out the possibility of gypsum crystallization water being only available to gypsophile species. Deeprooted species used deep water stored in the soil in summer; however, all the species in spring used the water available in the shallow soil. These findings have important implications for gypsum plant community structuring and maintenance, as evidenced by the hydrological niche segregation of plants. Chapter 2 did not show the use of crystallization water by any of the plant species analysed, but evidenced differences on the depth of the water used by species coexisting in remote drylands of Iran. This Chapter revealed three main strategies of water sources use among the studied plants: a permanent use of deep water throughout the year, a change from shallow soil water in spring to deeper soil water in summer and a principal use of the shallow soil water in both seasons. Although limited in its methodological approach for logistic reasons, the study in Chapter 2 provides novel information on an understudied ecosystem, with a heterogeneous soil chemical composition including gypsum, and shows new information on the biology of five xerophytic shrubs that dominate the vegetation in the poorly studied Aladaghlar hill area (Iran-Turkey).

After verifying the widespread use of gypsum crystallization water during drought by shallowrooted plants in gypsum plant communities (Chapter 1), we aimed to experimentally demonstrate its use and analyse whole-plant physiological adaptations to survive drought stress on gypsum. To that end, in Chapter 3 we performed an integrated analysis of the short-term responses to experimental drought of *H. squamatum* plants grown in natural gypsum soil and labelled gypsum soil. Unfortunately, our approach did not allow verifying the use of gypsum crystalline water by plants experimentally (see further comments below). Contrary to former findings, we observed a water-saving strategy in *H. squamatum*, reducing stomatal conductance and transpiration rate, and exuding choline by roots, an important osmo-protector molecule to face drought. This new strategy observed in our potted *H. squamatum* plants was associated to the sole use of the scarce free water contained in the pot soil, as no use of gypsum crystallization water was detected in the experiment. Contrary to the plant responses, soil microbiota composition in the pots did not vary or display signs of stress during drought, showing a good adaptation to soil desiccation.

After evaluating the above and belowground responses of gypsophiles under drought, we deepened our analysis into belowground processes in gypsum plants, specifically, into processes at the rhizosphere of the gypsophile *O. tridentata*. In Chapter 4 we showed how root growth in alkaline gypsum soils led to a remarkable acidification of the rhizosphere. This acidification was strongly affected by soil fungi. As we hypothesized, fungal presence in the soil led to a steeper acidification of the rhizosphere compared to plants grown in fungi-sterile soil. Our study also demonstrated the ability of gypsum plants to exude different organic acids and sugar alcohols (Chapter 3, 4), and showed how soil fungi can affect root exudation, with potential effects on soil pH, plant nutrition, gypsum crystalline water use and plant-fungal interactions.

In what follows, we explain each of the main findings of these PhD Thesis in more detail.

Eco-hydrological niche segregation revealed different seasonal water uptake strategies among species coexisting in gypsum soils

Previous studies comparing the isotopic composition of xylem water, groundwater and soil water, showed that the uptake of certain water sources by roots depends on different factors such as tree size (Dawson, 1996) or vegetation rooting patterns (Rossatto *et al.*, 2014; White *et al.*, 1985; Ehleringer & Dawson, 1992). This Thesis confirmed the predicted hydrological niche segregation in the two habitats studied, contributing to answer the question about how general this process is in natural plant communities (Silvertown *et al.*, 2015). The observed pattern is in accordance with previous works done in arid or semiarid ecosystems: the partitioning of water sources depends on the variation of water distribution along horizontal and vertical gradients in the soil, and over time (Terradas *et al.*, 2009). To identify water distribution patterns, we carefully characterised all potential sources of water available for plants considering variation in space, i.e. soil depths and its spatial replicates, and time, i.e. the wet and dry season (White & Smith, 2015; Sprenger *et al.*, 2016). Thus, unlike classical approaches to niche segregation in coexisting plants, which considered temporal fluctuations of limited relevance (Araya *et al.*, 2010), we measured water sources for plants in different seasons, as severe seasonal fluctuations in water an nutrients availability occur in arid and semiarid ecosystems (Austin *et al.*, 2004).

The plant community studied in the gypsum hill in NE Spain (Chapter 1) showed that all species were mainly using the shallower soil water in the wet season, whereas there was a shift of the water sources used during water scarcity that could be explained according to the species rooting depth. Gypsum crystallization water was the main water source for most shallow-rooted species, whereas soil water from 50-100 m depth was the main water source for deep-rooted species. These results showed, for deep-rooted plants, that root water uptake is governed by the availability of water, and is also conditioned by plant rooting depth. We showed that most of the shallow-rooted plants use gypsum crystallization water during drought. The pattern observed in deep-rooted species is in accordance with Ryel *et al.* (2010), who concluded that dryland plants rapidly develop roots to use the soil moisture in the shallow soil, in order to maximize nutrient capture during the growth period, but exploit the deeper vadose zone to maintain transpiration and survive drought. Thus, not only water availability, but also nutrients, could be behind the importance of the rooting depth on the water uptake patterns observed in plants. All the plants in our study relied in the fertile topsoil

("growth pool") (Ryel et al., 2010) during the wet season. However, during the dry season, plants shifted to the utilization of water from deeper, wetter, but less fertile subsoil layers ("maintenance pool") (Barbeta et al., 2015) or to the utilization of crystallization water, a water source still to explore in terms of nutrients. We should emphasize that the main water source in summer for deeprooted species was the water from 50-100 cm depth (i.e "rock moisture", Rempe and Dietrich, 2018), contrary to other studies, which identified groundwater as the main water source enabling the maintenance of activity during drought for deep-rooted species (Palacio et al., 2017; Koirala et al., 2016; Salvucci & Entekhabi, 1995; Fan et al., 2017). Rock moisture allows taking advantage of the oxygenated conditions compared to groundwater, and seems to be a crucial source in arid ecosystems (Dwivedi et al., 2019; Oshun et al., 2019; Rempe and Dietrich, 2018; Hahm et al., 2020). We suggest that the use of gypsum crystallization water needs to be considered as an alternative water source, at least to maintain transpiration during drought, even though the impact of its use on nutrient uptake is still unknown. In the Aladaghlar hill plant community studied (Chapter 2), several species were also able to change their water uptake pattern during the drought period. These results provide further evidence of nutrient availability being the main factor underlying root water uptake depth in the wet period but soil water availability being the main factor determining water uptake depth during the dry period, in agreement with previous works (Querejeta et al., 2021; Rose et al., 2003; Dai et al., 2015). The possibility to shift water sources from shallower to deeper soil water depending on soil moisture is due to the presence of dimorphic root systems in certain dryland plants (Dawson & Pate, 1996; Rempe & Dietrich, 2018). Contrastingly, some of the studied species, like Oreosalsola montana and Caroxylon gemmascens (Chapter 2) showed a constant main use of groundwater or superficial water, respectively, in spring and summer. These last strategies showed a dependency of water uptake on the rooting depth, independent of water or nutrient availability.

By unveiling the water uptake pattern of the five species in Aladaghlar hill (Chapter 2), we contributed to the description of the potential rooting depth and functioning of these poorly studied plant species. In addition, our study of water sources could serve as an indirect approximation to predict the impacts of global warming in the plant communities studied. Previous studies such as Berg *et al.*, (2017) conclude that the reduction of soil moisture will affect, above all, the soil surface and not the deeper soil layers. Thus, whenever possible, the vegetation will shift to the use of deeper soil layers to keep transpiration. However, as evidenced by our results, not all the species

will have the same plasticity to change water sources; and the species which may be able to change, may be affected by a reduction of nutrient availability (Querejeta *et al.*, 2021; Peñuelas *et al.*, 2018; Luo *et al.*, 2018). Further, plants will potentially decrease nutrient uptake and reduce water use efficiency, aboveground biomass growth and drought survival (Querejeta *et al.*, 2021). Considering these arguments, we could expect the less vulnerable species to global warming from the Aladaghlar hill (Chapter 2) would be *O. montana*, which used groundwater throughout the year. Moreover, in the gypsum plant community located in NE Spain (Chapter 1), the observed water up-lift by species with dimorphic root systems could help other species in the community to survive the increasing drought forecasted. Nevertheless, several studies show the increasing vulnerability of deep-rooted species in drylands, particularly in areas with overexplotation of deepwater reservoirs such as Doñana National Park (South West Spain) and in the Pampa del Tamarugal Basin (Northern Chile) (Serrano & Serrano, 1996; Chávez *et al.*, 2016).

The understanding of eco-hydrological niche segregation and its relation to water and nutrient availability in the soil is needed to promote the conservation of vegetation in habitats that face changing hydrology caused by human water use and climate change. Such information is needed to improve water use efficiency in vegetation management actions, which is one of the key issues for the sustainability of agricultural production, rural development and environmental protection (Pálfai, 2000; Somlyódy, 2000; Sutor & Gombos, 2006).

Gypsum crystallization water as the main water source during drought was observed only in the field

Our results of gypsum crystallization water use by plants during drought, shown in Chapter 1, are in accordance with previous studies. Palacio *et al* (2014) found evidence of the presence of gypsum crystallization water in the xylem sap of the gypsophile *H. squamatum*, and a transect study in Palacio *et al* (2017) revealed that the species using gypsum crystallization water were preferentially distributed on the slope of the gypsum hill, where the water table was far from the plants roots. The study done in Chapter 1 added new plant species to better characterize the community, and focused on the species distributed on the top of the hill, where groundwater was as far as possible. We confirmed the use gypsum crystallization water as the main water source in summer by almost all the shallow rooted plants analysed, contributing with the explanation of one of the plant strategies to survive drought in gypsum ecosystems. From these results, we strongly

recommend to incorporate this potential water source in water balance studies dealing with ecosystems developed on gypsum soils, which reach a big surface in all continents (Eswaran and Gong, 1991).

Nevertheless, Chapter 2 showed contrasting results with regard to the use of gypsum crystallization water by plants; although we could appreciate a minimum contribution of gypsum crystallization water to the xylem sap of several of the studied species, none of them relied on this water as the main source, contrary to the findings from the study in NE Spain. This result could presumably be due to the heterogeneity of the soil at the study site, with an irregular gypsum content that ranged from 4 to 84% in a few centimetres, and gypsum being scattered in different soil horizons along the same slope. Thus, plant species living on these soils could have developed other strategies to survive drought different to rely on the potential scarce gypsum crystallization water contained in the soil.

Contrary to our hypothesis of the potential higher use of gypsum crystallization water by gypsophiles, in both case studies (NE Spain and SW Iran) we found that affinity for gypsum was not a significant factor to explain this water use. Therefore, the ability to use gypsum crystallization water does not seem to contribute to the specialization of plants to this atypical soil. The use of gypsum crystallization water does not differ between gypsophiles and gypsovags, but seemed to be a common strategy shared by most shallow-rooted species in pure gypsum soils, such as those in NE Spain.

Our physiological approach in Chapter 3 to prove the use of gypsum crystallization water experimentally did not arrive to a direct observation of the process. First, the labelling treatment changed important physical and chemical properties of the soil, resulting in a decrease in the soil microbial biomass, sandier soil texture which dried faster and whose gypsum thermodynamics were also altered (see Chapter 3). Thus, plants grown in the deuterium-labelled gypsum soil had lower biomass and were more stressed by the drought treatment, showing reduced photosynthetic rate and generally reduced leaf nutrient concentration. In addition, and contrary to our hypothesis, plants subjected to the labelling and drought treatment, did not show the use of gypsum crystallization water, i.e. the labelling was just detected in the crystalline water of the soil, but not in the xylem or the bulk biomass of plants. It could be argued that the changed soil characteristics

could be affecting the process of gypsum crystallization water use by plants. However, plants growing on natural gypsum soil subjected to the drought treatment in pots did not show the use of crystalline water as a strategy to survive experimental drought either. We can conclude that the short-term drought experiment developed in the potted *H. squamatum* plants did not favour the strategy of using gypsum crystallization water to survive, and plants were forced to decrease the use of free soil water by physiological adjustments. The lack of crystallization water use in our pot trial could be due to the artificial environment where plants grew compared to natural environments in the field (e.g. Chapter 1). Although care was taken to mimic natural conditions as much as possible, our experimental set up might have potentially altered water and nutrient availability, root foraging ability, soil temperature and microbial communities composition and performance (Lynch *et al*, 2012).

Despite these limitations, in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 we evidenced the ability of two gypsum specialists to exude different organic acids and sugar alcohols, which could potentially affect the release of gypsum crystallization water (Van Driessche *et al.*, 2017; Tritschler *et al.*, 2015). Similarly, Huang *et al* (2020) showed gypsum dissolution by organic acid exudation was the mechanism behind gypsum crystallization water use by Actinobacteria growing in gypsum rocks from the Atacama Desert.

Above and belowground physiological performance of two cultivated gypsophiles showed new specific strategies to cope with gypsum soil limitations

The physiological strategy to face drought of *H. squamatum* previously reported in works such as Querejeta *et al.*, (2021) or León-Sánchez *et al.*, (2018) involved a water-spender strategy with limited stomatal regulation. However, in our study, we showed for the first time, a short-term response of this species to drought that included a coordinated drought avoidance strategy decreasing stomatal conductance and transpiration; and releasing choline as root exudate. This molecule is an osmoprotector, reflecting a plant active response to avoid drought stress (Sakamoto & Murumata, 2021). The decrease in water use was associated with reduced nutrient uptake, leaf senescence and nutrient recycling, reflected in the generalised lower leaf nutrient content in the individuals subjected to drought, except for N and P content that could be recycled from the senescent leaves. These plant responses have been previously reported as indicators of drought stress in other works (Suriyagoda *et al.*, 2014; Hussain *et al.*, 2018; Munné-Bosch & Alegre, 2004).

Several differences in our methodological approach can explain the contrasting results obtained in relation to previous studies. Factors such as drought intensity, frequency, duration and different soil variables have a substantial impact on the overall effect and duration of drought-related symptoms in plants (Ali et al., 2022). Accordingly, our approach was developed in plants cultivated in pots from the seeds for 3-years and then subjected to a 24 day-long drought treatment, without any associated temperature change. Contrastingly, León-Sánchez et al. (2018) and Querejeta et al. (2021) did a manipulative field experiment assessing the effects of warming and rain reduction where plants were subjected to treatments for 4 and 6 years, respectively. Our shortterm drought treatment did not alter the relative abundance of soil fungi with respect to the natural treatment, whereas León-Sánchez et al. (2018) reported a significant reduction of the mycorrhizal fungi with the associated nitrogen and phosphorus leaf reduction. These elements were not shown to decrease in our short-term drought experiment, as *H. squamatum* was potentially recycling them from the senescent leaves or the unaltered microbiota was still favouring their absorption, even if the transpiration flow was reduced. This new reported response reflects the species plasticity to act as a water-spender or water-saver according to the type of drought it is facing. Additionally, the water-saver strategy observed could be a consequence of the inability to use gypsum crystallization water in potted plants, which could have also restricted transpiration flow.

Contrasting with the rapid response recorded in plant physiology, no changes were observed in the abundance or stress indicators of the soil microbiota according to PLFAs analyses, likely due to its tight adaptation to changes in soil moisture. This is an important remark for plant life on gypsum, as the resistant microbiota could play a key role on the acquisition of nutrients and water and the reduction of plant stress in the longer term (Marasco *et al.*, 2012; Zhang *et al.*, 2021). In fact, this PhD Thesis provided evidence of a strong impact of the soil microbiota, specifically soil fungi, on the rhizosphere chemical environment and the release of exudates by plants, both processes related to resource uptake by plants. In addition, non- reported results from the pot Trial showed that *H. squamatum* did not survive to become adult when cultivated on fungi-sterile soils (all individuals cultivated from seed on fungi-sterile soil died before reaching 2-years of life, N = 20). This could be an evidence of the strong dependence of *H. squamatum* on soil fungi to complete its life cycle. Indeed, this species is known to form symbiotic associations both with arbuscular and ectomycorrhizal fungi (Palacio *et al.*, 2012). These results agree with numerous studies highlighting the crucial role of soil fungi for plant nutrition and growth (Bridge& Spooner, 2001;

Behie, & Bidochka, 2014; Pennisi, 2004), which seem to be fundamental in nutrient poor soils like gypsum (Liang *et al.*, 2022; Van Der Hejiden *et al.*, 2008)

In Chapter 4 we showed that *O. tridentata* seedlings growing in natural soil showed a steeper acidification of the rhizosphere than individuals growing in fungi-sterile soil. Gypsum soils show neutral to alkaline pHs, sometimes reaching remarkably high pH of 9 due to calcareous intrusions (Poch *et al.*, 2018). Under these circumstances, rhizosphere acidification may be crucial for plant grow. The release of protons (H⁺) to the rhizosphere is promoted by soil fungi (Zhu *et al.*, 2023), which increases nutrient availability for plants (Ma *et al.*, 2021).

Another belowground response recorded in the gypsum specialists studied includes the release of different root exudates to the soil. Different organic acids such as Citric, Isocitric, Lactic, Fumaric, Maleic, Malic and Succinic; and different sugar alcohols such as Galactinol, Myo-Inositol, Sorbitol, Mannitol and Xylitol were released by the roots of studied species. These compounds could be acting as signals promoting symbiotic or mutualistic microorganisms related to nutrient and/or water acquisition (Dakora & Philips, 2022; Yu et al., 2023). Indeed, as reported in Chapter 4, they were increasingly released by fungi-deprived individuals. Additionally, root exudation could have a direct role in nutrient acquisition allowing O. tridentata seedlings to grow in soils with reduced fungal presence and to acidify the rhizosphere, even if the acidification does not reach the same degree of replicates growing in natural gypsum soil. Our results showed that O. tridentata is not fully dependent on the microbiota for nutrient acquisition, although it may facilitate the process. We also showed the ability of both gypsophiles (H. squamatum and O. tridentata) to exude organic acids and sugar alcohols that could be mediating plant nutrition or the access to gypsum crystallization water. The study included in Chapter 4 constitutes a pioneering work on the physiological mechanisms underlying rhizosphere acidification in a wild plant species, contrasting with most previous studies that focused on cultivated plants.

Limitations of the study and future lines of research

Limitations and future work on data collection in the field

Chapter 1 corroborated the presence of gypsum crystallization water in the xylem of the majority of shallow rooted plants from a gypsum hill community of NE Spain in summer. Nevertheless, there

could be local particularities involving plant species or environmental conditions that vary from this to other gypsum ecosystems (Mota el al, 2011). Thus, to ascertain if the use of gypsum crystalline water is a common strategy of shallow-rooted plants growing in gypsum plant communities during drought, future research should perform similar studies in other gypsum ecosystems around the world.

Chapter 1 and 2 revealed eco-hydrological niche segregation, highly marked in the dry season, which evidences the ability of plant communities to face aridity. However, finding a clear pattern of water partitioning according to different plant traits was difficult in Chapter 2. This was due to the very different traits of the plant species studied concerning morphology, tissue organization or rooting depth, which could not be fully characterised by our model (for example considering trait interactions) due to insufficient species replication. To overcome these issues, future analyses of plant water use should be performed including below and aboveground parameters and additional data concerning plant total size to better understand the water use in under-studied dryland communities, like the one we analysed in the Alaghladar hills in Iran. Additionally, we recommend future studies on the use of gypsum crystallization water to focus on homogeneous gypsum landscapes, where gypsum mineral is clearly conditioning plant life.

In Chapter 1, we could observe an indirect evidence of hydraulic lift because there were several plant species with shallow rooting system using deep water. In addition, several deep-rooted species (*Gypsophila struthium*, *Rosmarinus officinalis* and *Thymelaea tinctoria*) showed similarities in the δ^2 H between the shallow soil beneath them and their xylem composition. However, we had no spatial data to account for the position of shallow-rooted and deep-rooted species potentially involved in this process, so neighbouring species data are required to confirm the occurrence of hydraulic lift in our studied ecosystem (Filella and Peñuelas, 2003). This future line of research could help, additionally, to explain the use of gypsum crystallization water as a generalised strategy of shallow-rooted species and its potential impact on the water use of accompanying species.

Limitations of experimental procedures

The novel methodology applied in Chapter 3 to unveil the mechanisms displayed by plants to use gypsum crystallization water led to severe limitations. Labelling of gypsum crystallization water

resulted in a gypsum soil with different physicochemical properties that substantially modified *H. squamatum* environment, as compared to the natural soil replicates. This was considered a methodological limitation that hampered addressing the objective of the study. Soil labelling increased the temperature of gypsum dehydration, affecting calculations on soil gypsum content based on thermo-gravimetric procedures. In addition, the labelling procedure, which implied previous soil dehydration, resulted in a soil with sandier texture and lower organic matter that dried faster (Ros *et al.*, 2003). Because of all these changes, labelled soil modified the soil microbial biomass, plant photosynthetic rate, aerial biomass and leaf elemental concentration. Plants growing on the labelled soil showed the effects of increased water stress and lower soil fertility. New methodologies should be applied in the future to trace gypsum crystallization water use by plants experimentally without such remarkable alterations.

On the other hand, in Chapter 4 we showed for the first time *in situ* rhizosphere acidification of a gypsum specialist growing in gypsum soil, a process facilitated by soil fungi and root exudation of organic acids and sugar alcohols. However, it would be very interesting to compare these processes in different gypsum plant species, including gypsum specialist and other generalist species. We initially designed the experiment to compare this species with a closely-related gypsovag species (*Ononis fruticosa*), as well as two shallow-rooted species, *Helianthemum squamatum* (gypsophile) and *Helianthemum syriacum* (gypsovag). The difficulties to keep a sufficient number of replicates alive in other species in addition to the roots redirection that avoided passing thought the sensor, restricted our results to the observation of the processes in the rhizosphere of *Ononis tridentata* Unfortunately, seedling survival and development in this artificial micro-environment was limited for the other species, whose interesting preliminary results about rhizosphere acidification, however, are shown in the Supplementary Material. An improved methodology is needed in future research on the belowground physiological adaptations of gypsophiles and gypsovags, which will undoubtedly contribute to unveil the factors underlying the ecological adaptations of these species.

Lessons learned from unsuccessful experiments

The study shown in Chapter 3, concerning *H. squamatum* cultivation in pots subjected to a labelling treatment of the gypsum crystallization water and to a short-term drought treatment, considered initially an additional treatment including soil fungi sterilisation, identical to the
treatment applied in Chapter 4, which was not finally included in the experiment results. This idea was applied with the aim to test if soil fungi were involved in the rooting uptake of gypsum crystallization water during drought. However, the treatment was not successful for our experiment of three-year duration because none of the *H. squamatum* seedlings cultivated in fungi-sterile pots from the seed survived. Thus, the answer to our question about the role of fungi in the uptake of gypsum crystallization water remains unanswered. New methods are needed in future research addressing the use of gypsum crystalline water by plants, focusing on the study of adult plants but maintaining the environmental conditions as similar as possible to the ones in the field. Nevertheless, these negative results have provided very interesting information about the serious consequences of the elimination of the soil fungi for *H. squamatum*. Future research should corroborate the strong dependency on soil fungi of this species.

Another attempt at the experimental observation of the process of gypsum crystallization water involved X-ray diffractometry to quantify different phases of calcium sulphate (namely gypsum, basanite and anhydrite). If gypsum dehydration was taking place in the rhizosphere during drought, we expected to observe anhydrite deposits by chemical X-ray diffractometry as found by Huang *et al.*, (2020). To this end, during my PhD Thesis we performed a proof of concept involving the cultivation of *H. squamatum* in mini-rhizoboxes, as described in the General Methodology. The aim of that proof was to use X-ray diffractometry to observe the formation of anhydrite deposits in the rhizosphere. In our experiment, *H. squamatum* seedlings were grown in natural gypsum soil contained in mini-rhizoboxes and were subjected to a drought treatment with the aim to force the use of gypsum crystallization water, as observed in the field. However, the seedlings of barely twenty days of life, did not endure the stressful conditions and died before the analysis. The control (well-watered) replicates that survived, gave us preliminary results (data not shown) where only gypsum was found next to the roots surface of the seedlings. No signs of anhydrite were found under well-watered conditions.

Future directions to unveil the mechanisms of gypsum crystallization water use

We found contrasting results regarding crystalline gypsum water use by plants. It could be suggested that the detection of gypsum crystallization water is an artefact caused by the recrystallization of gypsum inside the xylem of the plants due to drying. Recent studies have shown that gypsophile plants tend to accumulate dissolved gypsum in their tissues at oversaturation, likely

inside cell vacuoles. The disruption of cell osmotic conditions by drying leads to gypsum crystallization (Cera *et al.* submitted), which would be subsequently extracted in the cryogenic distillation line. This process would be similar to the reported precipitation of gypsum in pipes or in laboratories simulations with temperatures from 20°C to 45°C (Hoang *et al.*, 2007; Liu & Nancollas, 1970; Kontrec *et al.*, 2002; Witkamp *et al.*, 1990). However, this process will not explain the detection of big amounts of gypsum crystallization water in non-specialist gypsum plant species by de la Puente et., (2021) and Palacio *et al.*, (2017), which are known to block S uptake at fine root level and avoid oversaturation of calcium sulphate in the stem and leaves, hence avoiding calcium and sulphate accumulation (Cera *et al.*, 2022).

Future research should try to answer the question of: which were the factors that, present in the field and absent in the potted experiment, determine the use of the gypsum crystallization water by plants? We, definitely, encourage to continue this line of research. To get closer to this explanation, future research could address the biological similitudes of shallow-rooted plant species, or focus on neighbouring plant facilitation, where some species could be benefiting from others to obtain gypsum crystallization water, similar to restauration studies showing the improvement of micro-environmental conditions by some shrubs (Foronda-Vázquez *et al.*, 2019). Our findings also point out at the release of root exudates like organic acids and sugar alcohols as potential mechanisms underlying gypsum crystalline water use by plants. Another potential mechanism could engage surface gypsum thermodynamics, as a passive dehydration where plants do not actively participate, but they benefit from the released water. All these hypotheses open up new avenues of exciting future research.

Main Conclusions/ Conclusiones Principales

- Hydrological niche segregation occurs during the drought season in a gypsum plant community in NE Spain, where the water source used by each species depends on the rooting depth of the species, but not on its gypsum affinity.
- Gypsum crystallization water was detected as the main water source for almost all the shallow rooted species living on the top of the hill, confirming its important role for life in gypsum drylands.
- Deep soil water (50 cm-100 cm depth) is the main water source for deep-rooted species, constituting, together with gypsum crystallization water, an important water source for the formation of diverse plant communities adapted to water scarcity.
- The dominant xerophytic shrubs in the Aladaghlar hill area (NW Iran) show highly marked hydrological niche segregation in the drought season. These species partition the use of shallower and deeper soil water among coexisting species without relying on gypsum crystallization water to survive drought.
- In NW Iran, the water sources used in each season (wet and dry) do not depend on the photosynthetic pathway or gypsum affinity of plants. Rooting architecture, however, was a good proxy for the water sources used by three of the five studied species.
- The experimental set up of the potted *H. squamatum* plants did not allow the demonstration of the use of gypsum crystallization water during a short-term drought treatment. Additionally, the constraint to use only the scarce free water available in the pot during drought may promote a water-saving strategy, not described before for this species.
- *H. squamatum* is able to exude different organic acids and sugar alcohols. In addition, it can increase choline exudation during drought, as an osmotic protection under drought stress.
- The gypsum soil microbiota is adapted to the strong drought-pulses of gypsum ecosystems, reflected on the stable PLFAs composition of the soil under the short-term drought applied.

The relative abundance of different soil microbial groups was not affected and the PLFA indexes analysed did not reflect microbial stress.

- Rhizosphere acidification is needed to grow in poor-nutrient alkaline gypsum soils and it is more intense in the root tip of the growing root.
- Soil fungi mediate rhizosphere soil pH decreases, as the fungi-sterile rhizospere of *O*. *tridentata* did not reach pH as lower as the natural replicates.
- Like *H. squamatum*, *O. tridentata*, also exudes organic aliphatic acids and sugar-alcohols which contribute to pH acidification in rhizosphere soil.
- The absence of fungi in the soil modified root exudation profiles of *O. tridentata*, which increased exudation of certain compounds related to fungi-attraction, likely as a means to help with nutrient acquisition in fungi-sterile soils.

- Hay segregación de nichos hidroecológicos durante la estación seca en la comunidad de plantas de suelos de yeso estudiada en el NE de España, donde la fuente de agua utilizada por las especies depende de su profundidad de raíz, y no de su afinidad al yeso.
- El agua de cristalización del yeso es la principal fuente de agua usada en verano por casi todas las especies de raíz somera que habitan las zonas altas de las colinas de yeso (más alejadas del nivel freático), lo que confirma su importante papel para la vida en los ecosistemas de suelos de yeso.
- El agua profunda del suelo (50-100 cm de profundidad) es la principal fuente de agua para las especies de raíz profunda, constituyendo, junto con el agua de cristalización del yeso, una importante fuente de agua para la formación de diversas comunidades de plantas adaptadas a la escasez de agua.
- Los arbustos xerófitos dominantes que coexisten en las colinas de Aladaghlar (NO Irán) presentan segregación de nichos hidroecológicos, más marcada en la estación seca. Estas especies se reparten el agua más superficial y más profunda libre en el suelo, sin depender del agua de cristalización para sobrevivir a la sequía.
- En el NO Irán, las fuentes de agua utilizadas en las distintas estaciones (húmeda y seca) no dependen de la vía fotosintética (C3/C4) o la afinidad al yeso de las plantas. La arquitectura del sistema radicular, sin embargo, es un factor explicativo de las fuentes de agua usadas por tres de las cinco especies estudiadas.
- El montaje experimental de las plantas de *H. squamatum* cultivadas en macetas no permitió demostrar el uso de agua de cristalización del yeso durante el tratamiento de sequía aplicado a corto plazo. La restricción a utilizar el escaso agua libre disponible en el suelo de la maceta, puede promover una estrategia de ahorro de agua que no se había descrito todavía para esta especie.
- *H. squamatum* tiene la capacidad de exudar distintos ácidos orgánicos y alcoholes de bajo peso molecular. Además, puede incrementar la exudación de colina, como protección osmótica durante el estrés por sequía.
- La microbiota del suelo de yeso está adaptada a los pulsos de sequía que habitualmente sufren los ecosistemas de yeso, ya que la abundancia relativa de los distintos grupos de microorganismos y los índices de estrés observados en la composición de PLFAs no varió en el tratamiento de sequía aplicado a las macetas.

- La acidificación de la rizosfera es necesaria para que las plantas puedan crecer en el suelo de yeso, que es alcalino y pobre en nutrientes. La acidificación es más intensa en la punta de la raíz en crecimiento.
- Los hongos del suelo median esta disminución del pH, ya que la rizosfera de las plántulas que crecieron en el suelo con menos presencia de hongos no alcanzó pH tan bajos como las réplicas que crecieron en suelo natural.
- *O. tridentata* también exuda ácidos orgánicos alifáticos y alcoholes de bajo peso molecular, que contribuyen con la acidificación de la rizosfera en el suelo.
- La disminución de la presencia de hongos en el suelo modificó el perfil de exudación de *O. tridentata*, que aumentó para ciertos compuestos relacionados con la atracción de hongos y, probablemente, con la adquisición de nutrientes.

REFERENCES

- Abdelhak, M. (2022). Soil improvement in arid and semiarid regions for sustainable development. In *Natural resources conservation and advances for sustainability* (pp. 73-90). Elsevier.
- Abrahão, A., Lambers, H., Sawaya, A. C. H. F., Mazzafera, P., & Oliveira, R. S. (2014). Convergence of a specialized root trait in plants from nutrient- impoverished soils: Phosphorus-acquisition strategy in a nonmycorrhizal cactus. *Oecologia*, 176, 345–355. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00442-014-3033-4
- Aerts, R., & Chapin III, F. S. (1999). The mineral nutrition of wild plants revisited: a re-evaluation of processes and patterns. In *Advances in ecological research* (Vol. 30, pp. 1-67). Academic Press.
- Aerts, R., et al. "Climate change has only a minor impact on nutrient resorption parameters in a high-latitude peatland." *Oecologia* 151.1 (2007): 132-139.
- Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Soil Resources, Management, & Conservation Service. (1990). *Management of gypsiferous soils* (Vol. 62). Food & Agriculture Org.
- Aitchison J. (1982). The statistical analysis of compositional data. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society* 44: 139-160.
- Akhani H, Khoshravesh R, Malekmohammadi M. (2016). Taxonomic novelties from irano-turanian region and NE Iran: Oreosalsola, a new segregate from Salsola S.L., Two new species in Anabasis and Salvia, and two new combinations in Caroxylon and Seseli. Phytotaxa 249(1):159-180. https://doi.org/10.11646/phytotaxa.249.1.7
- Akhani H. (2006). Biodiversity of halophytic and sabkha ecosystems in Iran. In: Khan MA, Böer B, Kust GS, Barth HJ, editors. Sabkha Ecosystems. Tasks for Vegetation Science 42. Dordrecht: Springer. p. 71–88. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-5072-5_6
- Alguacil, M. D. M., Torres, M. P., Montesinos-Navarro, A., & Roldán, A. (2016). Soil characteristics driving arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in semiarid Mediterranean soils. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, 82(11), 3348-3356.
- Alguacil, M. M., Roldán, A., & Torres, M. P. (2009). Assessing the diversity of AM fungi in arid gypsophilous plant communities. *Environmental Microbiology*, *11*(10), 2649-2659.
- Alizadeh S. 2017. Non-Diapiric Salt Domes in the West Zanjan, Central Iran. Open J Geol. 7:132-146. https://doi.org/10.4236/ojg.2017.72009
- Allen, M. F. (1982). Influence of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae on water movement through Bouteloua gracilis (HBK) Lag ex Steud. *New Phytologist*, 91(2), 191-196.
- Allen, M. F. (2007). Mycorrhizal fungi: highways for water and nutrients in arid soils. *Vadose Zone Journal*, 6(2), 291-297.
- Allison GB, Hughes MW. 1983. The use of natural tracers as indicators of soil-water movement in a temperate semi-arid region. J Hydrol. 60:157–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-1694(83)90019-7
- Al-Najjar, M. A. A., & Albokari, M. M. (2019). Shifts in microbial community composition in tannerycontaminated soil in response to increased gamma radiation. *Annals of Microbiology* 69, 1567–1577.
- Anderson, J.M., Ingram, J.S.I., 1989. Tropical soil biology and fertility: a handbook of methods. *Tropical soil biology and fertility: a handbook of methods*

- Angert, A. L., Huxman, T. E., Chesson, P., & Venable, D. L. (2009). Functional tradeoffs determine species coexistence via the storage effect. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(28), 11641-11645.
- Aragón, C. F., Albert, M. J., Giménez-Benavides, L., Luzuriaga, A. L., & Escudero, A. (2007). Environmental scales on the reproduction of a gypsophyte: a hierarchical approach. *Annals of Botany*, 99(3), 519-527.
- Aragón, C. F., Escudero, A., & Valladares, F. (2008). Stress-induced dynamic adjustments of reproduction differentially affect fitness components of a semi-arid plant. *Journal of Ecology*, 96(1), 222-229.
- Araya, Y. N., Silvertown, J., Gowing, D. J., McConway, K. J., Peter Linder, H., & Midgley, G. (2011). A fundamental, eco-hydrological basis for niche segregation in plant communities. *New Phytologist*, 189(1), 253-258.
- Arias PA, Bellouin N, Coppola E, Jones RG, Krinner G, Marotzke J, Naik V, Palmer MD, Plattner GK, Rogelj J, et al. 2021. Technical Summary. In: Masson-Delmotte V, Zha P, Pirani A, Connors SL, Péan C, Berger S, Caud N, Chen Y, Goldfarb L, Gomis MI, et al., editors. Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press; p. 33–144. https://dx.doi.org/10.1017/9781009157896.002
- Artieda, O., J. Herrero, and P. J. Drohan. (2006). Refinement of the Differential Water Loss Method for Gypsum Determination in Soils. *Soil Sci.* Soc. Am. J. 70:1932-1935. doi:10.2136/sssaj2006.0043N
- Arvieu, J. C., Leprince, F., & Plassard, C. (2003). Release of oxalate and protons by ectomycorrhizal fungi in response to P-deficiency and calcium carbonate in nutrient solution. *Annals of ForFungi st Science*, 60(8), 815-821.
- Aslam, M. M., IDRIS, A. L., Zhang, Q. I. A. N., Weifeng, X. U., KARANJA, J. K., & Wei, Y. U. A. N. (2022). Rhizosphere microbiomes can regulate plant drought tolerance. *Pedosphere*, 32(1), 61-74.,ISSN 1002-0160,https://doi.org/10.1016/S1002-0160(21)60061-9.
- Assessment, M. E. (2001). Millennium ecosystem assessment.
- Austin, A. T., Yahdjian, L., Stark, J. M., Belnap, J., Porporato, A., Norton, U., ... & Schaeffer, S. M. (2004). Water pulses and biogeochemical cycles in arid and semiarid ecosystems. *Oecologia*, 141, 221-235.
- Azimi, G., & Papangelakis, V. G. (2011). Mechanism and kinetics of gypsum–anhydrite transformation in aqueous electrolyte solutions. *Hydrometallurgy*, *108*(1-2), 122-129.
- Azizi H, Hosseinzadeh MR, Moayyed M, Siahcheshm K. (2018). Geology and geochemistry of the sedimenthosted stratabound red bed-type Cu-Pb (Zn-Ag) mineralization in the Dozkand-Moshampa Area, NW Zanjan, Iran. N Jb Miner Abh (J Min Geochem). 195(2):123–143. https://doi.org/10.1127/njma/2018/0101
- B. L. Welch (1951). On the comparison of several mean values: an alternative approach. *Biometrika*, 38, 330--336. 10.2307/2332579.
- Badens, E., Llewellyn, P., Fulconis, J. M., Jourdan, C., Veesler, S., Boistelle, R., & Rouquerol, F. (1998). Study of gypsum dehydration by controlled transformation rate thermal analysis (CRTA). *Journal of solid state Chemistry*, 139(1), 37-44.
- Badía-Villas, D., & del Moral, F. (2016). Soils of the Arid areas. The Soils of Spain, 145-161.
- Badri, D. V., & Vivanco, J. M. (2009). Regulation and function of root exudates. *Plant, cell & environment*, *32*(6), 666-681.
- Bai, B., Liu, W., Qiu, X., Zhang, J., Zhang, J., & Bai, Y. (2022). The root microbiome: Community assembly and its contributions to plant fitness. *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, *64*(2), 230-243.
- Barbeta A, Gimeno TE, Clavé L, Fréjaville B, Jones SP, Delvigne C, Wingate L, Ogée J. (2020). An explanation for the isotopic offset between soil and stem water in a temperate tree species. New Phytol. 227(3):766-779. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16564

- Barbeta, A., Burlett, R., Martín-Gómez, P., Fréjaville, B., Devert, N., Wingate, L., ... & Ogée, J. (2022). Evidence for distinct isotopic compositions of sap and tissue water in tree stems: consequences for plant water source identification. *New Phytologist*, 233(3), 1121-1132.
- Barbeta, A., Mejía-Chang, M., Ogaya, R., Voltas, J., Dawson, T. E., & Peñuelas, J. (2015). The combined effects of a long-term experimental drought and an extreme drought on the use of plant-water sources in a Mediterranean forest. *Global change biology*, 21(3), 1213-1225.
- Barnard, R. L., de Bello, F., Gilgen, A. K., & Buchmann, N. (2006). 7 The δ18 O of root crown water best reflects source water δ18 O in different types of herbaceous species. *Drought in Swiss grasslands at different altitudes: Effects on productivity and resource use*, 101.
- Barnard, R. L., Osborne, C. A., & Firestone, M. K. (2013). Responses of soil bacterial and fungal communities to extreme desiccation and rewetting. *The ISME journal*, 7(11), 2229-2241
- Barnes, C. J., & Allison, G. B. (1988). Tracing of water movement in the unsaturated zone using stable isotopes of hydrogen and oxygen. *Journal of Hydrology*, 100(1-3), 143-176.
- Bartholomeus, R. P., Witte, J. P. M., van Bodegom, P. M., van Dam, J. C., & Aerts, R. (2011). Climate change threatens endangered plant species by stronger and interacting water-related stresses. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Biogeosciences*, 116(G4).
- Bartlett, M. K., Scoffoni, C., & Sack, L. (2012). The determinants of leaf turgor loss point and prediction of drought tolerance of species and biomes: a global meta-analysis. *Ecology letters*, 15(5), 393-405.
- Bashan, Y., Li, C. Y., Lebsky, V. K., Moreno, M., & De-Bashan, L. E. (2002). Primary colonization of volcanic rocks by plants in arid Baja California, Mexico.*Plant Biology*,4(3), 392-402.
- Bates D, Mächler M, Bolker B, Walker S (2015). "Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using lme4." *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1–48Bauerle, T. L., Richards, J. H., Smart, D. R., & Eissenstat, D. M. (2008). Importance of internal hydraulic redistribution for prolonging the lifespan of roots in dry soil. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 31(2), 177-186.
- Baudoin, E., Benizri, E., & Guckert, A. (2003). Impact of artificial root exudates on the bacterial community structure in bulk soil and maize rhizosphere. *Soil biology and biochemistry*, *35*(9), 1183-1192.
- Bauerle TL, Richards JH, Smart DR, Eissenstat DM. 2008. Importance of internal hydraulic redistribution for prolonging the lifespan of roots in dry soil. Plant, Cell Environ. 31(2):177-186. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2007.01749.x
- Bayala, J., & Prieto, I. (2020). Water acquisition, sharing and redistribution by roots: applications to agroforestry systems. *Plant and Soil*,453(1), 17-28.
- Behie, S. W., & Bidochka, M. J. (2014). Nutrient transfer in plant-fungal symbioses. *Trends in plant science*, 19(11), 734-740.
- Bellot, Francisco, and Bartolomé Casaseca Mena. Propuesta de un nuevo orden para el círculo de vegetation mediterráneo: Gypsophyletalia ord. nov. prov. incluíble en la clase Ononido-Rosmarineta Br. Bl. Universidad de Santiago. Facultad de farmacia, 1952.
- Belnap, J. (2003). The world at your feet: desert biological soil crusts. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 1(4), 181-189.
- Berg, A., Sheffield, J., & Milly, P. C. (2017). Divergent surface and total soil moisture projections under global warming. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 44(1), 236-244.
- Bewley, J. D., and J. E. Krochko. "Desiccation-tolerance." *Physiological plant ecology II: water relations and carbon assimilation* (1982): 325-378.
- Beyer, M., & Penna, D. (2021). On the spatio-temporal under-representation of isotopic data in ecohydrological studies. *Frontiers in Water*, *3*, 643013.
- Biedrzycki, M. L., & Bais, H. P. (2009). Root secretions: from genes and molecules to microbial associations. *Journal of experimental botany*, 60(6), 1533-1534.

- Bilyera, N., Hummel, C., Daudin, G., Santangeli, M., Zhang, X., Santner, J., ... & Oburger, E. (2022). Co-localised phosphorus mobilization processes in the rhizosphere of field-grown maize jointly contribute to plant nutrition. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *165*, 108497.
- Blanca ,G. (1993) Origen de la flora de Andalucía. Introducción a la flora de Andalucía (ed. E. Valdés Bermejo), pp. 19–35. Junta de Andalucía, Seville, Spain.
- Blanco-Sánchez, M., Franks, S. J., Ramos-Muñoz, M., Pías, B., Ramírez-Valiente, J. A., Escudero, A., & Matesanz, S. (2023). Contrasting adaptive trait variation in response to drought in two Mediterranean shrubs. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 208, 105253.
- Blanco-Sánchez, M., Ramos-Muñoz, M., Pías, B., Ramírez-Valiente, J. A., Díaz-Guerra, L., Escudero, A., & Matesanz, S. (2022). Natural selection favours drought escape and an acquisitive resource-use strategy in semi-arid Mediterranean shrubs. *Functional Ecology*.
- Blount, C. W., & Dickson, F. W. (1973). Gypsum-anhydrite equilibria in systems CaSO4-H2O and CaCO4-NaCl-H2O. *American Mineralogist: Journal of Earth and Planetary Materials*, 58(3-4_Part_1), 323-331.
- Bock, E. (1961). On the solubility of anhydrous calcium sulphate and of gypsum in concentrated solutions of sodium chloride at 25 C, 30 C, 40 C, and 50 C. *Canadian journal of chemistry*, *39*(9), 1746-1751.
- Bolukbasi, A., Kurt, L., & Palacio, S. (2016). Unravelling the mechanisms for plant survival on gypsum soils: an analysis of the chemical composition of gypsum plants from Turkey. *Plant Biology*, *18*(2), 271-279.
- Bonetti, S., Feng, X., & Porporato, A. (2017). Ecohydrological controls on plant diversity in tropical South America. Ecohydrology, 10(6), e1853.
- Boyadgiev, T. G., & Verheye, W. H. (1996). Contribution to a utilitarian classification of gypsiferous soil. *Geoderma*, 74(3-4), 321-338.
- Braun-Blanquet, J. & Bolo`s, O. Les groupements ve'ge'taux du Bassin Moyen de l'Ebre et leur dynamisme. An. Est. Exper. Aula Dei 5, 1–266 (1957).
- Bridge, P., & Spooner, B. (2001). Soil fungi: diversity and detection. Plant and soil, 232, 147-154.
- Brum M, Vadeboncoeur MA, Ivanov V, Asbjornsen H, Saleska S, Alves LF, Penha D, Dias JD, Aragao LEOC, Barros F et al. (2018). Hydrological niche segregation defines forest structure and drought tolerance strategies in a seasonal *Amazon forest. Journal of Ecology*. doi: 10.1111/1365-2745.13022.
- Brum, M., Teodoro, G. S., Abrahão, A., & Oliveira, R. S. (2017). Coordination of rooting depth and leaf hydraulic traits defines drought-related strategies in the campos rupestres, a tropical montane biodiversity hotspot. *Plant and Soil*, 420, 467-480.
- Buyer JS, Sasser M (2012) High throughput phospholipid fatty acid analysis of soils. Appl Soil Ecol 61:127–130
- Cakmak, I., & Marschner, H. (1990). Decrease in nitrate uptake and increase in proton release in zinc deficient cotton, sunflower and buckwheat plants. *Plant and Soil*, *129*(2), 261-268.
- Caldwell, M. M., Dawson, T. E., & Richards, J. H. (1998). Hydraulic lift: consequences of water efflux from the roots of plants. *Oecologia*, *113*(2), 151-161.
- Cappa, C. D., Hendricks, M. B., DePaolo, D. J., and Cohen, R. C. (2003). Isotopic fractionation of water during evaporation. J. Geophys. Res. 108, 4525. doi:10.1029/2003JD003597.
- Carlos J. Garcia, Rocio Garcia-Villalba, Yolanda Garrido, Maria I. Gil and Francisco A. Tomas-Barberan. (2016) Untargeted metabolomics approach using UPLC-ESI-QTOF-MS to explore the metabolome of fresh-cut iceberg lettuce. *Metabolomics* 12:138. DOI 10.1007/s11306-016-1082-x
- Casby-Horton, S., Herrero, J., & Rolong, N. A. (2015). Gypsum soils—Their morphology, classification, function, and landscapes. *Advances in agronomy*, *130*, 231-290.
- Castillejo, J. M., Castelló, R., San Cristobal, A. G., & Abad, S. (2011). Soil-plant relationship along a semiarid gypsum gradient (Rio de Aguas, SE Spain). *Plant Ecology*, *212*, 1287-1297.
- Castroviejo, S. (2020). Flora ibérica: plantas vasculares de la Península Ibérica e Islas Baleares. *Flora ibérica*, 1-784.

- Cera, A., Duplat, E., Montserrat-Martí, G., Gómez-Bolea, A., Rodríguez-Echeverría, S., & Palacio, S. (2021b). Seasonal variation in AMF colonisation, soil and plant nutrient content in gypsum specialist and generalist species growing in P-poor soils. *Plant and Soil*, 468(1), 509-524.
- Cera, A., Montserrat-Martí, G., Drenovsky, R. E., Ourry, A., Brunel-Muguet, S., & Palacio, S. (2022). Gypsum endemics accumulate excess nutrients in leaves as a potential constitutive strategy to grow in grazed extreme soils. *Physiologia Plantarum*, *174*(4), e13738.
- Cera, A., Montserrat-Martí, G., Ferrio, J. P., Drenovsky, R. E., & Palacio, S. (2021a). Gypsum-exclusive plants accumulate more leaf S than non-exclusive species both in and off gypsum. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 182, 104294.
- Chambers JM. (1992). Linear models. In: Chambers JM, Hastie TJ, eds. Statistical models in S. Pacific Grove, CA: Chapman & Hall.
- Chambers, J. M. (1992) Linear models. Chapter 4 of Statistical Models in S eds J. M. Chambers and T. J. Hastie, Wadsworth & Brooks/Cole.
- Chandara, C., Azizli, K. A. M., Ahmad, Z. A., & Sakai, E. (2009). Use of waste gypsum to replace natural gypsum as set retarders in portland cement. *Waste management*, 29(5), 1675-1679.
- Chaparro, J. M., Badri, D. V., Bakker, M. G., Sugiyama, A., Manter, D. K., & Vivanco, J. M. (2013). Root exudation of phytochemicals in Arabidopsis follows specific patterns that are developmentally programmed and correlate with soil microbial functions. *PloS one*, 8(2), e55731.
- Chase, J. M. (2011). Ecological niche theory. *The theory of ecology*, 93-107.
- Chase, J. M., & Leibold, M. A. (2009). *Ecological niches: linking classical and contemporary approaches*. University of Chicago Press.
- Chau, J. F., Bagtzoglou, A. C., & Willig, M. R. (2011). The effect of soil texture on richness and diversity of bacterial communities. *Environmental Forensics*, 12(4), 333-341.
- Chaudhary, V. B., Nolimal, S., Sosa-Hernández, M. A., Egan, C., & Kastens, J. (2020). Trait-based aerial dispersal of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytologist*, 228(1), 238-252.
- Chávez, R. O., Clevers, J. G. P. W., Decuyper, M., De Bruin, S., & Herold, M. (2016). 50 years of water extraction in the Pampa del Tamarugal basin: Can Prosopis tamarugo trees survive in the hyper-arid Atacama Desert (Northern Chile). *Journal of Arid Environments*, 124, 292-303
- Collins M, Knutti R, Arblaser J, Dufresne JL, Fichefet T, Friedlingstein P, Gao X, Gutowski WJ, Johns T, Krinner G, et al. 2013. Long-term climate change: projections, commitments and irreversibility. In: Stocker TF, Qin D, Plattner GK, Tignor M, Allen SK, Doschung J, Nauels A, Xia Y, Bex V, Midgley PM, editors. 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, USA: Cambridge University Press; p. 1029–1136. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.024
- Concostrina-Zubiri, L., Martínez, I., Rabasa, S. G., & Escudero, A. (2014). The influence of environmental factors on biological soil crust: from a community perspective to a species level approach. *Journal of vegetation science*, 25(2), 503-513.
- Craig, H., & Gordon, L. I. (1965). Deuterium and oxygen 18 variations in the ocean and marine atmosphere. In E. Tongiorgi (Ed.), *Stable isotopes in oceanographic studies and paleotemperatures* (pp. 9–130). Pisa, Italy: Lab. Geologia Nucleare.
- Cuntz, M., & Cernusak, L. A. (2020, May). The dominant environmental driver of leaf water stable isotope enrichment differs for H-2 compared to O-18. In *EGU General Assembly Conference Abstracts* (p. 3343).

- D'Odorico, P., Porporato, A., & Runyan, C. (2019). Ecohydrology of arid and semiarid ecosystems: an introduction. *Dryland ecohydrology*, 1-27.
- Dai Y, Zheng XJ, Tang, LS, Li Y. 2015. Stable oxygen isotopes reveal distinct water use patterns of two Haloxylon species in the Gurbantonggut Desert. Plant Soil. 389:73–87. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11104-014-2342-z
- Dakora, F. D., & Phillips, D. A. (2002). Root exudates as mediators of mineral acquisition in low-nutrient environments. *Food security in nutrient-stressed environments: exploiting plants' genetic capabilities*, 201-213.
- Dakora, F. D., & Phillips, D. A. (2013). Root Exudates as Mediators of Mineral Acquisition in Low-Nutrient (Vol. 95, pp. 201-213). Springer: Dordrecht.
- Dansgaard W. 1964. Stable isotopes in precipitation. Tellus 16: 436–468.
- Dawson TE, Ehleringer JR (1993) Isotopic enrichment of water in the woody' tissues of plants: implications for plant water source, water uptake, and other studies which use the stable isotopic composition of cellulose. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 57:3487–3492.
- Dawson TE, Mambelli S, Plamboeck AH, Templer PH, Tu KP. 2002. Stable isotopes in plant ecology. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 33:507–559.
- Dawson, T. E. (1993). Hydraulic lift and water use by plants: implications for water balance, performance and plantplant interactions. *Oecologia*, 95, 565-574.
- Dawson, T. E., & Ehleringer, J. R. (1998). Plants, isotopes and water use: a catchment-scale perspective. In: *Isotope tracers in catchment hydrology* (pp. 165-202). Elsevier.
- Dawson, T. E., & Pate, J. S. (1996). Seasonal water uptake and movement in root systems of Australian phraeatophytic plants of dimorphic root morphology: a stable isotope investigation. *Oecologia*, 107, 13-20.
- Dawson, T. E., Mambelli, S., Plamboeck, A. H., Templer, P. H., & Tu, K. P. (2002). Stable isotopes in plant ecology. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, 33(1), 507-559.
- de la Casa, J., Barbeta, A., Rodríguez-Uña, A., Wingate, L., Ogée, J., & Gimeno, T. E. (2021). Revealing a significant isotopic offset between plant water and its sources using a global meta-analysis. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences Discussions*, 2021, 1-31.
- De la Casa, J., Barbeta, A., Rodríguez-Uña, A., Wingate, L., Ogée, J., & Gimeno, T. E. (2022). Isotopic offsets between bulk plant water and its sources are larger in cool and wet environments. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 26(15), 4125-4146.
- de la Fuente Cantó, C., Simonin, M., King, E., Moulin, L., Bennett, M. J., Castrillo, G., & Laplaze, L. (2020). An extended root phenotype: the rhizosphere, its formation and impacts on plant fitness. *The Plant Journal*, 103(3), 951-964.
- De la Puente L, Ferrio JP, Palacio S. (2021). Disentangling water sources in a gypsum plant community. Gypsum crystallization water is a key source of water for shallow-rooted plants. Ann Bot. 129(1):87–100. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcab107
- Dekker, S.C., Rietkerk, M.A.X., & Bierkens, M.F. (2007). Coupling microscale vegetation–soil water and macroscale vegetation–precipitation feedbacks in semiarid ecosystems. *Global change biology*, *13*(3), 671-678.
- del Castillo, J., Comas, C., Voltas, J., & Ferrio, J. P. (2016). Dynamics of competition over water in a mixed oakpine Mediterranean forest: Spatio-temporal and physiological components. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 382, 214-224.
- Díaz-Pereira, E., Sanleandro, P. M., & Asencio, A. D. (2019). Effects of drought and water pulses on microbial functionality and the role of Cyanoprokaryota in the rhizospheres of gypsophytes. *Science of The Total Environment*, 691, 919-932.

- Ding, Y., Nie, Y., Chen, H., Wang, K., & Querejeta, J. I. (2021). Water uptake depth is coordinated with leaf water potential, water-use efficiency and drought vulnerability in karst vegetation. *New Phytologist*, 229(3), 1339-1353.
- Djamali M, Akhani H, Khoshravesh R, Andrieu-Ponel V, Ponel P, Brewer S. 2011. Application of the Global Bioclimatic Classification to Iran: implications for understanding the modern vegetation and biogeography. Ecol Mediterr. 37(1):91–114. <u>https://doi.org/10.3406/ecmed.2011.1350</u>
- Djamali M, Brewer S, Breckle SW, Jackson ST. 2012. Climatic determinism in phytogeographic regionalization: A test from the Irano-Turanian region, SW and Central Asia. Flora 207(4):237-249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.flora.2012.01.009
- Dodd, M. B., Lauenroth, W. K., & Welker, J. M. (1998). Differential water resource use by herbaceous and woody plant life-forms in a shortgrass steppe community. *Oecologia*, 117(4), 504-512.
- Donovan, L. A., & Ehleringer, J. R. (1994). Water stress and use of summer precipitation in a Great Basin shrub community. *Functional Ecology*, 289-297.
- Doostmohammadi M, Malekmohammadi M, Djamali M, Akhani H. 2020. Is *Pteropyrum* a pathway to C₄ evolution in Polygonaceae? An integrative approach to the taxonomy and anatomy of *Pteropyrum* (C₃), an immediate relative of *Calligonum* (C₄). Bot J Linn. 192(2): 369–400. https://doi.org/10.1093/botlinnean/boz079
- Doubková, P., Suda, J. & Sudová, R. Arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis on serpentine soils: the effect of native fungal communities on different Knautia arvensis ecotypes. *Plant and Soil 2011 345:1* **345**, 325–338 (2011).
- Dubbert, M., & Werner, C. (2019). Water fluxes mediated by vegetation: emerging isotopic insights at the soil and atmosphere interfaces. *New Phytologist*, 221(4), 1754-1763.
- Durand, J. L., Bariac, T., Ghesquiere, M., Biron, P., Richard, P., Humphreys, M., & Zwierzykovski, Z. (2007). Ranking of the depth of water extraction by individual grass plants, using natural 18O isotope abundance. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 60(1), 137-144.
- Dwivedi, R., Eastoe, C., Knowles, J. F., Wright, W. E., Hamann, L., Minor, R., ... & Chorover, J. (2020). Vegetation source water identification using isotopic and hydrometric observations from a subhumid mountain catchment. *Ecohydrology*, *13*(1), e2167.
- Eckardt, F. D., & Spiro, B. (1999). The origin of sulphur in gypsum and dissolved sulphate in the Central Namib Desert, Namibia. *Sedimentary Geology*, 123(3-4), 255-273.
- Edwards, J., Johnson, C., Santos-Medellín, C., Lurie, E., Podishetty, N. K., Bhatnagar, S., ... & Sundaresan, V. (2015). Structure, variation, and assembly of the root-associated microbiomes of rice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(8), E911-E920.
- Ehleringer JR, Dawson TE. (1992). Water uptake by plants: perspectives from stable isotope composition. Plant Cell Environ. 15(9):1073-1082. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.1992.tb01657.x</u>
- Ehleringer, J. R., Phillips, S. L., Schuster, W. S., & Sandquist, D. R. (1991). Differential utilization of summer rains by desert plants. *Oecologia*, 88(3), 430-434.
- Ellsworth, P.Z., & Williams, D.G. (2007). Hydrogen isotope fractionation during water uptake by woody xerophytes. *Plant and Soil*, 291(1), 93-107.
- Escavy, J. I., Herrero, M. J., & Arribas, M. E. (2012). Gypsum resources of Spain: Temporal and spatial distribution. *Ore Geology Reviews*, 49, 72-84.
- Escudero P S, Maestre F, Luzuriaga A. (2015). Plant life on gypsum: a review of its multiple facets. Biol Rev 90:1– 18. https://doi. org/10.1111/brv.12092
- Escudero, A., Palacio, S., Maestre, F. T., & Luzuriaga, A. L. (2015). Plant life on gypsum: a review of its multiple facets. *Biological Reviews*, 90(1), 1-18.
- Escudero, A., Somolinos, R. C., Olano, J. M., & Rubio, A. (1999). Factors controlling the establishment of *Helianthemum squamatum*, an endemic gypsophile of semi-arid Spain. *Journal of Ecology*, 87(2), 290-302.

- Eswaran, H. & Gong, Z.T. 1991. Properties, Genesis, Classification, and Distribution of Soils with Gypsum. In: Nettleton, W.D. (ed.) Occurrence, characteristics, and genesis of carbonate, gypsum, and silica accumulations in soils, pp. 89-119. Soil Science Society of America, Madison
- Council Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the Conservation of Natural Habitats and of Wild Fauna and Flora. Brussels, Belgium: European Community.
- Fan Y, Miguez-Macho G, Weaver CP, Walko R, Robock A. (2007). Incorporating water table dynamics in climate modeling: 1. Water table observations and equilibrium water table simulations. J Geophys Res. 112:D10125. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006JD008111
- Fan, Y., Miguez-Macho, G., Jobbágy, E. G., Jackson, R. B., & Otero-Casal, C. (2017). Hydrologic regulation of plant rooting depth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(40), 10572-10577.
- FAO. 1990. Management of gypseous soils. Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization.
- Farooq, M., Wahid, A., Kobayashi, N. S. M. A., Fujita, D. B. S. M. A., & Basra, S. M. A. (2009). Plant drought stress: effects, mechanisms and management. *Sustainable agriculture*, 153-188.
- Ferrio, J. P., Cuntz, M., Offermann, C., Siegwolf, R., Saurer, M., and Gessler, A. (2009) Effect of water availability on leaf water isotopic enrichment in beech seedlings shows limitations of current fractionation models, *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 32, 1285–1296.
- Fet V, Atamuradov K. 1994. Biogeography and Ecology of Turkmenistan. Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-1116-4
- Fierer, N., Schimel, J. P., & Holden, P. A. (2003). Influence of drying–rewetting frequency on soil bacterial community structure. *Microbial ecology*, 45(1), 63-71.
- Fife, D. N., Nambiar, E. K. S., & Saur, E. (2008). Retranslocation of foliar nutrients in evergreen tree species planted in a Mediterranean environment. *Tree physiology*, 28(2), 187-196.
- Filella, I., & Peñuelas, J. (2003). Partitioning of water and nitrogen in co-occurring Mediterranean woody shrub species of different evolutionary history. *Oecologia*, 137(1), 51-61.
- Florian Hartig (2020). DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical (Multi-Level /
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Soils Resources, & Conservation Service (FAO). Management of Gypseous Soils. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome (1990)
- Foronda Vázquez, A. M., López Alados, C., & Pueyo Estaun, Y. (2019). Importancia de las interacciones bióticas entre plantas de comunidades vegetales gipsícolas para la conservación y restauración de ecosistemas yesífieros.
- Fowler, N. (1986). The role of competition in plant communities in arid and semiarid regions. *Annual review of ecology and Systematics*, *17*(1), 89-110.
- Freitag H. 1997. *Salsola*. In: Flora Iranica: Rechinger KH, editor. Flora des iranischen Hochlandes und der umrahmenden Gebirge. Graz, Austria: Akademische Druck u. Verlagsanstalt; 172:154-255.
- Freyer, D., & Voigt, W. (2003). Crystallization and phase stability of CaSO 4 and CaSO 4–based salts. *Monatshefte für Chemic/Chemical Monthly*, 134(5), 693-719.
- Frostegård A, Bååth E (1996) The use of phospholipid fatty acid analysis to estimate bacterial and fungal biomass in soil. *Biol Fertil Soils* 22:59–65
- Füllner, K., Temperton, V. M., Rascher, U., Jahnke, S., Rist, R., Schurr, U., & Kuhn, A. J. (2012). Vertical gradient in soil temperature stimulates development and increases biomass accumulation in barley. *Plant, Cell & Environment*, 35(5), 884-892.
- Furby, E., Glueckauf, E., & McDonald, L. A. (1968). The solubility of calcium sulphate in sodium chloride and sea salt solutions. *Desalination*, 4(2), 264-276.
- Gage, D. J. (2004). Infection and invasion of roots by symbiotic, nitrogen-fixing rhizobia during nodulation of temperate legumes. *Microbiology and molecular biology reviews*, 68(2), 280-300.

- Gallart, F., Llorens, P., Latron, J., & Regüés, D. (2002). Hydrological processes and their seasonal controls in a small Mediterranean mountain catchment in the Pyrenees. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 6(3), 527-537.
- Garcia, R. J. F., Longhi-Wagner, H. M., Pirani, J. R., & Meirelles, S. T. (2009). A contribution to the phytogeography of Brazilian campos: an analysis based on Poaceae. *Brazilian Journal of Botany*, *32*, 703-713.
- Gastwirth, J. L., Gel, Y. R., & Miao, W. (2009). The impact of Levene's test of equality of variances on statistical theory and practice. *Statistical Science*, *24*(3), 343-360.
- Gázquez, F., Bauska, T. K., Comas-Bru, L., Ghaleb, B., Calaforra, J. M., & Hodell, D. A. (2020). The potential of gypsum speleothems for paleoclimatology: Application to the Iberian Roman Humid Period. *Scientific reports*, *10*(1), 14705.
- Gázquez, F., Evans, N. P., & Hodell, D. A. (2017). Precise and accurate isotope fractionation factors (α17O, α18O and αD) for water and CaSO4· 2H2O (gypsum).*Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*,198, 259-270.
- George, E., Marschner, H., & Jakobsen, I. (1995). Role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in uptake of phosphorus and nitrogen from soil. *Critical reviews in biotechnology*, *15*(3-4), 257-270.
- Ghannoum O, Evans JR, von Caemmerer S. 2010. Chapter 8: Nitrogen and Water Use Efficiency of C₄ Plants. 129-146. In: Raghavendra A, Sage R, editors. C₄ Photosynthesis and Related CO2 Concentrating Mechanisms. Advances in Photosynthesis and Respiration, vol 32. Dordrecht: Springer; 129-146. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9407-0_8
- Ghorbani M. 2019. Lithostratigraphy of Iran. Switzerland: Springer Cham. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-04963-8</u>
- Gibson, A. C. (2012). Structure-function relations of warm desert plants. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Goldsmith, G. R., Muñoz-Villers, L. E., Holwerda, F., McDonnell, J. J., Asbjornsen, H., & Dawson, T. E. (2012). Stable isotopes reveal linkages among ecohydrological processes in a seasonally dry tropical montane cloud forest. *Ecohydrology*, 5(6), 779-790.
- Graham, R.C., Rossi, A.M., Hubbert, R.(2010). Rock to regolith conversion: producing hospitable substrates for terrestrial ecosystems. *GSA Today* 20 (2), 4–10.
- Grammatikopoulos G, Kyparissis A, Manetas Y. (1995). Seasonal and diurnal gas-exchange characteristics and water relations of the drought semi-deciduous shrub *Phlomis fruticosa* L. under Mediterranean field conditions. Flora. 190:71–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0367-2530(17)30627-8</u>
- Grandy, A. S., Strickland, M. S., Lauber, C. L., Bradford, M. A., & Fierer, N. (2009). The influence of microbial communities, management, and soil texture on soil organic matter chemistry. *Geoderma*, 150(3-4), 278-286.
- Griffin, D. M. (1985). A comparison of the roles of bacteria and fungi. In *Bacteria in nature* (pp. 221-255). Springer, Boston, MA.
- Grime, J. P. (1977). Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. *The american naturalist*, *111*(982), 1169-1194.
- Grossiord C, Sevanto S, Dawson TE, Adams HD, Collins AD, Dickman LT, Newman BD, Stockton EA, McDowell MG. 2017. Warming combined with more extreme precipitation regimes modifies the water sources used by trees. New Phytol. 213(2):584–596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14192</u>
- Guerrero Campo J, Alberto F, Hodgson J *et al* (1999) Plant community patterns in a gypsum area of NE Spain. I. Interactions with topographic factors and soil erosion. *J Arid Environ* 41:401–410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1006</u> /JARE.1999.0492
- Guerrero Campo, J., Alberto, F., Maestro Martínez, M., Hodgson, J., Montserrat Martí, G., 1999. Plant community patterns in a gypsum area of NE Spain. II.Effects of ion washing on topographic distribution of vegetation. *Journal of AridEnvironments* 41, 411e419.

- Guerrero-Campo, J. G. (1998). Respuestas de la vegetación y de la morfología de las plantas a la erosión del suelo: Valle del Ebro y Prepirineo aragonés. Consejo de Protección de la Naturaleza de Aragón 257pp.
- Guerrero-Campo, J., Palacio, S., Perez-Rontome, C., & Montserrat-Marti, G. (2006). Effect of root system morphology on root-sprouting and shoot-rooting abilities in 123 plant species from eroded lands in north-east Spain. *Annals of Botany*, 98(2), 439-447
- Hahm, W. J., Rempe, D. M., Dralle, D. N., Dawson, T. E., & Dietrich, W. E. (2020). Oak transpiration drawn from the weathered bedrock vadose zone in the summer dry season. *Water Resources Research*. 56 (11): e2020WR027419, 56(11).
- Hajiboland R, Aghadjanzadeh TS, Taleb-Pour AH, Neishabouri A. 2004. Ecological studies on *Atraphaxis* suaedifolia Jaub. & Spach (Polygonaceae) a rare endemic species of NW Iran. Iranian Journal of Biology. 17(2):179-193.
- Hartig F. 2021. DHARMa: residual diagnostics for hierarchical (multi level/ mixed) regression models. R package version 0.4.3.
- Hartman, K., & Tringe, S. G. (2019). Interactions between plants and soil shaping the root microbiome under abiotic stress. *Biochemical Journal*, 476(19), 2705-2724.
- Helliker BR, Ehleringer JR. (2002). Differential 18O enrichment of leaf cellulose in C3 versus C4 grasses. Funct Plant Biol. 29(4):435-442. https://doi.org/10.1071/pp01122
- hengjing Shi, Alan E. Richardson, Maureen O'Callaghan, Kristen M. DeAngelis, Eirian E. Jones, Alison Stewart, Mary K. Firestone, Leo M. Condron, Effects of selected root exudate components on soil bacterial communities, *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, Volume 77, Issue 3, September 2011, Pages 600– 610, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2011.01150.x</u>
- Henry A, Doucette W, Norton J, Bugbee B. 2007. Changes in crested wheatgrassroot exudation caused by flood, drought, and nutrient stress. *Journal of Environment Quality* 36: 904
- Henry, S., Texier, S., Hallet, S., Bru, D., Dambreville, C., Chèneby, D., ... & Philippot, L. (2008). Disentangling the rhizosphere effect on nitrate reducers and denitrifiers: insight into the role of root exudates. *Environmental Microbiology*, *10*(11), 3082-3092.
- Henschel, J. R., Wassenaar, T. D., Kanandjembo, A., Louw, M. K., Neef, G., Shuuya, T., & Soderberg, K. (2019). Roots point to water sources of *Welwitschia mirabilis* in a hyperarid desert. *Ecohydrology*,12(1), e2039.
- Herrero J, Porta J. 2000. The terminology and the concepts of gypsum-rich soils. Geoderma. 96(1-2):47-61. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0016-7061(00)00003-3
- Herrero, J., & Porta, J. (2000). The terminology and the concepts of gypsum-rich soils. Geoderma, 96(1-2), 47-61.
- Herrero, J., Artieda, O., & Hudnall, W. H. (2009). Gypsum, a tricky material. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 73(6), 1757-1763.
- Hill, J. (1980). The remobilization of nutrients from leaves. Journal of plant nutrition, 2(4), 407-444.
- Hoang, T. A., Ang, H. M., & Rohl, A. L. (2007). Effects of temperature on the scaling of calcium sulphate in pipes. *Powder Technology*, 179(1-2), 31-37.
- Hodge, A. (2004). The plastic plant: root responses to heterogeneous supplies of nutrients. *New phytologist*, *162*(1), 9-24.
- Hodgson, J., Montserrat, G., Alberto, F., García Ruiz, J. M., Guerrero, J., & Colasanti, R. (1994). A comparison of the functional characteristics of plants from sedimenting and eroded areas with particular reference to the gypsum hills of the Ebro Depression. *Geomorfología en España*, 2, 239-251.
- Hoover DL, Duniway MC, Belnap J. 2015. Pulse-drought atop press-drought: unexpected plant responses and implications for dryland ecosystems. Oecologia. 179:1211–1221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-015-3414-3</u>

- Huang YM, Zou YN, Wu QS. (2017) Alleviation of drought stress by mycorrhizas is related to increased root H2O2efflux in trifoliate orange. *Scientific Reports*7:1–9
- Huang, J., Ji, M., Xie, Y., Wang, S., He, Y., & Ran, J. (2016). Global semi-arid climate change over last 60 years. *Climate Dynamics*, 46, 1131-1150.
- Huang, W., Ertekin, E., Wang, T., Cruz, L., Dailey, M., DiRuggiero, J., & Kisailus, D. (2020a). Reply to Wierzchos *et al.*: Microorganism-induced gypsum to anhydrite phase transformation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(45), 27788-27790.
- Huang, W., Ertekin, E., Wang, T., Cruz, L., Dailey, M., DiRuggiero, J., & Kisailus, D. (2020b). Mechanism of water extraction from gypsum rock by desert colonizing microorganisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(20), 10681-10687.
- Hueso, S., García, C., & Hernández, T. (2012). Severe drought conditions modify the microbial community structure, size and activity in amended and unamended soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 50, 167-173.
- Hussain, S. S., Mehnaz, S., & Siddique, K. H. (2018). Harnessing the plant microbiome for improved abiotic stress tolerance. *Plant microbiome: stress response*, 21-43.
- Huxman TE, Wilcox BP, Breshears DD, Scott RL, Snyder KA, Small EE, Hultine K, Pockman WT, Jackson RB. 2005. Ecohydrological implications of woody plant encroachment. Ecology. 86(2):308–319. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-0583
- Illuminati, A., Querejeta, J. I., Pías, B., Escudero, A., & Matesanz, S. (2022) Coordination between water uptake depth and the leaf economic spectrum in a Mediterranean shrubland. J Ecol. 110(8):1844-1856. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13909</u>
- Jackson, R. B., Sperry, J. S., & Dawson, T. E. (2000). Root water uptake and transport: using physiological processes in global predictions. *Trends in plant science*, *5*(11), 482-488.
- James, A.N. & Lupton, A.R.R. (1978). Gypsum and anhydrite in foundations of hydraulic structures. Geotechnique,28.249-272.
- Jonathan Lynch, Petra Marschner, Zed Rengel, Chapter 13 Effect of Internal and External Factors on Root Growth and Development, Editor(s): Petra Marschner, Marschner's Mineral Nutrition of Higher Plants (Third Edition), Academic Press, 2012, Pages 331-346, ISBN 9780123849052, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-384905-2.00013-3</u>.
- Jones, D. L. (1998). Organic acids in the rhizosphere-a critical review. Plant and soil, 205(1), 25-44.
- Jones, D. L., Healey, J. R., Willet, V. B., Farrar, J. F. and Hodge, A. (2005). Dissolved organic nitrogen uptake by plants an important N uptake pathway? Soil Biol. Biochem. 37, 413–423.
- Jubany-Marí, T., Munne-Bosch, S., Lopez-Carbonell, M., & Alegre, L. (2009). Hydrogen peroxide is involved in the acclimation of the Mediterranean shrub, Cistus albidus L., to summer drought. *Journal of experimental botany*, *60*(1), 107-120.
- Juturu, V., & Wu, J. C. (2016). Microbial production of lactic acid: the latFungi st development. *Critical reviews in biotechnology*, *36*(6), 967-977.
- Kakouridis, A., Hagen, J. A., Kan, M. P., Mambelli, S., Feldman, L. J., Herman, D. J., ... & Firestone, M. K. (2022). Routes to roots: direct evidence of water transport by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to host plants. *New Phytologist*, 236(1), 210-221.
- Karlowsky S, Augusti A, Ingrisch J, Akanda MKU, Bahn M, Gleixner G. 2018.Drought-induced accumulation of root exudates supports post-drought recoveryof microbes in mountain grassland.Frontiers in Plant Science9:1–16
- Kavamura, V. N., Hayat, R., Clark, I. M., Rossmann, M., Mendes, R., Hirsch, P. R., & Mauchline, T. H. (2018). Inorganic nitrogen application affects both taxonomical and predicted functional structure of wheat rhizosphere bacterial communities. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 9, 1074.

- Kim, Y. C., Glick, B. R., Bashan, Y., & Ryu, C. M. (2012). Enhancement of plant drought tolerance by microbes. In *Plant responses to drought stress* (pp. 383-413). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Kirschner, G. K., Xiao, T. T., & Blilou, I. (2021). Rooting in the desert: A developmental overview on desert plants. *Genes*, *12*(5), 709.
- Klimchouk, Alexander. 1996. The dissolution and conversion of gypsum and anhydrite. *International Journal of Speleology*, 25: 21-36.
- Kochian, L. V., Hoekenga, O. A., & Pineros, M. A. (2004). How do crop plants tolerate acid soils? Mechanisms of aluminum tolerance and phosphorous efficiency. *Annual review of plant biology*, 55(1), 459-493.
- Koirala, S., Jung, M., Reichstein, M., de Graaf, I. E., Camps-Valls, G., Ichii, K Papale, D., Raduly, B., Schwalm, Ch., R., Tramontana, G., Carvalhals, N. (2017). Global distribution of groundwater vegetation spatial covariation. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 44(9), 4134-4142.
- Kontrec, J., Kralj, D., & Brečević, L. (2002). Transformation of anhydrous calcium sulphate into calcium sulphate dihydrate in aqueous solutions. Journal of crystal growth, 240(1-2), 203-211.
- Kooyers, N. J. (2015). The evolution of drought escape and avoidance in natural herbaceous populations. *Plant science*, 234, 155-162.
- Kostina MV, Yurtseva OV. 2021. Structure and Developmental Rhythm of Shoot Systems of A. frutescens (L.) K. Koch., A. replicata Lam., and A. pyrifolia Bunge (Atraphaxis L., Polygonaceae). Contemp. Probl. Ecol. 14(3):241–254. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1995425521030070
- Kraffczyk, I., Trolldenier, G., & Beringer, H. (1984). Soluble root exudates of maize: influence of potassium supply and rhizosphere microorganisms. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *16*(4), 315-322.
- Kühn, N., Spiegel, M. P., Tovar, C., Willis, K. J., & Macias-Fauria, M. (2022). Seeing roots from space: aboveground fingerprints of root depth in vegetation sensitivity to climate in dry biomes. *Environmental Research Letters*, *17*(11), 114062.
- Kumar M, Mishra S, Dixit V, Kumar M, Agarwal L, Chauhan PS, Nautiyal CS.(2016).Synergistic effect ofPseudomonas putidaandBacillus amyloliquefaciensameliorates drought stress in chickpea (Cicer arietinumL.).Plant Signaling andBehavior11: e1071004
- Laheurte, F., Leyval, C., & Berthelin, J. (1990). Root exudates of maize, pine and beech seedlings influenced by mycorrhizal and bacterial inoculation. *Symbiosis*.
- Lal, R. (2004). Carbon sequestration in soils of central Asia. Land Degradation & Development, 15(6), 563-572.
- Lambers, H., Raven, J. A., Shaver, G. R., & Smith, S. E. (2008). Plant nutrient-acquisition strategies change with soil age. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, 23(2), 95-103.
- Lara, M. V., & Andreo, C. S. (2011). C4 plants adaptation to high levels of CO2 and to drought environments. *Abiotic stress in plants-mechanisms and adaptations*, 415-428.
- Lau, J. A., & Lennon, J. T. (2012). Rapid responses of soil microorganisms improve plant fitness in novel environments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(35), 14058-14062.
- Läuchli, A., & Grattan, S. R. (2012). Soil pH extremes. In *Plant stress physiology* (pp. 194-209). Wallingford UK: CABI.
- Lauterbach M, Veranso-Libalah MC, Sukhorukov A, Kadereit G. 2019. Biogeography of the xerophytic genus *Anabasis* L. (Chenopodiaceae). Ecol Evol. 9(6):3539-3552. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4987
- Lebre, P. H., De Maayer, P., & Cowan, D. A. (2017). Xerotolerant bacteria: surviving through a dry spell. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 15(5), 285-296.
- Leibold, M. A., & Geddes, P. (2005). El concepto de nicho en las metacomunidades. *Ecología austral*, 15(2), 117-129.

- Lensi, R., Lescure, C., Steinberg, C., Savoie, J.-M., & Faurie, G. (1991). Dynamics of residual enzyme activities, denitrification potential, and physico-chemical properties in a γ-sterilized soil. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 23, 367-373.
- León-Sánchez, L., Nicolás, E., Goberna, M., Prieto, I., Maestre, F. T., & Querejeta, J. I. (2018). Poor plant performance under simulated climate change is linked to mycorrhizal responses in a semi-arid shrubland. *Journal of Ecology*, 106(3), 960-976.
- León-Sánchez, L., Nicolás, E., Nortes, P. A., Maestre, F. T., & Querejeta, J. I. (2016). Photosynthesis and growth reduction with warming are driven by nonstomatal limitations in a Mediterranean semi-arid shrub. *Ecology* and Evolution, 6(9), 2725-2738.
- León-Sánchez, L., Nicolas, E., Prieto, I., Nortes, P., Maestre, F. T., & Querejeta, J. I. (2020). Altered leaf elemental composition with climate change is linked to reductions in photosynthesis, growth and survival in a semiarid shrubland. *Journal of Ecology*, 108(1), 47-60.
- Levine, J. M., & HilleRisLambers, J. (2009). The importance of niches for the maintenance of species diversity. *Nature*, 461(7261), 254-257.
- Li, Z., Lamb, E. G., Piper, C. L., & Siciliano, S. D. (2018). Plant belowground diversity and species segregation by depth in a semi-arid grassland. *Ecoscience*, 25(1), 1-7.
- Liang, Y., Pan, F., Jiang, Z., Li, Q., Pu, J., & Liu, K. (2022). Accumulation in nutrient acquisition strategies of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and plant roots in poor and heterogeneous soils of karst shrub ecosystems. *BMC Plant Biology*, 22(1), 1-12.
- Lin GH, Sternberg L, Ehleringer JR, HallAE, Farquhar GD. (1993) Hydrogen isotopic fractionation by plant roots during water uptake in coastal wetland plants. In: Ehleringer JR, Hall AE, Farquhar GD (ed) Stable isotopes and plant carbon-water relations, *Academic Press Inc.*, pp 497–510
- Liu, S. T., & Nancollas, G. H. (1970). The kinetics of crystal growth of calcium sulfate dihydrate. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 6(3), 281-289.
- Liu, W., Li, P., Duan, W., & Liu, W. (2014). Dry-season water utilization by trees growing on thin karst soils in a seasonal tropical rainforest of Xishuangbanna, Southwest China. *Ecohydrology*, 7(3), 927-935.
- Liu, W., Liu, W., Li, P., Duan, W., & Li, H. (2010). Dry season water uptake by two dominant canopy tree species in a tropical seasonal rainforest of Xishuangbanna, SW China. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 150(3), 380-388.
- Loik, M. E., Breshears, D. D., Lauenroth, W. K., & Belnap, J. (2004). A multi-scale perspective of water pulses in dryland ecosystems: climatology and ecohydrology of the western USA. *Oecologia*, *141*, 269-281.
- López-González, G. (1993) in Flora Iberica Vol. 3 (eds Castroviejo, S. et al.) 365-421 (Real Jardín Botánico, CSIC.
- López-Moreno, J. I., Vicente-Serrano, S. M., Angulo-Martínez, M., Beguería, S., & Kenawy, A. (2010). Trends in daily precipitation on the northeastern Iberian Peninsula, 1955–2006. *International Journal of Climatology: A Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society*, 30(7), 1026-1041.
- Ludwig, F., Dawson, T. E., de Kroon, H., Berendse, F., & Prins, H. H. (2003). Hydraulic lift in *Acacia tortilis* trees on an East African savanna. *Oecologia*, 134(3), 293-300.
- Luo, W., Xu, C., Ma, W., Yue, X., Liang, X., Zuo, X., ... & Han, X. (2018). Effects of extreme drought on plant nutrient uptake and resorption in rhizomatous vs bunchgrass-dominated grasslands. *Oecologia*, 188, 633-643.
- Luzuriaga, A. L., Ferrandis, P., Flores, J., & Escudero, A. (2020). Effect of aridity on species assembly in gypsum drylands: a response mediated by the soil affinity of species. *AoB Plants*, *12*(3), plaa020.
- Luzuriaga, A. L., González, J. M., & Escudero, A. (2015). Annual plant community assembly in edaphically heterogeneous environments. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 26(5), 866-875.
- Lyubenova, L., Kuhn, A. J., Höltkemeier, A., & Schröder, P. (2013). Root exudation pattern of Typha latifolia L. plants after copper exposure. *Plant and soil*, *370*(1), 187-195.

- Ma, L., Yang, L., Liu, W., Zhang, Y., Zhou, Q., Wu, Z., & He, F. (2021). Effects of root exudates on rhizosphere bacteria and nutrient removal in pond-ditch circulation systems (PDCSs) for rural wastewater treatment. *Science of The Total Environment*, 785, 147282.
- Ma, X., Liu, Y., Shen, W., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2021). Phosphatase activity and acidification in lupine and maize rhizosphere depend on phosphorus availability and root properties: coupling zymography with planar optodes. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 167, 104029.
- Maestre, F. T., Eldridge, D. J., Soliveres, S., Kéfi, S., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Bowker, M. A., ... & Berdugo, M. (2016). Structure and functioning of dryland ecosystems in a changing world. *Annual review of ecology*, *evolution, and systematics*, 47, 215-237.
- Manning, S. J., & Barbour, M. G. (1988). Root systems, spatial patterns, and competition for soil moisture between two desert subshrubs. *American Journal of Botany*, 75(6Part1), 885-893.
- Marshall, J. D., Cuntz, M., Beyer, M., Dubbert, M., & Kuehnhammer, K. (2020). Borehole equilibration: testing a new method to monitor the isotopic composition of tree xylem water in situ. *Frontiers in plant science*,11 358.
- Marshall, W. L., Slusher, R., & Jones, E. V. (1964). Aqueous Systems at High Temperatures XIV. Solubility and Thermodynamic Relationships for CaSO4 in NaCl-H2O Solutions from 40 to 200 C., 0 to 4 Molal NaCl. *Journal of Chemical & Engineering Data*, 9(2), 187-191.
- Martínez-Hernández, F., Mendoza-Fernández, A. J., Pérez-García, F. J., Martínez-Nieto, M. I., Garrido-Becerra, J. A., Salmerón-Sánchez, E., ... & Mota, J. F. (2015). Areas of endemism as a conservation criterion for Iberian gypsophilous flora: a multi-scale test using the NDM/VNDM program. *Plant Biosystems-An International Journal Dealing with all Aspects of Plant Biology*, 149(3), 483-493.
- Martín-Gómez, P., Barbeta, A., Voltas, J., Peñuelas, J., Dennis, K., Palacio, S., ... & Ferrio, J. P. (2015). Isotoperatio infrared spectroscopy: a reliable tool for the investigation of plant-water sources? *New Phytologist*. 207(3), 914-927.
- Martín-Gómez P, Serrano L, Ferrio JP (2016) Short-term dynamics of evaporative enrichment of xylem water in woody stems: implications for ecohydrology. *Tree Physiol* 37(4):511–522.
- Mathesius, U. (2019). The role of the flavonoid pathway in Medicago truncatula in root nodule formation. A review. *The model legume Medicago truncatula*, 434-438.
- Matimati I, Verboom GA, Cramer MD. Nitrogen regulation of transpiration controls mass-flow acquisition of nutrients. J Exp Bot. 2014 Jan;65(1):159-68. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ert367.
- Matimati, Ignatious, G. Anthony Verboom, and Michael D. Cramer. "Nitrogen regulation of transpiration controls mass-flow acquisition of nutrients." *Journal of experimental botany* 65.1 (2014): 159-168.
- McCulley, R. L., Jobbágy, E. G., Pockman, W. T., & Jackson, R. B. (2004). Nutrient uptake as a contributing explanation for deep rooting in arid and semi-arid ecosystems. *Oecologia*, 141, 620-628.
- McDonnell, J. J. (2014). The two water worlds hypothesis: ecohydrological separation of water between streams and trees. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 1(4), 323-329.
- McKane, R. B., Johnson, L. C., Shaver, G. R., Nadelhoffer, K. J., Rastetter, E. B., Fry, B., ... & Murray, G. (2002). Resource-based niches provide a basis for plant species diversity and dominance in arctic tundra. *Nature*, 415(6867), 68-71.
- McKinley, V.L., Peacock, A.D. and White, D.C. (2005) Microbial community PLFA and PHB responses to ecosystem restoration in tallgrass prairie soils. Soil Biol Biochem 37, 1946–1958
- McNamara, N. P., Black, H. I. J., Beresford, N. A., & Parekh, N. R. (2003). Effects of acute gamma irradiation on chemical, physical and biological properties of soils. *Applied soil ecology*, 24(2), 117-132.
- Mediavilla, S., García-Iglesias, J., González-Zurdo, P., & Escudero, A. (2014). Nitrogen resorption efficiency in mature trees and seed-lings of four tree species co-occurring in a Mediterranean environment. *Plant and Soil*, 385, 205–215

- Meena, V. S., Maurya, B. R., & Verma, J. P. (2014). Does a rhizospheric microorganism enhance K+ availability in agricultural soils *Microbiological research*, *169*(5-6), 337-347.
- Meisner, A., Rousk, J., & Bååth, E. (2015). Prolonged drought changes the bacterial growth response to rewetting. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 88, 314-322.
- Meißner, M., Köhler, M., Schwendenmann, L., Hölscher, D., & Dyckmans, J. (2014). Soil water uptake by trees using water stable isotopes (δ^2 H and δ^{18} O) a method test regarding soil moisture, texture and carbonate. *Plant and soil*, *376*(1), 327-335.
- Memariani, F. (2022, May). Global assessment of the conservation status of gypsum plants. In *GYPWORLD: 3rd International Workshop*.
- Mendoza-Fernández, A., Pérez-García, F. J., Martínez-Hernández, F., Medina-Cazorla, J. M., Garrido-Becerra, J. A., Calvente, M. E. M., ... & Mota, J. F. (2014). Threatened plants of arid ecosystems in the Mediterranean Basin: A case study of the south-eastern Iberian Peninsula. *Oryx*, 48(4), 548-554.
- Menéndez-Serra, M., Triadó-Margarit, X., Castañeda, C., Herrero, J., & Casamayor, E. O. (2019). Microbial composition, potential functional roles and genetic novelty in gypsum-rich and hypersaline soils of Monegros and Gallocanta (Spain). Science of the Total Environment, 650, 343-353.
- Merlo, M. E., Garrido-Becerra, J. A., Mota, J. F., Salmerón-Sánchez, E., Martínez-Hernández, F., Mendoza-Fernández, A., & Pérez-García, F. J. (2019). Threshold ionic contents for defining the nutritional strategies of gypsophile flora. *Ecological Indicators*, 97, 247-259.
- Merlo, M. E., Mota, J. F., Cabello, J., & Alemán, M. M. (1998). La gipsofilia en plantas: un apasionante edafismo. *Investigación y Gestión*, *3*, 103-112.
- Meyer S. 1986. The Ecology of Gypsophile Endemism in the Eastern Mojave Desert. Ecology. 67(5):1303-1313. https://doi.org/10.2307/1938686
- Meyer, S. E. & García-Moya, E. (1989) Plant community patterns and soil moisture regime in gypsum grasslands of north central Mexico. *Journal of Arid Environments* 16, 147–155.
- Meyer, S. E., García-Moya, E., & Lagunes-Espinoza, L. D. C. (1992). Topographic and soil surface effects on gypsophile plant community patterns in central Mexico. Journal of Vegetation Science, 3(3), 429-438.
- Moore MJ, Mota JF, Douglas NA et al (2014) The ecology, assembly, and evolution of gypsophile floras. In: Rajakaruna N, Boyd R, Harris T (eds) Plant ecology and evolution in harsh environments. *Nova Science Publisher*, Hauppauge, pp 97–128
- Middleton N, Thomas D (1997) World atlas of desertification, 2nd edn. Arnold, a member of the Hodder Headline Group, London
- Miguez-Macho G, Fan Y. 2012. The role of groundwater in the Amazon water cycle: 2. Influence on seasonal soil moisture and evapotranspiration. J Geophys Res D Atmospheres. 117:D15. https://doi.org/10.1029/2012JD017539
- Minervini, F., Celano, G., Lattanzi, A., Tedone, L., De Mastro, G., Gobbetti, M., & De Angelis, M. (2015). Lactic acid bacteria in durum wheat flour are endophytic components of the plant during its entire life cycle. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, *81*(19), 6736-6748.
- Mohammadi, K., Khalesro, S., Sohrabi, Y., & Heidari, G. (2011). A review: beneficial effects of the mycorrhizal fungi for plant growth. J. Appl. Environ. Biol. Sci, 1(9), 310-319.
- Moore, M. J., J. F. Mota, N. A. Douglas, H. F. Olvera & H. Ochoterena. (2014). The ecology, assembly, and evolution of gypsophile floras. Pp. 97–128. In: N. Rajakaruna, R. S. Boyd & T. B. Harris (eds.), *Plant ecology and evolution in harsh environments*. Nova Science Publishers, Hauppauge, New York.
- Moreno-Gutiérrez, C., Dawson, T. E., Nicolás, E., & Querejeta, J. I. (2012). Isotopes reveal contrasting water use strategies among coexisting plant species in a Mediterranean ecosystem. *New Phytologist*, *196*(2), 489-496.

- Morgan JA, Le Cain DR, Pendall E, Blumenthal DM., Kimball BA, Carrillo Y, Williams DG, Heisler-White J, Dijkstra FA, West M. 2011. C₄ grasses prosper as carbon dioxide eliminates desiccation in warmed semiarid grassland. Nature. 476(7359):202-205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10274</u>
- Mota JF, Sola AJ, Dana ED. 2003. Plant succession in abandoned gypsum quarries in SE Spain. Phytocoenologia 33: 13–28
- Mota, J. F., Garrido-Becerra, J. A., Merlo, M. E., Medina-Cazorla, J. M., & Sánchez-Gómez, P. (2017). The edaphism: gypsum, dolomite and serpentine flora and vegetation. In: Loidi, J. (Ed.). *The Vegetation of the Iberian Peninsula*. (Pp. 277-354). Springer, Cham.
- Mota, J. F., Sánchez-Gómez, P. & Guirado, J. S. (2011) Diversidad vegetal de las yeseras ibe´ricas. El reto de los archipie´lagos eda´ficos para la biología de la conservación (ADIF-Mediterráneo Asesores Consultores, Almería,
- Mota, J. F., Sola, A. J., Dana, E. D., & Jiménez-Sanchez, M. L. (2003). Plant succession in abandoned gypsum quarries in SE Spain. *Phytocoenologia*, 33(1), 13-28.
- Mota, J. F., Sola, A. J., Jiménez-Sánchez, M. L., Pérez-García, F., & Merlo, M. E. (2004). Gypsicolous flora, conservation and restoration of quarries in the southeast of the Iberian Peninsula. *Biodiversity & Conservation*, 13, 1797-1808.
- Mota-Poveda, J. F., Sánchez-Gómez, P., & Guirado-Romero, J. S. (2011). Diversidad Vegetal de las yeseras Ibéricas. El reto de los archipiélagos edáficos para la Biología de la Conservación. *ADIF-Mediterráneo Asesores Consultores, Almería*.
- Muller, C. T., Moore, M. J., Feder, Z., Tiley, H., & Drenovsky, R. E. (2017). Phylogenetic patterns of foliar mineral nutrient accumulation among gypsophiles and their relatives in the Chihuahuan Desert. *American Journal of Botany*, *104*(10), 1442-1450.
- Munné-Bosch, S., & Alegre, L. (2004). Die and let live: leaf senescence contributes to plant survival under drought stress. *Functional Plant Biology*, 31(3), 203-216.
- Myles Hollander and Douglas A. Wolfe (1973), *Nonparametric Statistical Methods*. New York: John Wiley & Sons. Pages 115--120.
- Nardini, A., Gullo, M. A. L., Trifilò, P., & Salleo, S. (2014). The challenge of the Mediterranean climate to plant hydraulics: responses and adaptations. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, *103*, 68-79.
- Naumburg, E., Mata-gonzalez, R., Hunter, R.G. (2005) Phreatophytic Vegetation and Groundwater Fluctuations: A Review of Current Research and Application of Ecosystem Response Modeling with an Emphasis on Great Basin Vegetation. *Environmental Management* 35, 726–740. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-004-0194-7
- Naylor, D., & Coleman-Derr, D. (2018). Drought stress and root-associated bacterial communities. *Frontiers in plant science*, *8*, 2223
- Naylor, Dan, et al. "Drought and host selection influence bacterial community dynamics in the grass root microbiome." *The ISME journal* 11.12 (2017): 2691-2704.
- Neumann, G., & Romheld, V. (2000). The release of root exudates as affected by the plant's physiological status. In *The rhizosphere* (pp. 57-110). CRC press.
- Neumann, G., & Römheld, V. (2012). Rhizosphere chemistry in relation to plant nutrition. In Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants (pp. 347-368). Academic Press.
- Nie, Y. P., Chen, H. S., Wang, K. L., Tan, W., Deng, P. Y., & Yang, J. (2011). Seasonal water use patterns of woody species growing on the continuous dolostone outcrops and nearby thin soils in subtropical China. Plant and soil, 341, 399-412.

- Nilsen, E. T., Sharifi, M. R., Rundel, P. W., Jarrell, W. M., & Virginia, R. A. (1983). Diurnal and seasonal water relations of the desert phreatophyte Prosopis glandulosa (honey mesquite) in the Sonoran Desert of California. *Ecology*, 64(6), 1381-1393.
- Nobel, P. S. (1997). Root distribution and seasonal production in the northwestern Sonoran Desert for a C3 subshrub, a C4 bunchgrass, and a CAM leaf succulent. *American Journal of Botany*, 84(7), 949-955.
- Noguchi, K., & Gel, Y. R. (2010). Combination of Levene-type tests and a finite-intersection method for testing equality of variances against ordered alternatives. *Journal of Nonparametric Statistics*,22(7), 897-913.
- Novák, V., & Vidovič, J. (2003). Transpiration and nutrient uptake dynamics in maize (Zea mays L.). *Ecological Modelling*, *166*(1-2), 99-107.
- Oerter, E. J., & Bowen, G. J. (2019). Spatio-temporal heterogeneity in soil water stable isotopic composition and its ecohydrologic implications in semiarid ecosystems. *Hydrological Processes*, *33*(12), 1724-1738.
- Ogwu, M. C., Kerfahi, D., Song, H., Dong, K., Seo, H., Lim, S., Srinivasan, S., Kim, M. K., Waldman, B., & Adams, J. M. (2019). Changes in soil taxonomic and functional diversity resulting from gamma irradiation. *Scientific Reports* 9, 7894. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-44441-7
- Oksanen, Jari, F. Guillaume Blanchet, Michael Friendly, Roeland Kindt, Pierre Legendre, Dan McGlinn, Peter R. Minchin, R. B. O'Hara, Gavin L. Simpson, Peter Solymos, M. Henry H. Stevens, Eduard Szoecs and Helene Wagner (2020). vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-7. https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=vegan
- Oliveira, R. S., Abrahão, A., Pereira, C., Teodoro, G. S., Brum, M., Alcantara, S., & Lambers, H. (2016). Ecophysiology of campos rupestres plants. *Ecology and conservation of mountaintop grasslands in Brazil*, 227-272.
- Oliveros-Bastidas, A. D. J., Macias, F. A., Fernández, C. C., Marín, D., & Molinillo, J. M. (2009). Root exudates and their relevance to the allelopatic interactions. *Química Nova*, *32*, 198-213.
- Orlowski N, Frede HG, Brüggemann N, Breuer L. (2013). Validation and application of a cryogenic vacuum extraction system for soil and plant water extraction for isotope analysis. J Sens Sens Syst. 2(2):179-193. http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/jsss-2-179-2013
- Orlowski, N., Kraft, P., Pferdmenges, J., & Breuer, L. (2016). Exploring water cycle dynamics by sampling multiple stable water isotope pools in a developed landscape in Germany. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 20(9), 3873-3894.
- Ortiz-Brunel, J. P., Ochoterena, H., Moore, M. J., Aragón-Parada, J., Flores, J., Munguía-Lino, G., ... & Flores-Olvera, H. (2023). Patterns of Richness and Endemism in the Gypsicolous Flora of Mexico. Diversity, 15(4), 522.
- Oshun, J., Dietrich, W. E., Dawson, T. E., & Fung, I. (2016). Dynamic, structured heterogeneity of water isotopes inside hillslopes. *Water Resources Research*, 52(1), 164-189.
- Ossorio, M., Van Driessche, A. E. S., Pérez, P., & García-Ruiz, J. M. (2014). The gypsum-anhydrite paradox revisited. *Chemical Geology*, 386, 16-21.
- Ostroff, A. G. (1964). Conversion of gypsum to anhydrite in aqueous salt solutions. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 28(9), 1363-1372.
- Palacio S, Aitkenhead M, Escudero A, Montserrat-Martí G, Maestro M, Robertson AJ. (2014). Gypsophile chemistry unveiled: Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy provides new insight plant adaptations to gypsum soils. *PLoS One* 9:9doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0107285.
- Palacio S, Azorín J, Montserrat-Martí G, Ferrio JP. (2014) The crystallization water of gypsum rocks is a relevant water source for plants. Nature Communications 5: 4660.
- Palacio S, Cera A, Escudero A, Luzuriaga AL, Sánchez AM, Mota JF, Pérez-Serrano Serrano M, Merlo ME, Martínez-Hernández F, Salmerón-Sánchez E, et al. (2022). Recent and ancient evolutionary events shaped

plant elemental composition of edaphic endemics: a phylogeny-wide analysis of Iberian gypsum plants. New Phytol. 235(6):2406-2423. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.18309

- Palacio S, Montserrat-Martí G, Ferrio JP. (2017). Water use segregation among plants with contrasting root depth and distribution along gypsum hills. J Veg Sci. 28(6):1107-1117. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12570
- Palacio, S., A. Escudero, G. Montserrat-Marti, M. Maestro, R. Milla, and M. J. Albert. (2007). Plants living on gypsum: beyond the specialist model. Annals of botany 99:333-343
- Palacio, S., Johnson, D., Escudero, A., & Montserrat-Martí, G. (2012). Root colonisation by AM fungi differs between gypsum specialist and non-specialist plants: links to the gypsophile behaviour. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 76, 128-132.
- Palacio, S., Maestro, M., & Montserrat-Martí, G. (2007). Seasonal dynamics of non-structural carbohydrates in two species of Mediterranean sub-shrubs with different leaf phenology. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 59(1), 34-42.
- Palacio, S., Montserrat-Martí, G., & Ferrio, J. P. (2017). Water use segregation among plants with contrasting root depth and distribution along gypsum hills. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 28(6), 1107-1117.
- Parsons, R. F. (1976). Gypsophily in plants-a review. American Midland Naturalist, 1-20.
- Parton, W. J., Hartman, M., Ojima, D., & Schimel, D. (1998). DAYCENT and its land surface submodel: description and testing. *Global and planetary Change*, 19(1-4), 35-48.
- Patrick Royston (1995). Remark AS R94: A remark on Algorithm AS 181: The W test for normality. *Applied Statistics*, 44, 547--551. 10.2307/2986146.
- Peguero-Pina, J. J., Vilagrosa, A., Alonso-Forn, D., Ferrio, J. P., Sancho-Knapik, D., & Gil-Pelegrín, E. (2020). Living in drylands: Functional adaptations of trees and shrubs to cope with high temperatures and water scarcity. *Forests*, 11(10), 1028.
- Pelosi, C., Agresti, G., Andaloro, M., Baraldi, P., Pogliani, P., & Santamaria, U. (2013). The rock hewn wall paintings in Cappadocia (Turkey). Characterization of the constituent materials and a chronological overview. E-Preservation Science, 10, 99-108.
- Penna, D., Hopp, L., Scandellari, F., Allen, S. T., Benettin, P., Beyer, M., ... & Kirchner, J. W. (2018). Ideas and perspectives: Tracing terrestrial ecosystem water fluxes using hydrogen and oxygen stable isotopes– challenges and opportunities from an interdisciplinary perspective. *Biogeosciences*, 15(21), 6399-6415.
- Penna, D., Oliviero, O., Assendelft, R., Zuecco, G., van Meerveld, I. H., Anfodillo, T., ... & Dalla Fontana, G. (2013). Tracing the water sources of trees and streams: isotopic analysis in a small pre-alpine catchment. *Procedia Environmental Sciences*, 19, 106-112.
- Pennisi, E. (2004). The secret life of fungi.
- Peñuelas, J., Filella, I., & Terradas, J. (1999). Variability of plant nitrogen and water use in a 100-m transect of a subdesertic depression of the Ebro valley (Spain) characterized by leaf δ13C and δ15N. Acta Oecologica, 20(2), 119-123.
- Peñuelas, J., Sardans, J., Filella, I., Estiarte, M., Llusià, J., Ogaya, R., ... & Terradas, J. (2018). Assessment of the impacts of climate change on Mediterranean terrestrial ecosystems based on data from field experiments and long-term monitored field gradients in Catalonia. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 152, 49-59.
- Peñuelas, J., Terradas, J., & Lloret, F. (2011). Solving the conundrum of plant species coexistence: water in space and time matters most. The New Phytologist, 189(1), 5-8.
- Peralta, A. M. L., Sánchez, A. M., Luzuriaga, A. L., & Escudero, A. (2016). Factors driving species assemblage in Mediterranean soil seed banks: from the large to the fine scale. *Annals of Botany*, *117*(7), 1221-1228.
- Pérez-Ramos, I. M., Volaire, F., Fattet, M., Blanchard, A., & Roumet, C. (2013). Tradeoffs between functional strategies for resource-use and drought-survival in Mediterranean rangeland species. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 87, 126-136.

Persson H, Baitulin IO. 1996. Plant root systems and natural vegetation. Uppsala: Sv. växtgeografiska sällsk.

- Pezzatti, J., Boccard, J., Codesido, S., Gagnebin, Y., Joshi, A., Picard, D., ... & Rudaz, S. (2020). Implementation of liquid chromatography–high resolution mass spectrometry methods for untargeted metabolomic analyses of biological samples: A tutorial. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, *1105*, 28-44.
- Pineda, A., Dicke, M., Pieterse, C. M., & Pozo, M. J. (2013). Beneficial microbes in a changing environment: are they always helping plants to deal with insects?. *Functional Ecology*, 27(3), 574-586.
- Pinheiro J, Bates D, DebRoy S, Sarkar D, R Core Team. (2021). nlme: Linear and Nonlinear Mixed Effects Models. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=nlme
- Poch, R. M., & Verplancke, H. (1997). Penetration resistance of gypsiferous horizons. *European journal of soil science*, 48(3), 535-543.
- Poch, R. M., Artieda, O., & Lebedeva, M. (2018). Gypsic features. In Interpretation of micromorphological features of soils and regoliths (pp. 259-287). Elsevier.
- Porporato, A., Laio, F., Ridolfi, L., Caylor, K. K., & Rodriguez-Iturbe, I. (2003). Soil moisture and plant stress dynamics along the Kalahari precipitation gradient. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 108(D3).
- Porras-Alfaro, A., Muniania, C. N., Hamm, P. S., Torres-Crus, T. J., & Kuske, C. R. (2017). Fungal diversity, community structure and their functional roles in desert soils. *The Biology of Arid Soils*, *1*, 97-122.
- Prater, C., Scott, D. E., Lance, S. L., Nunziata, S. O., Sherman, R., Tomczyk, N., & Jeyasingh, P. D. (2019). Understanding variation in salamander ionomes: A nutrient balance approach. *Freshwater Biology*, 64(2), 294-305.
- Prieto I, Armas C, Pugnaire FI. (2012). Hydraulic lift promotes selective root foraging in nutrient-rich soil patches. Funct Plant Biol. 39(9): 804-812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/fp12070</u>
- Prieto, I., Kikvidze, Z., & Pugnaire, F. I. (2010). Hydraulic lift: soil processes and transpiration in the Mediterranean leguminous shrub *Retama sphaerocarpa* (L.) Boiss. *Plant and Soil*, 329(1), 447-456.
- Puente, M. E., Bashan, Y., Li, C. Y., & Lebsky, V. K. (2004). Microbial populations and activities in the rhizoplane of rock-weathering desert plants. I. Root colonization and weathering of igneous rocks. *Plant Biology*, 6(5), 629-642.
- Pueyo, Y. (2005). Evaluación de los factores ambientales y del uso antrópico como condicionantes de la conservación de la vegetación del sector central de la Depresión del Ebro. *Zaragoza, Spain*.
- Pueyo, Y., & Alados, C. L. (2007). Abiotic factors determining vegetation patterns in a semi-arid Mediterranean landscape: different responses on gypsum and non-gypsum substrates. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 69(3), 490-505.
- Puigdefábregas, J. (2005). The role of vegetation patterns in structuring runoff and sediment fluxes in drylands. *Earth Surface Processes and Landforms: The Journal of the British Geomorphological Research Group*, 30(2), 133-147.
- Purves, D. W., & Turnbull, L. A. (2010). Different but equal: the implausible assumption at the heart of neutral theory. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 79(6), 1215-1225.
- Qader, S. H., Dash, J., Alegana, V. A., Khwarahm, N. R., Tatem, A. J., & Atkinson, P. M. (2021). The role of earth observation in achieving sustainable agricultural production in arid and semi-arid regions of the world. *Remote Sensing*, 13(17), 3382.
- Querejeta, J. I., Ren, W., & Prieto, I. (2021). Vertical decoupling of soil nutrients and water under climate warming reduces plant cumulative nutrient uptake, water-use efficiency and productivity. *New Phytologist.*
- Quirantes, J., (1978). Estudio sedimentológico y estratigráfico del Terciario continental de los Monegros. Instituto Fernando El Católico CSIC Diputación Provincial, Zaragoza
- Quiroga G, Erice G, Aroca R, Chaumont F, Ruiz-Lozano JM. (2017). Enhanceddrought stress tolerance by the arbuscular mycorrhizal symbiosis in a drought-sensitive maize cultivar is related to a broader and

differential regulation of hostplant aquaporins than in a drought-tolerant cultivar. Frontiers in Plant Science8:1–15

- R Core Team (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Rahimpour-Bonab H, Shariatinia Z, Siemann MG. (2007). Origin and geochemistry of Miocene marine evaporites associated with red beds: Great Kavir Basin, Central Iran. Geol. J. 42(1):37–54. https://doi.org/10.1002/gj.1069
- Rai, M., Acharya, D., Singh, A., & Varma, A. (2001). Positive growth responses of the medicinal plants Spilanthes calva and Withania somnifera to inoculation by Piriformospora indica in a field trial. *Mycorrhiza*, 11, 123-128.
- Redtfeldt, R. A., & Davis, S. D. (1996). Physiological and morphological evidence of niche segregation between two co-occurring species of Adenostoma in California chaparral. *Ecoscience*, *3*(3), 290-296. regions. *Ecology*, 86(2), 277-287.
- Reith, Charles C., and Bruce M. Thomson. "Deserts as dumps? The disposal of hazardous materials in arid ecosystems." (1992).
- Rempe DM, Dietrich WE. (2018). Direct observations of rock moisture, a hidden component of the hydrologic cycle. PNAS. 115(11):2664-2669. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1800141115</u>
- Renée Brooks, J., Barnard, H. R., Coulombe, R., & McDonnell, J. J. (2010). Ecohydrologic separation of water between trees and streams in a Mediterranean climate. *Nature Geoscience*, 3(2), 100-104.
- Reynolds, J. F., Maestre, F. T., Kemp, P. R., Stafford-Smith, D. M., & Lambin, E. (2007). Natural and human dimensions of land degradation in drylands: causes and consequences. *Terrestrial ecosystems in a changing world*, 247-257.
- Richards, J. H., & Caldwell, M. M. (1987). Hydraulic lift: substantial nocturnal water transport between soil layers by Artemisia tridentata roots. *Oecologia*, 73, 486-489.
- Rigou, L., Mignard, E., Plassard, C., Arvieu, J. C., & Remy, J. C. (1995). Influence of ectomycorrhizal infection on the rhizosphere pH around roots of maritime pine (Pinus pinaster Soland in Ait.). *New Phytologist*, *130*(1), 141-147.
- Rivas Goday, S., et al. "Aportaciones a la fitosociología hispánica." Anales Inst. Bot. AJ Cavanilles. Vol. 13. 1955.
- Rivas-Goday, S. (1957). Aportaciones a la fitosociología hispánica. Nota II. Comunidades gipsófilas del centro y sudeste de España. Anales del Instituto de Botánica Cavanilles (España), 14, 433-500.
- Rivas-Martínez, S. (1970). Comunidades gipsícolas del centro de España. Anales del Instituto Botanico de Cavanilles, 27, 193-224.
- Rodríguez-Sánchez, M., Ochoterena, H., Pisanty, I., Ezcurra, E., & Flores-Olvera, H. (2022). Gypsum in the desert landscape: Floristic variations within the Cuatro Ciénegas basin in Coahuila, Mexico. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 205, 104828.
- Rollwagen, B. A., & Zasoski, R. J. (1988). Nitrogen source effects on rhizosphere pH and nutrient accumulation by Pacific Northwest conifers. *Plant and Soil*, *105*(1), 79-86.
- Romão, R. L., & Escudero, A. (2005). Gypsum physical soil crusts and the existence of gypsophytes in semi-arid central Spain. *Plant Ecology*, 181, 127-137.
- Ros, M., Hernandez, M. T., & García, C. (2003). Soil microbial activity after restoration of a semiarid soil by organic amendments. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 35(3), 463-469.
- Rossatto, D. R., Silva, L. C. R., Sternberg, L. S. L., & Franco, A. C. (2014). Do woody and herbaceous species compete for soil water across topographic gradients? Evidence for niche partitioning in a Neotropical savanna. *South African Journal of Botany*, 91, 14-18.

- Royston, P. (1995). Remark AS R94: A remark on algorithm AS 181: The W-test for normality. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series C (Applied Statistics)*,44(4), 547-551.
- Rudov A, Mashkour M, Djamali M, Akhani H. 2020. A Review of C₄ Plants in Southwest Asia: An Ecological, Geographical and Taxonomical Analysis of a Region with High Diversity of C₄ Eudicots. Front Plant Sci. 11:546518. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.546518</u>
- Ruiz, J. M., López-Cantarero, I., Rivero, R. M., & Romero, L. (2003). Sulphur phytoaccumulation in plant species characteristic of gypsiferous soils. *International Journal of Phytoremediation*, 5(3), 203-210.
- Russell V. L (2016). Least-Squares Means: The R Package Ismeans. Journal of Statistical Software, 69(1), 1-33.
- Ruth, B., Khalvati, M., & Schmidhalter, U. (2011). Quantification of mycorrhizal water uptake via high-resolution on-line water content sensors. *Plant and soil*, 342, 459-468.
- Ryel RJ, Ivans CY, Peek MS, Leffler AJ. (2008). Functional differences in soil water pools: a new perspective on plant water use in water-limited ecosystems. *Progress in Botany* 69: 397–723
- Ryel, R. J., Leffler, A. J., Ivans, C., Peek, M. S., & Caldwell, M. M. (2010). Functional differences in water-use patterns of contrasting life forms in Great Basin steppelands. *Vadose Zone Journal*, *9*(3), 548-560.
- S. Nardi, E. Sessi, D. Pizzeghello, A. Sturaro, R. Rella, and G. Parvoli, "Biological activity of soil organic matter mobilized by root exudates," Chemosphere 46, 1075–1081 (2002).
- Saiz, H., Alados, C. L., & Pueyo, Y. (2014). Plant–plant spatial association networks in gypsophilous communities: the influence of aridity and grazing and the role of gypsophytes in its structure. *Web Ecology*, 14(1), 39-49.
- Sakamoto, A., and Murata, N. 2001. The use of bacterial choline oxidase, a glycinebetaine-synthesizing enzyme, to create stress resistant transgenic plants. Plant Physiol. 125:180-188.
- Salmerón-Sánchez, E., Martínez-Nieto, M. I., Martínez-Hernández, F., Garrido-Becerra, J. A., Mendoza-Fernández, A. J., de Carrasco, C. G., ... & Mota, J. F. (2014). Ecology, genetic diversity and phylogeography of the Iberian endemic plant Jurinea pinnata (Lag.) DC.(Compositae) on two special edaphic substrates: dolomite and gypsum. *Plant and Soil*, *374*, 233-250.
- Salvucci, G. D., & Entekhabi, D. (1995). Hillslope and climatic controls on hydrologic fluxes. *Water Resources Research*, *31*(7), 1725-1739.
- Sánchez, A. M., Luzuriaga, A. L., Peralta, A. L., & Escudero, A. (2014). Environmental control of germination in semi-arid Mediterranean systems: the case of annuals on gypsum soils. Seed science research, 24(3), 247-256.
- Sánchez-Martín, R., Querejeta, J. I., Voltas, J., Ferrio, J. P., Prieto, I., Verdú, M., & Montesinos-Navarro, A. (2021). Plant's gypsum affinity shapes responses to specific edaphic constraints without limiting responses to other general constraints. *Plant and Soil*, 462, 297-309.
- Sánchez-Martín, R., Querejeta, J. I., Voltas, J., Ferrio, J. P., Prieto, I., Verdú, M., & Montesinos-Navarro, A. (2021). Plant's gypsum affinity shapes responses to specific edaphic constraints without limiting responses to other general constraints. *Plant and Soil*, 462(1), 297-309.
- Santner, J., Larsen, M., Kreuzeder, A., & Glud, R. N. (2015). Two decades of chemical imaging of solutes in sediments and soils–a review. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 878, 9-42.
- Sasse J, Martinoia E, Northen T. (2018). Feed your friends: do plant exudates shapethe root microbiome *Trends in Plant Science*23:25–41
- Schachtschneider, K., & February, E. C. (2010). The relationship between fog, floods, groundwater and tree growth along the lower Kuiseb River in the hyperarid Namib. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 74(12), 1632-1637.
- Schechter, S. P., & Bruns, T. D. (2008). Serpentine and non-serpentine ecotypes of Collinsia sparsiflora associate with distinct arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal assemblages. *Molecular Ecology*, 17(13), 3198-3210.
- Schleucher, J. (2020). Intramolecular deuterium distributions and plant growth conditions. In *Stable Isotopes* (pp. 63-73). Garland Science.

- Schmidt, J. E., Lowry, C., & Gaudin, A. C. (2018). An optimized rhizobox protocol to visualize root growth and responsiveness to localized nutrients. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)*, (140), e58674.
- Schreiber, B. C., & Tabakh, M. E. (2000). Deposition and early alteration of evaporites. *Sedimentology*, 47, 215-238.
- Schwinning S. 2010. Ecohydrology Bearings Invited Commentary, The ecohydrology of roots in rocks. Ecohydrol. 3:238–245. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.134
- Schwinning, S., & Sala, O. E. (2004). Hierarchy of responses to resource pulses in arid and semi-arid ecosystems. *Oecologia*, 141, 211-220.
- Serrano, L., & Serrano, L. (1996). Influence of groundwater exploitation for urban water supply on temporary ponds from the Donana National Park (SW Spain). *Journal of Environmental Management*, 46(3), 229-238.
- Seyfried, M. S., Schwinning, S. U. S. A. N. N. E., Walvoord, M. A., Pockman, W. T., Newman, B. D., Jackson, R. B., & Phillips, F. M. (2005). Ecohydrological control of deep drainage in arid and semiarid
- Shakya, M., Gottel, N., Castro, H., Yang, Z. K., Gunter, L., Labbé, J., ... & Schadt, C. W. (2013). A multifactor analysis of fungal and bacterial community structure in the root microbiome of mature Populus deltoides trees. *PloS one*, *8*(10), e76382.
- Silvertown J, Araya Y, Gowing D. (2015). Hydrological niches in terrestrial plant communities: A review. J Ecol. 103(1):93-108. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12332
- Silvertown J. (2004). Plant coexistence and the niche. Trends Ecol Evol. 19(11):605-611. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.09.003
- Silvertown, J., Araya, Y., & Gowing, D. (2015). Hydrological niches in terrestrial plant communities: a review. *Journal of Ecology*, 103(1), 93-108.
- Silvertown, J., Dodd, M. E., Gowing, D. J., & Mountford, J. O. (1999). Hydrologically defined niches reveal a basis for species richness in plant communities. *Nature*, 400(6739), 61-63.
- Sisó, S., Camarero, J., & Gil-Pelegrín, E. (2001). Relationship between hydraulic resistance and leaf morphology in broadleaf Quercus species: a new interpretation of leaf lobation. *Trees*, *15*, 341-345.
- Smirnova OV, Zaugolnova LB, Ermakova IM. 1976. Cenopopulations of Plants: Basic Concepts and Structure. Moscow: Nauka.
- Smith DM, Jarvis PG, Odongo JC. (1997). Sources of water used by trees and millet in Sahelian windbreak systems. J Hydrol 198:140–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-1694(96)03311-2</u>
- Smith, B. R., & Sweett, F. (1971). The crystallization of calcium sulfate dihydrate. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, *37*(3), 612-618.
- Smith, S. E., & Read, D. J. (2010). Mycorrhizal symbiosis. Academic press.
- Smith, S. E., Facelli, E., Pope, S., & Andrew Smith, F. (2010). Plant performance in stressful environments: interpreting new and Fungi stablished knowledge of the roles of arbuscular mycorrhizas. *Plant and soil*, *326*(1), 3-20.
- Smith, W. K. (1978). Temperatures of desert plants: another perspective on the adaptability of leaf size. *Science*, 201(4356), 614-616.
- Sokolova, T. A. (2020). Low-molecular-weight organic acids in soils: sources, composition, concentrations, and functions: a review. *Eurasian Soil Science*, *53*(5), 580-594.
- Stock BC, Jackson AL, Ward EJ, Parnell AC, Phillips DL, Semmens BX (2018). "Analyzing mixing systems using a new generation of Bayesian tracer mixing models." *PeerJ*, 6, e5096
- Stoll, P.& Weiner, J. (2000) A neighbourhood view of interactions among individual plants. The Geometry of Ecological Interactions: Simplifying Spatial Complexity eds U. Dieckmann R. Law & J.A.J. Metz), pp. 11– 27. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Stowe, L. G., & Brown, J. L. (1981). A geographic perspective on the ecology of compound leaves. *Evolution*, 818-821.

- Suriyagoda, L., De Costa, W. A. J. M., & Lambers, H. (2014). Growth and phosphorus nutrition of rice when inorganic fertiliser application is partly replaced by straw under varying moisture availability in sandy and clay soils. *Plant and soil*, 384, 53-68.
- Tang, Y., Gao, J., Liu, C., Chen, X., & Zhao, Y. (2019). Dehydration pathways of gypsum and the rehydration mechanism of soluble anhydrite γ-CaSO4. *ACS omega*, 4(4), 7636-7642
- Tardieu, F. (1996). Drought perception by plants do cells of droughted plants experience water stress?. *Plant growth regulation*, 20, 93-104.
- Taylor SH, RipleyBS, Martin T, De-Wet LA, Woodward FI, Osborne CP. (2014). Physiological advantages of C₄ grasses in the field: a comparative experiment demonstrating the importance of drought. Glob Chang Biol. 20(6):1992-2003. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12498
- Teixeira WG, Sinclair B, Schroth H, Schroth G. 2003. Soil water. In: Schroth G, Sinclair F, editors. Trees, crops and soil fertility. concepts and research methods. Wallingford: CABI Publishing; p. 209–234. http://dx.doi.org/10.1079/9780851995939.0209
- Tejada, M., Garcia, C., Gonzalez, J. L., & Hernandez, M. T. (2006). Use of organic amendment as a strategy for saline soil remediation: influence on the physical, chemical and biological properties of soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 38(6), 1413-1421.
- Teodoro, G. S., Lambers, H., Nascimento, D. L., de Britto Costa, P., Flores-Borges, D. N., Abrahão, A., ... & Oliveira, R. S. (2019). Specialized roots of Velloziaceae weather quartzite rock while mobilizing phosphorus using carboxylates. Functional Ecology, 33(5), 762-773.
- Ter Braak, C. J. F., & Smilauer, P. (2002). CANOCO Reference Manual and CanoDraw for Windows User's Guide: Software for Canonical Community Ordination (version 4.5). (Microcomputer Power). www.canoco.com. https://edepot.wur.nl/405659
- Terradas, J., Penuelas, J., & Lloret, F. (2009). The fluctuation niche in plants. International Journal of Ecology, 2009.
- Tiemuerbieke B, Min, XJ, Zang YX, Xing P, Ma JY, Sun W. (2018). Water use patterns of co-occurring C₃ and C₄ shrubs in the Gurbantonggut desert in northwestern China. Sci Total Environ. 634:341-354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.03.307
- Tilman, D. (1982). Resource competition and community structure (No. 17). Princeton university press.
- Torrecillas, E., del Mar Alguacil, M., Roldán, A., Díaz, G., Montesinos-Navarro, A., & Torres, M. P. (2014). Modularity reveals the tendency of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to interact differently with generalist and specialist plant species in gypsum soils. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 80(17), 5457-5466.
- Tritschler, U., Kellermeier, M., Debus, C., Kempter, A., & Cölfen, H. (2015). A simple strategy for the synthesis of well-defined bassanite nanorods. *CrystEngComm*, *17*(20), 3772-3776.
- Ulrich, D. E., Sevanto, S., Ryan, M., Albright, M. B., Johansen, R. B., & Dunbar, J. M. (2019). Plant-microbe interactions before drought influence plant physiological responses to subsequent severe drought. *Scientific reports*, 9(1), 1-10.
- van den Boogaart, K. Gerald, Raimon Tolosana-Delgado and Matevz Bren (2022). compositions: Compositional Data Analysis. R package version 2.0-4. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=compositions
- Van Der Heijden, M. G., Bardgett, R. D., & Van Straalen, N. M. (2008). The unseen majority: soil microbes as drivers of plant diversity and productivity in terrestrial ecosystems. *Ecology letters*, 11(3), 296-310.
- van Der Heijden, M. G., Martin, F. M., Selosse, M. A., & Sanders, I. R. (2015). Mycorrhizal ecology and evolution: the past, the present, and the future. *New phytologist*, 205(4), 1406-1423.
- Van Driessche AES, Benning LG, Rodriguez-Blanco JD, Ossorio M, Bots P, Garcia-Ruiz JM (2012) The role and implications of bassanite as a stable precursor phase to gypsum precipitation. *Science* 336:69–72

- Van Driessche, A. E., Stawski, T. M., Benning, L. G., & Kellermeier, M. (2017). Calcium sulfate precipitation throughout its phase diagram. New Perspectives on Mineral Nucleation and Growth: From Solution Precursors to Solid Materials, 227-256.
- Van 't Hoff, J.H., Armstrong, E.F., Hinrichsen, W., Weigert, F., Just, G., (1903). Gypsum and anhydrite. *Phys. Chem* 45, 259-306
- Varma, A., Verma, S., Sudha, Sahay, N., Bütehorn, B., & Franken, P. (1999). Piriformospora indica, a cultivable plant-growth-promoting root endophyte. *Applied and environmental Microbiology*, 65(6), 2741-2744.
- Vásquez-Méndez, R., Ventura-Ramos, E., Oleschko, K., Hernández-Sandoval, L., & Domínguez-Cortázar, M. A. (2011). Soil erosion processes in semiarid areas: the importance of native vegetation. *INTECH Open Access Publisher*, *1*, 25-41.
- Veach, A. M., & Zeglin, L. H. (2020). Historical drought affects microbial population dynamics and activity during soil drying and re-wet. *Microbial ecology*, 79(3), 662-674.
- Vergara, C., Araujo, K. E. C., Urquiaga, S., Schultz, N., Balieiro, F. D. C., Medeiros, P. S., ... & Zilli, J. E. (2017). Dark septate endophytic fungi help tomato to acquire nutrients from ground plant material. *Front Microbiol* 8.
- Verheye, W. H. & Boyadgiev, T. G. (1997). Evaluating the land use potential of gypsiferous soils from field pedogenic characteristics. *Soil Use and Management* 13, 97–103.
- Verhulst, J., Montana, C., Mandujano, M. C., & Franco, M. (2008). Demographic mechanisms in the coexistence of two closely related perennials in a fluctuating environment. *Oecologia*, *156*, 95-105.
- Vítek, P., Ascaso, C., Artieda, O., & Wierzchos, J. (2016). Raman imaging in geomicrobiology: endolithic phototrophic microorganisms in gypsum from the extreme sun irradiation area in the Atacama Desert. *Analytical and bioanalytical chemistry*, 408, 4083-4092.
- Volaire, F. (2018). A unified framework of plant adaptive strategies to drought: crossing scales and disciplines. *Global change biology*, 24(7), 2929-2938.
- Voltas, J., Lucabaugh, D., Chambel, M. R., & Ferrio, J. P. (2015). Intraspecific variation in the use of water sources by the circum-Mediterranean conifer *Pinus halepensis*. *New Phytologist*, 208(4), 1031-1041.
- Wang ZY, Hou J, Qu ZQ, Guo JY, Li JR. (2017). Root distribution of 430 plants in temperate grassland of northern China. Appl Ecol Environ Res. 15(3):1625-1651. http://dx.doi.org/10.15666/aeer/1503_16251651
- Wang, L., d'Odorico, P., Evans, J. P., Eldridge, D. J., McCabe, M. F., Caylor, K. K., & King, E. G. (2012). Dryland ecohydrology and climate change: critical issues and technical advances. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 16(8), 2585-2603.
- Wang, J., Fu, B., Lu, N., & Zhang, L. (2017). Seasonal variation in water uptake patterns of three plant species based on stable isotopes in the semi-arid Loess Plateau. *Science of the Total Environment*, 609, 27-37.
- Wang, N., Wang, L., Zhu, K., Hou, S., Chen, L., Mi, D., ... & Guo, J. H. (2019). Plant root exudates are involved in Bacillus cereus AR156 mediated biocontrol against Ralstonia solanacearum. Frontiers in microbiology, 10, 98.
- Warwick B. Dunn, Nigel J. C. Bailey and Helen E. Johnson (2005). Measuring the metabolome: current analytical technologies. DOI: 10.1039/B418288J (Critical Review) Analyst, 130, 606-625.
- Way DA, Katul GG, Manzoni S, Vico G. (2014). Increasing water use efficiency along the C₃ to C₄ evolutionary pathway: a stomatal optimization perspective. J Exp Bot. 65(13):3683–3693. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/eru205
- Welles, S. R., & Funk, J. L. (2021). Patterns of intraspecific trait variation along an aridity gradient suggest both drought escape and drought tolerance strategies in an invasive herb. *Annals of botany*, *127*(4), 461-471.
- Wenzel, W. W., Wieshammer, G., Fitz, W. J., & Puschenreiter, M. (2001). Novel rhizobox design to assess rhizosphere characteristics at high spatial resolution. *Plant and Soil*, 237, 37-45.

- Wertin TM, Reed SC, Belnap J. (2015). C₃ and C₄ plant responses to increased temperatures and altered monsoonal precipitation in a cool desert on the Colorado Plateau, USA. Oecologia. 177:997–1013. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-015-3235-4
- West AG, Dawson TE, February EC, Midgley GF, Bond WJ, Aston TL. (2012). Diverse functional responses to drought in a Mediterranean-type shrubland in South Africa. New Phytol. 195(2):396-407. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04170.x
- West AG, Patrickson SJ,Ehleringer JR. (2006). Water extraction times for plant and soil materials used in stable isotope analysis. Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry: An International Journal Devoted to the Rapid Dissemination of Up-to-the-Minute. Research in Mass Spectrometry 20: 1317–1321.
- White, C. S., Moore, D. I., & Craig, J. A. (2004). Regional-scale drought increases potential soil fertility in semiarid grasslands. *Biology and fertility of Soils*, 40, 73-78.
- White, D.C., Stair, J.O. and Ringelberg, D.B. (1996) Quantitative comparisons of in situ microbial diversity by signature biomarker analysis. J Ind Microbiol 17, 185–196.
- White, J. C., & Smith, W. K. (2015). Seasonal variation in water sources of the riparian tree species Acer negundo and Betula nigra, southern Appalachian foothills, USA. *Botany*, 93(8), 519-528.
- White, J. W., Cook, E. R., & Lawrence, J. R. (1985). The DH ratios of sap in trees: Implications for water sources and tree ring DH ratios. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 49(1), 237-246.
- White, P.J., Broadley, M.R., 2003.Calcium in Plants. Ann Bot 92,487–511.https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcg164
- Whitham, T. G., Bailey, J. K., Schweitzer, J. A., Shuster, S. M., Bangert, R. K., LeRoy, C. J., ... & Wooley, S. C. (2006). A framework for community and ecosystem genetics: from genes to ecosystems. *Nature Reviews Genetics*, 7(7), 510-523.
- Wickham H. (2016). Programming with ggplot2. In: Wickham JB, editor. ggplot2. Switzerland: Springer Cham; 241–253. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4
- Willers C. Van Rensburg PJJ. Claassens S (2015) Phospholipid fatty acid profiling of microbial communities a review of interpretations and recent applications. J Appl Microbiol 119:1207–1218
- Williams, A., & de Vries, F. T. (2020). Plant root exudation under drought: implications for ecosystem functioning. *New Phytologist*, 225(5), 1899-1905.
- Wilson JB. 2011. The twelve theories of co-existence in plant communities: The doubtful, the important and the unexplored. J Veg Sci. 22(1):184-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2010.01226.x</u>
- Witkamp, G. J., Van der Eerden, J. P., & Van Rosmalen, G. M. (1990). Growth of gypsum: I. Kinetics. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 102(1-2), 281-289.
- Wright, I. J., & Westoby, M. (2002). Leaves at low versus high rainfall: coordination of structure, lifespan and physiology. *New phytologist*, *155*(3), 403-416.
- Wu X, Zheng XJ, Yin XW, Yue YM, Liu R, Xu GQ, Li Y. (2019). Seasonal variation in the groundwater dependency of two dominant woody species in a desert region of Central Asia. Plant Soil. 444(1):39-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-019-04251-2</u>
- Wu Y, Zhou H, Zheng, XJ, Li Y, Tang LS. (2014). Seasonal changes in the water use strategies of three co-occurring desert shrubs. Hydrol Process. 28:6265–6275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.10114</u>
- Xia, J. H., & Roberts, J. K. (1994). Improved cytoplasmic pH regulation, increased lactate efflux, and reduced cytoplasmic lactate levels are biochemical traits expressed in root tips of whole maize seedlings acclimated to a low-oxygen environment. *Plant Physiology*, *105*(2), 651-657.
- Xu H, Li Y, Xu G, Zou T. (2007). Ecophysiological response and morphological adjustment of two Central Asian desert shrubs towards variation in summer precipitation. Plant Cell Environ. 30(4):399-409. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.2006.001626.x
- Xu H, Li Y. (2006). Water-use strategy of three central Asian desert shrubs and their responses to rain pulse events. Plant Soil. 285(1):5–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-005-5108-9</u>

Xu, H., & Zwiazek, J. J. (2020). Fungal aquaporins in ectomycorrhizal root water transport. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 302.

- Yan, F., Zhu, Y., Muller, C., Zörb, C., & Schubert, S. (2002). Adaptation of H+-pumping and plasma membrane H+ ATPase activity in proteoid roots of white lupin under phosphate deficiency. *Plant physiology*, 129(1), 50-63.
- Yechieli, Y., & Wood, W. W. (2002). Hydrogeologic processes in saline systems: playas, sabkhas, and saline lakes. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 58(3-4), 343-365.
- Yim, B., Winkelmann, T., Ding, G.-C., & Smalla, K. (2015). Different bacterial communities in heat and gamma irradiation treated replant disease soils revealed by 16S rRNA gene analysis – contribution to improved aboveground apple plant growth? *Frontiers in Microbiology* 6, 1224. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.01224
- Yu, H., Shao, W., Xu, G., Xie, N., Yang, X., Gao, D., & Si, P. (2023). Soil amendment with sorbitol and mannitol changes the soil microbial community and its enzymatic activities. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 1-20.
- Yuste, J. C., Penuelas, J., Estiarte, M., GARCIA-MAS, J., Mattana, S., Ogaya, R., ... & Sardans, J. (2011). Drought-resistant fungi control soil organic matter decomposition and its response to temperature. *Global Change Biology*, 17(3), 1475-1486.
- Zhang, H., Murzello, C., Sun, Y., Kim, M. S., Xie, X., Jeter, R. M., ... & Paré, P. W. (2010). Choline and osmotic-stress tolerance induced in Arabidopsis by the soil microbe Bacillus subtilis (GB03). *Molecular plant-microbe interactions*, 23(8), 1097-1104.
- Zhang, L.X., M. Gao, S.Q. Li, S.X. Li and Z.S. Liang. (2011). Modulation of plant growth, water status and antioxidantive system of two maize (Zea mays L.) cultivars induced by exogenous glycinebetaine under long term mild drought stress. Pak. J. Bot., 43(3): 1587-1594.
- Zhang, S., Cui, S., Gong, X., Chang, L., Jia, S., Yang, X., Wu, D., & Zhang, X. (2016). Effects of gamma irradiation on soil biological communities and C and N pools in a clay loam soil. *Applied Soil Ecology* 108, 352–360.
- Zhang, Y., & Belnap, J. (2015). Growth responses of five desert plants as influenced by biological soil crusts from a temperate desert, China. *Ecological Research*, *30*, 1037-1045.
- Zhao, Y., & Wang, L. (2020). Assessing the" two water worlds" hypothesis by stable isotope method: Progress and prospect. Ying Yong Sheng tai xue bao= *The Journal of Applied Ecology*, 31(4), 1417-1424.
- Zhu, S. G., Cheng, Z. G., Wang, J., Gong, D. S., Ullah, F., Tao, H. Y., ... & Xiong, Y. C. (2023). Soil phosphorus availability and utilization are mediated by plant facilitation via rhizosphere interactions in an intercropping system. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 142, 126679.
- Zia, R., Nawaz, M. S., Siddique, M. J., Hakim, S., & Imran, A. (2021). Plant survival under drought stress: Implications, adaptive responses, and integrated rhizosphere management strategy for stress mitigation. *Microbiological research*, 242, 126626.
- Zong, Ning, Peili Shi, and Xi Chai. "Effects of warming and nitrogen addition on nutrient resorption efficiency in an alpine meadow on the northern Tibetan Plateau." *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 64.4 (2018): 482-490.
- Zwieniecki, M. A., & Newton, M. (1996). Seasonal pattern of water depletion from soil-rock profiles in a Mediterranean climate in southwestern Oregon. *Canadian journal of forest research*, 26(8), 1346-1352.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

CHAPTER 1. Disentangling water sources in a gypsum plant community. Gypsum crystallization water is a key source for shallow-rooted plants



Fig. S1. δ^2 H and δ^{18} O composition of the xylem sap of the plant species and eight different water sources. Water sources include gypsum crystallization water ("Crystal") and free water ("Free") in the soil at different depths. 10 and 20 cm deep soil was collected under the plants and deeper soil was collected from the profiles. "med" represents the mean composition of the water extracted from the soil at 30 and 40 cm deep, and "deepsoil" represents a mean composition of the soil from 50 to 100 cm deep. Grey points are for shallow rooted plants and black points for deep rooted plants. Groundwater is also represented. LMWL: local meteoric water line



Figure S2. Summer water content in the first 10 and 20 cm of the soil. Grey points show values for the water underneath the plants and black triangles the values in the profiles (bare soil).



Figure S3 Isotopic composition of the free water in the bare soil up to 50 cm deep, obtained from the soil profiles (empty diamonds) and isotopic composition of the xylem of shallow rooted plants in summer (filled circles). The colour scale of the points represents gypsum water contribution in the species xylem sap according to the MixSIAR model. Lighter blue for larger contribution and darker blue for smaller contribution. The regression lines show the different slopes of each group of isotopic data (xylem sap of the plants; and soil water).


Figure S4. Results from Bayesian stable isotope mixing models showing the estimated contribution of shallow free water (10 - 20 cm), deep free water (50 - 100 cm), groundwater and gypsum crystallization water (all depths combined) to the xylem water of 20 dominant species coexisting in a gypsum hill in NE Spain. The first six species were deep-rooted, and the following 14 were shallow-rooted. Gypsovag species names are typed in black, those of gypsophyles are in grey.



Figure S5. Results from Bayesian stable isotope mixing models showing the contribution of seven different water pools to the xylem water of plants, analysed separately for deep- and shallow-rooted species in each season. Percentages show the total contribution of gypsum crystallization water (crystal), free soil water and groundwater to the xylem of the shallow and deep rooted species, in spring and summer.



Figure S6. Spring and summer isotopic values of $\delta^2 H \delta^{18} O$ of free water in the soil underneath plants (boxes) and mean values for the xylem water of each species (diamonds). Boxes indicate the mean per species for the two soil depths analysed: 0-10 and 10-20 cm (N = 10 replicates), plus the upper and lower quartiles, and whiskers show maximum and minimum values. Darker boxes denote deep-rooted species; light grey boxes are shallow-rooted plants. Dashed line indicates groundwater values.

Table S1. Water isotopic values of composite monthly samples of precipitation in Zaragoza in the hydrological year 2017-2018. As a reference, long-term means (1981-2010 for precipitation; 2000-2016 for isotopes) are shown between brackets. Isotope values were contributed by the REVIP (Red de Vigilancia de Isótopos en Precipitación), managed by CEDEX (Centro de Estudios de Técnicas Aplicadas del Centro de Estudios y Experimentación de Obras Públicas), in collaboration with AEMET (Agencia Estatal de Meteorología). Meteorological data were provided by AEMET OpenData (https://opendata.aemet.es/). It should be noted that precipitation recorded in August occurred after sampling.

Date	Precipitation (mm)	δ ² Η (‰)	δ ¹⁸ Ο (‰)
10/2017	4 (36)	-21.40 (-42.56)	-2.29 (-6.21)
11/2017	1 (30)	-5.84 (-61.15)	2.49 (-8.89)
12/2017	8 (21)	-46.96 (-51.55)	-6.19 (-7.49)
01/2018	48 (21)	-93.22 (-60.15)	-12.68 (-8.32)
02/2018	31 (22)	-69.82 (-61.41)	-10.47 (-8.46)
03/2018	38 (19)	-57.36 (-43.16)	-7.44 (-6.40)
04/2018	109 (39)	-111.33 (-39.93)	-14.81 (-5.85)
05/2018	82 (44)	-34.79 (-31.47)	-4.97 (-4.70)
06/2018	11 (26)	-25.98 (-31.27)	-3.09 (-4.42)
07/2018	47 (17)	-29.34 (-24.60)	-4.39 (-3.60)
08/2018	66 (17)	-25.63 (-22.68)	-4.37 (-3.56)
09/2018	18 (30)	-20.53 (-30.62)	-3.61 (-4.71)

Table S2. Statistics of GLMM analyzing the effects of the root depth, affinity for gypsum soils (gypsophily), season and their interaction on the isotopic composition ($\delta^{18}O$, $\delta^{2}H$, D-excess) of the xylem water of plants. Species, family and species nested within family were included as random terms. *F-ratios* and *p-values* are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at $\alpha < 0.05$.

Factor	δ ² H (‰)		δ ¹⁸ O (‰)		D excess (‰)	
	F	р	F	р	F	р
Gypsophily	0.65	0.434	2.81	0.113	3.06	0.100
Rootdepth	0.10	0.333	3.86	0.070	6.88	0.021
Season	606.82	<0.001	305.50	<0.001	48.27	<0.001
Gypsophily:rootdepth	0.55	0.476	1.25	0.285	0.77	0.398
Gypsophilly:season	1.62	0.205	0.03	0.873	1.33	0.251
Rootdepth:season	23.95	<0.001	17.69	<0.001	6.03	0.015
Gypsophily:rootdepth:season	0.09	0.759	0.08	0.774	0.50	0.480

Table S3. Results of GLMMs analyzing the effects of root depth, affinity for gypsum soils (gypsophily) and their interaction on the isotopic composition ($\delta^{18}O$, $\delta^{2}H$, D-excess) of the xylem water of plants in spring and summer. Species, family and species nested within family were included as random terms. *F-ratios* and *p-values* are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at $\alpha < 0.05$.

		δ ² H(%))	δ ¹⁸ O(‰)		$\delta^{18}O(\%)$ D-excess	
		F	р	F	р	F	р
Spring	Gypsophily	1.22	0.287	1.62	0.222	0.82	0.377
	Rootdepth	0.25	0.628	0.00	0.981	2.47	0.138
	Gypsophily x rootdepth	1.00	0.341	0.97	0.349	0.20	0.666
Summer	Gypsophily	0.09	0.768	1.48	0.244	1.81	0.200
	Rootdepth	4.61	0.049	9.22	0.010	5.73	0.032
	Gypsophily x rootdepth	0.25	0.626	0.71	0.419	0.49	0.499

Table S4. Results of GLMMs analyzing the effects of root depth in the isotopic composition of the soil water underneath the plants. Different analyses were run for each isotope and season (two levels: spring and summer). Models included taxonomic family and species nested within family. *F* ratios and *p* values are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at $\alpha < 0.05$

Season	Factor	Isotope	F	p-value
Spring	Gypsophily	$\delta^2 H$	0.51	0.487
		$\delta^{18}O$	0.38	0.547
	Roothdepth	$\delta^2 H$	0.87	0.365
		$\delta^{18}O$	0.88	0.364
	interaction	$\delta^2 H$	3.52	0.086
		$\delta^{18}O$	3.59	0.084
Summer	Gypsophily	$\delta^2 H$	0.13	0.727
		δ^{18} O	2.08	0.149
	Rootdepth	$\delta^2 H$	0.00	0.949
	-	$\delta^{18}O$	0.47	0.501
	interaction	$\delta^2 H$	2.79	0.121
		$\delta^{18}O$	1.30	0.275

CHAPTER 2. Ecohydrological niche segregation among desert shrubs in a gypsum-calcareous formation (NW Iran)

Methods S1. Comparison of the isotopic composition of the xylem sap of *Anabasis* species in April and May.

Results for the analysis of the differences in the composition of the xylem sap between April and May in *Anabasis* species (species as a random factor, using *lmer* function)

As indicated in the table above differences among spring samplings were not significant and, consequently, we used April samples for all species as representative of spring conditions.

	Factor	Isotope	р	F
Month		$\delta^2 H$	0.617	0.26
		δ^{18} O	0.425	0.67

Methods S2. Bayesian Mixing Model result for the alternative standard deviation of the "deep water source" considered as the analytical error (0.1 for ¹⁸O and 0.4 for ²H)



Methods S2. April and August estimated contribution of each combined source to the water xylem sap of the species. Deep water source standard deviation considered by the Bayesian Mixing Models as the analytical error. **Supplementary Table 1.** Gypsum content of different plots sampled in the Upper Red Formation (NW Iran). Plots number 7, 8 and 9 correspond to the studied hill where plants sampling was performed. The oven-drying method was used to measure the percentage of gypsum (Porta, 1998). In this method, the weight of each empty crucible was measured, then approximately 2 grams of the homogenized soil samples were transferred into the crucibles, and the crucibles with the soil were weighed again. Gypsum mineral was added to one of the crucibles as a control sample. The samples were placed in an oven at a temperature of 50 degrees Celsius for at least four hours. After this period, the samples were weighed again. In the next step, the crucibles were placed in an oven at a temperature of 105 degrees Celsius for at least four hours, and after this time, they were weighed again.

Plot	Cyncum %	Plot number	Cyncum %
number	Gypsum %	r fot number	Gypsum 70
1	13.71	20	39.22
2	91.09	21	81.95
3	86.70	22	94.12
4	15.09	23	93.40
5	58.82	24	91.00
6	11.03	25	71.29
7	7.92	26	91.43
8	15.24	27	93.66
9	25.00	28	69.90
10	23.76	29	83.02
11	3.96	30	79.21
12	74.51	31	88.46
13	74.51	32	91.87
14	11.37	33	86.27
15	37.58	34	71.03
16	11.76	35	15.76
17	3.76	36	67.33
18	11.37	37	34.78
19	15.53	38	43.35

Species	Month	Mean δ ² H	sd SD	Mean	Sd SD δ ¹⁸ O
			$\delta^2 H$	$\delta^{18}O$	
Anabasis_ calcarea	April	-41.83	4.11	-1.64	0.25
	May	-52.38	7.76	0.63	6.91
	August	-66.26	7.32	-6.18	2.50
Anabasis_ eugeniae	April	-52.44	3.32	-4.64	1.01
	May	-47.86	5.54	-4.00	1.61
	August	-44.82	3.83	-0.02	1.64
Atraphaxis_ suaedifolia	April	-42.73	2.87	-0.89	3.52
	August	-58.13	4.51	-2.40	0.40
Caroxylon_gemmascens	April	-44.8	8.10	-1.35	1.56
	August	-43.88	5.23	-0.10	1.18
Oreosalsola_montana	April	-57.3	12.87	-5.14	1.46
	August	-57.65	6.05	-5.02	1.66

Supplementary Table 2. Mean values of the species xylem sap isotopic composition for the different seasons sampled.

Supplementary Table 3. ANOVA results for linear models showing significant changes in the isotopic composition of the water xylem of species and type of water source between the sampled months, analysed separately. *F-ratios* and *p-values* are shown, significant differences in bold type (~Figure3).

	δ ² Η (‰)		δ ¹⁸ O (‰)	
Species	F-ratio	p-value	F-ratio	p-value
Anabasis calcarea	27.049	<0.001	9.19	0.023
Anabasis eugeniae	11.29	<0.001	28.64	<0.001
Atraphaxis suaedifolia	33.18	<0.001	0.7302	0.426
Caroxylon gemmascens	0.04	0.854	1.65	0.247
Oreosalsola montana	0.00	0.964	0.01	0.934
Water sources				
Free	20.77	<0.001	33.16	<0.001
Crystallization	22.91	<0.001	3.39	0.070

Supplementary Table 4. Summarized output statistics ("credible intervals") of Bayesian Mixing Models showing the mean and standard deviation (SD); the median (percentile 50%), and percentiles 2,5% and 97.5%, which can be interpreted as the confidence interval (95%) for each source and species in both sampling moths.

APRIL						
Source	Species	Mean	SD	2.5%	50%	97.5%
Crystal_10	Anabasis_calcarea	0.168	0.070	0.030	0.168	0.303
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.064	0.040	0.008	0.058	0.156
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.216	0.134	0.013	0.211	0.492
	Caroxylon_gemmascens	0.177	0.097	0.013	0.174	0.371
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.076	0.058	0.006	0.062	0.217
Crystal_20	Anabasis_calcarea	0.074	0.054	0.004	0.063	0.197
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.046	0.040	0.001	0.036	0.145
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.114	0.117	0.002	0.069	0.401
	Caroxylon_gemmascens	0.083	0.073	0.002	0.062	0.263
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.041	0.042	0.001	0.027	0.155
Free_10	Anabasis_calcarea	0.186	0.117	0.016	0.169	0.456
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.183	0.146	0.006	0.148	0.519
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.227	0.209	0.006	0.159	0.758
	Caroxylon_gemmascens	0.212	0.178	0.007	0.166	0.662
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.142	0.155	0.004	0.090	0.594
Free_20	Anabasis_calcarea	0.244	0.132	0.027	0.233	0.526
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.359	0.216	0.012	0.366	0.734
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.174	0.138	0.010	0.140	0.502
	Caroxylon_gemmascens	0.241	0.167	0.011	0.212	0.589
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.161	0.150	0.007	0.117	0.592
Deep soil	Anabasis_calcarea	0.329	0.136	0.091	0.320	0.614
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.349	0.233	0.026	0.308	0.830
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.269	0.173	0.022	0.245	0.639
	Caroxylon_gemmascens	0.287	0.179	0.030	0.266	0.665
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.579	0.194	0.096	0.606	0.879
AUGUST						

Source	Species	Mean	SD	2.5%	50%	97.5%
Crystal_10	Anabasis_calcarea	0.056	0.04	0.003	0.046	0.162
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.152	0.147	0.002	0.101	0.515
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.040	0.041	0.001	0.026	0.150
	Caroxylon_gemmasce	0.151	0.159	0.002	0.093	0.565
	ns					
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.062	0.075	0.001	0.035	0.274
Crystal_20	Anabasis_calcarea	0.033	0.028	0.001	0.026	0.104
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.087	0.101	0.001	0.047	0.360
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.026	0.031	0.000	0.015	0.113
	Caroxylon_gemmasce	0.068	0.084	0.001	0.0350	0.307
	ns					
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.029	0.034	0.000	0.017	0.126
Free_10	Anabasis_calcarea	0.084	0.062	0.003	0.071	0.235
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.189	0.176	0.003	0.135	0.616
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.123	0.160	0.001	0.056	0.607
	Caroxylon_gemmasce	0.152	0.144	0.002	0.107	0.506
	ns					
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.105	0.118	0.001	0.062	0.438
Free_20	Anabasis_calcarea	0.076	0.051	0.006	0.067	0.197
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.186	0.149	0.004	0.153	0.529
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.128	0.17	0.002	0.056	0.686
	Caroxylon_gemmasce	0.161	0.138	0.004	0.129	0.494
	ns					
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.073	0.074	0.001	0.048	0.275
Deep soil	Anabasis_calcarea	0.750	0.064	0.617	0.754	0.868
	Anabasis_eugeniae	0.386	0.147	0.126	0.372	0.709
	Atraphaxis_suaedifolia	0.683	0.216	0.164	0.740	0.962
	Caroxylon_gemmasce	0.468	0.169	0.182	0.452	0.853
	ns					
	Oreosalsola_montana	0.730	0.146	0.412	0.749	0.952

CHAPTER 3. Integrated above and below-ground responses of the gypsum specialist *Helianthemum squamatum* (L.) Dum. Cours. to drought



Supplementary Figure 1. Pictures of the methodology for transpiration water caption and physiological parameters measurement. **A.** Portable gas exchange and photosynthesis measuring system (CIRAS 3, PP Systems Internationa, Inc, Amesbury, Madison, USA). **B.** Cryogenic vapour trapping system for transpired water. **C.** Plants covered with plastic bags to trap transpired water. **D.** Portion of plant leaves of one replicate used for the analysis of the physiological parameters



Supplementary Figure 2. Deuterium excess composition of: A) crystallization soil water, B) free soil water, C) xylem sap water and D) transpiration water



Supplementary Figure 3. δ^2 H and δ^{18} O composition of the xylem sap of the plant species and the two potential water sources. Grey symbols indicate plants or soil corresponding to the natural soil treatment, while black points belong to the labelled gypsum treatment.



Supplementary Figure 4. Results of Bayesian Isotopes Mixing Models representing the contribution of the potential sources (crystallization and free water) in the xylem sap water of *Helianthemum squamatum* grouped by treatments (drought and labelling).



Supplementary Figure 5 Means and standard errors of principal physicochemical properties of the soil (pH; E.C: electric conductivity; % gypsum content, % sand, % silt and % clay, phosphorus: P and organic matter, o.m.) grouped by treatments. L: Labelled, N: Natural. Black bars are for control treatment (C), and grey bars for drought treatment (D).



Supplementary Figure 6. Mean and standard error of leaf elemental concentration grouped by labelling treatment. L: Labelled, N: - Natural. Black bars are for the control treatment (C) and grey bars are for the drought treatment (D).

Labelling treatment	Drought Treatment	Water source	$\delta^2 H$	$\delta^{I8}O$	D-excess	п
Labelled	Drought	Crystallization water	400.62±12.73	-2.30±0.52	419.02±15.97	5
		Free water	-58.16±6.42	-4.94±1.95	-18.61±10.19	5
	Control	Crystallization water	409.96 ± 10.02	-2.73±0.30	431.84±11.58	5
		Free water	-66.81±2.80	-8.77±0.55	3.35±2.11	5
Natural	Drought	Crystallization water	-46.07±3.59	0.40±0.25	-49.30±2.25	4
		Free water	-66.69±0.90	-6.87±0.63	-11.72±4.37	4
	Control	Crystallization water	-22.45±19.48	2.17±1.55	-39.83±7.37	5
		Free water	-66.95±7.47	-8.29±0.88	-0.06±3.60	5

Supplementary Table 1. Average isotopic composition of the two soil water sources analyzed in each type of soil (labelling treatment and natural soil) and drought treatment.

Supplementary Table 2. Results of the ANOVA of linear models analyzing the effect of the treatments and their interaction on four physiological parameters: stomatal conductance, transpiration rate, assimilation rate and water use. Bold numbers indicate significant effects (p < 0.05).

	Drought treatment		Label	Labelling treatment		Drought eatment*Labelling treatment
	F	р	F	р	F	р
Stomatal conductance (GS)	14.10	0.002	0.93	0.351	0.44	0.513
Transpiration rate (E)	10.33	0.006	0.20	0.662	0.21	0.651
Assimilation rate (A)	2.01	0.177	2.85	0.112	0.73	0.405
Water use	59.01	<0.001	0.62	0.444	5.94	0.028

	Drought treatment		Labe	Labelling treatment		Drought treatment*Labelling treatment	
	F	р	F	р	F	р	
Stomatal conductance (GS)	28.75	<0.001	0.01	0.718	1.03	0.334	
Transpiration rate (E)	15.50	0.003	1.09	0.322	0.02	0.897	
Assimilation rate (A)	27.80	<0.001	8.24	0.017	0.44	0.521	
Water use	38.71	<0.001	0.00	0.959	5.21	0.045	

Supplementary Table 3. Mean and standard deviation (sd) of the water content of leaves and roots (calculated as Fresh mass/Dry mass (FM/DM)), aerial biomass (g) and leaf area (cm²), indicated for each drought and labelling treatment. Capital letters indicate significant differences between treatments (i.e. all four). Linear model ANOVA comparing growth traits in the different treatments. *F-ratios* and *P-values* are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at $\alpha = 0.05$

-	FM/DM LEAVES		FM/D	FM/DM ROOTS		AERIAL BIOMASS		MEAN LEAF AREA		EA	
	Mean	sd	Mean	sd	Mean	sd		Mean	sd		N
Labelled-control	3.452	0.512 A	1.644	0.268 A	1.917	1.496	А	0.358	0.089	А	6
Labelled-drought	3.178	0.283 A	1.582	0.125 A	2.504	1.243	А	0.137	0.050	В	7
Natural-control	3.053	0.354 A	1.603	0.093 A	4.724	1.798	В	0.230	0.059	А	5
Natural-drought	2.882	0.133 A	1.361	0.417 A	3.495	0.456	В	0.202	0.095	В	4

	Drought			Labelling	D	Drought *Labelling	
	F	р	F	р	F	р	
Aerial Biomass	0.07	0.798	10.66	0.004	2.27	0.147	
FW/DCW leaves	2.26	0.150	4.39	0.051	0.11	0.743	
FW/DCW roots	1.68	0.215	1.08	0.315	0.63	0.440	
Mean leaf area	22.71	<0.001	0.07	0.793	3.25	0.092	

Supplementary Table 4. Linear model ANOVA comparing growth traits in the different treatments. *F-ratios* and *P-values* are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at $\alpha = 0.05$

Supplementary Table 5. PERMANOVA analyzing the effect of the drought treatment, labelling treatment and their interaction on the components exuded by roots and linear model ANOVA testing the effect of the different treatments on the root exudation detected in each compound analyzed separately. *F-ratios* and *P-values* are shown. Bold type indicates significant effects at $\alpha = 0.05$

PERMANOVA							
			F-ratio		p-value		
Droug	ght treatment		1.26	0.281			
Labell	ing treatment		1.64	0.171			
Droug	ght*Labelling		0.69		0.555		
			ANOVA				
Drou	ght treatment	Drought *Labelling					
F-ratio	p-value	F-ratio	p-value	F-ratio	p-value		
0.03	0.867	0.56	0.466	1.82	0.197		
0.99	0.335	0.89	0.361	0.88	0.362		
0.00	0.949	2.08	0.170	1.30	0.272		
0.00	0.949	2.08	0.170	1.30	0.272		
1.77	0.203	0.26	0.616	0.00	0.948		
1.44	0.248	0.36	0.556	0.25	0.622		
0.39	0.541	0.10	0.757	1.39	0.255		
0.10	0.753	0.25	0.625	0.75	0.398		
0.70	0.416	1.44	0.249	0.16	0.693		
0.958	0.346	3.16	0.095 .	1.16	0.299		
0.08	0.777	2.91	0.109	0.43	0.523		
9.28	0.008	0.32	0.577	0.81	0.382		
	Droug Labell Droug <i>F-ratio</i> 0.03 0.99 0.00 1.77 1.44 0.39 0.10 0.70 0.70 0.958 0.08 9.28	Drouget treatment Labelling treatment Drouget Reatment Drou	Drought treatment Labelling treatment Labelling treatment Labelling Drought*Labelling Labelling Prought*Labelling Labelling Prought*Labelling Labelling Prought*Labelling Labelling Prought*Labelling Labelling Prought*Labelling Labelling Prought*Labelling Labelling 0.00 P-value F-ratio 0.03 0.867 0.56 0.00 0.949 2.08 0.00 0.949 2.08 1.77 0.203 0.26 1.44 0.248 0.36 0.39 0.541 0.10 0.10 0.753 0.25 0.70 0.416 1.44 0.958 0.346 3.16 0.08 0.777 2.91 9.28 0.008 0.32	PERMANOVA Fratio Fratio I.26 Labelling treatment I.64 Drou#*Labelling o.69 Teatment Labelling Prou#*Labelling O.69 Drou#*Labelling ProuB F-ratio p-value Fratio p-value F-ratio p-value 0.03 0.867 0.56 0.466 0.99 0.335 0.89 0.361 0.00 0.949 2.08 0.170 0.00 0.949 2.08 0.170 0.10 0.248 0.36 0.56 0.39 0.541 0.10 0.757 0.10 0.753 0.25 0.625 0.70 0.416 1.44 0.249 0.958 0.346 3.16 0.095. 0.08 0.777 2.91 0.109 9.28	PERMANOVA F-ratio F-ratio I.26 Labelling treatment 1.64 Drought*Labelling o.69 F-ratio Drought*Labelling O.69 F-ratio P-value F-ratio P-value F-ratio P-value F-ratio p-value F-ratio 0.03 0.867 0.56 0.466 1.82 0.99 0.335 0.89 0.361 0.88 0.00 0.949 2.08 0.170 1.30 0.777 0.203 0.26 0.616 0.00 1.44 0.248 0.36 0.556 0.25 0.30 0.541 0.10 0.757 1.39 0.10 0.753 0.25 0.625 0.75 0.700 0.416 1.44 0.249 0.16 0.958 0.346 3.16 0		

CHAPTER 4. Soil microorganisms and root exudation mediate rhizosphere acidification of the gypsum specialist Ononis tridentata Devesa & G. López

Methodological challenges

For the first time, planar optodes were combined with root exudation and a treatment of partial soil sterilization in a gypsum soil to visualize root activity in this particular alkaline soil. As addressed in the Discussion, the high soil humidity requirements of the pH sensor restricted our observations of root activity to well-watered conditions. This situation in gypsum ecosystems will not always represent the natural conditions, but it would take place in the most favourable moment of the year, when gypsum plants tend to grow and maximize their demand for N and P (Cera et al., 2021b). Unfortunately, this technique cannot be used to monitor plant-soil interactions under drought when, for example, acidification to retrieve gypsum crystalline water would be most needed.

The physical properties of gypsum soil and its high solubility in water led to soil movements in the rhizobox visible surface, including the area in contact with the sensor foil, sometimes creating air bubbles or intrusions of soil particles that altered the signal of the sensor. In addition to the changing conditions of the soil, the rapid and variable speed of root growth in the different individuals limited the number of pictures that could be evaluated for each replicate. After measuring fourteen consecutive days, five replicates of both treatments (i.e. theoretically 5 x 14 = 70 pictures per treatment), only 29 and 44 pictures (from natural and fungi-sterile treatments, respectively) showing clear root activity could be included in the analyses.

On the other hand, the sterilization treatment and posterior bacteria inoculation changed the microbial communities in the soil and, as shown in Figure 2, the relative abundance of Fungi was reduced, but did not completely disappear. It has been reported that fungi are more sensitive to gamma-irradiation than bacteria, and typically, a gamma-irradiation of 10 kGy will eliminate fungi and Actinobacteria, while the majority of soil bacteria are eliminated by 20 kGy (McNamara et al., 2003). In our case, the presence of fungi might be due to an insufficient dose of irradiation or, alternatively, to the non-sterile conditions in which the experiment was conducted and the fact that the rhizoboxes containing gamma-irradiated soil were placed next to those containing natural soil. Hence, fungal spores or propagules might had reached the rhizoboxes containing gamma-

irradiated soil and thrived there until the end of the experiment. Despite these complications, we could compare root behaviour in natural gypsum soil and in gypsum soil with an altered microbial life and decreased fungal presence, observing similar trends in all treatment replicates.



Figure Supplementary 1. Maximum, minimum and mean pH observed in the sensor foils placed in the roots of the growing seedlings of Ononis tridentata, compared per soil treatment: green boxes for the natural treatment, red boxed for the fungi-sterile treatment. *P-values* of Kruskal Wallis tests show the significance of the differences between treatments. The variability of the maximum pH could be due to the calcium carbonate with variable presence in each piece of soil observed.



Figure Supplementary 2. IDL evaluation images of a preliminary experiment done with the methodology described, but with other species living on gypsum. 1) Helianthemum squamatum: fungi-sterile treatment first day for 1a and ninth day for 1b; 1c and 1d represent H. squamatum natural treatment first day and fourth day, respectively. 2 a, b, c, d) Helianthemum syriacum fungi-sterile treatment days 1st, 4th, 6th and 11th respectively.



Figure Supplementary 3. pH min and pH max variations by experimental days. These data were not treated in the main analysis due to the different developmental status of each individual, which made these data not comparable.

Table S1. Mean and SD values observed for mean, maximum and minimum pH observed in the different replicates during the experiment measures. Treatment differences for pHmean, pH min and pH max are included in Figure 3. Acidification was also significantly different among treatments (Kruskal-Wallis, p-val=<0.001)

	pHmean		р	pHmin		pHmax		acidification	
	mean	SD	mean	SD	mean	SD	mean	SD	-
Natural	7.98	0.28	6.98	0.08	9.37	0.19	2.39	0.26	29
Fungi sterile	7.72	0.28	7.05	0.17	9.15	0.49	2.09	0.48	44

Table S2. Measured values for each replicate x day combination for mean pH, maximum pH and minimum pH observed with the optodes for the filtered pictures with a clear appreciation of the root passing through the sensor.

Treatment	rep	day	pHmean	pHmax	pHmin	Acidification
NAT	1	1	7.6	8.4	7.1	1.3
NAT	1	2	7.7	9.4	6.9	2.5
NAT	1	3	7.7	9.4	6.8	2.6
NAT	1	4	7.7	9.4	6.9	2.5
NAT	1	5	7.8	9.4	6.9	2.5
NAT	1	6	7.7	9.4	6.9	2.5
NAT	1	7	7.8	9.4	7.1	2.3
NAT	1	8	7.8	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	1	9	7.8	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	1	10	7.8	9.4	6.9	2.5
NAT	1	11	7.8	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	1	12	7.8	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	1	13	7.8	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	1	14	7.8	9.4	6.9	2.5
NAT	3	1	8.9	9.5	6.9	2.6
NAT	5	1	7.9	9.4	7.1	2.3
NAT	5	2	7.9	9.4	6.9	2.5
NAT	5	3	7.9	9.4	6.9	2.5
NAT	5	4	8.1	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	5	5	8.1	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	5	6	8.2	9.4	6.9	2.5
NAT	5	7	8.2	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	5	8	8.3	9.4	7.1	2.3
NAT	5	9	8.2	9.4	7.1	2.3
NAT	5	10	8.2	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	5	11	8.2	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	5	12	8.2	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	5	13	8.2	9.4	7	2.4
NAT	5	14	8.2	9.4	7	2.4
FUNGI ST	1	1	7.9	9.4	7.1	2.3
FUNGI ST	2	1	8	9.4	7.1	2.3
FUNGI ST	2	2	7.9	9.4	7.2	2.2
FUNGI ST	2	3	7.8	9.4	7.2	2.2
FUNGIST	2	4	7.9	9.4	7.3	2.1
FUNGI ST	2	5	7.9	9.4	7.3	2.1
FUNGI ST	2	6	7.9	9.4	7.3	2.1
FUNGI ST	2	7	7.9	9.4	7.3	2.1

FUNGI ST	2	8	7.9	9.4	7.2	2.2
FUNGI ST	2	9	7.9	9.4	7.3	2.1
FUNGI ST	2	10	7.9	9.4	7.3	2.1
FUNGI ST	2	11	79	94	73	2.1
FUNGI ST	2	12	7.9	0.4	7.5	2.1
FUNGI ST	2	12	7.9	9.4	7.1	2.3
FUNGIST	2	13	7.9	9.4	1.2	2.2
FUNGIST	2	14	7.9	9.4	7.1	2.3
FUNGI ST	3	1	7.6	9.4	7	2.4
FUNGI ST	3	2	7.6	9.4	6.7	2.7
FUNGI ST	3	3	7.5	9.4	6.8	2.6
FUNGI ST	3	4	7.5	9.4	6.9	2.5
FUNGI ST	3	5	7.6	8 5	7	1 5
FUNGI ST	2	6	7.6	0.4	71	1.5
FUNGI ST	5	0	7.0	9.4	7.1	2.3
FUNGI ST	3	/	/.6	9.4	6.9	2.5
FUNGI ST	3	8	7.6	8.9	6.9	2
FUNGI ST	3	9	7.6	9.4	6.9	2.5
FUNGIST	3	10	7.6	9.4	7	2.4
FUNGIST	3	11	7.5	8.9	6.8	2.1
FUNGI ST	3	12	7.5	8.9	7	19
FUNGI ST	3	13	7.5	9.4	7	2.0
FUNGI ST	3	14	7.5	9.4	6.9	2.4
FUNGI ST	1	1	0.0	7.4	0.2	2.5
FUNGI ST	4	1	0.0	7.4	7.5	0.1
FUNGIST	5	1	8.3	9.4	/.1	2.3
FUNGISI	5	2	7.5	8	6.6	1.4
FUNGIST	5	3	8	9.4	7.1	2.3
FUNGIST	5	4	7.9	9.4	7.3	2.1
FUNGI ST	5	5	7.6	9.4	7	2.4
FUNGI ST	5	6	7.6	9.4	7	24
FUNGI ST	5	7	7 5	94	7	2.4 2.4
FUNGI ST	5	8	7.5	9.1	, 7 1	2.4
FUNGI ST	5	0	7.5	9.4	7.1	2.3
FUNGI ST	5	9	7.4	8.2	/.1	1.1
FUNGI ST	5	10	7.5	8.9	7	1.9
FUNGIST	5	11	7.4	8.2	7	1.2
FUNCI ST	5	12	7.4	8.2	6.9	1.3
FUNGIST	5	13	7.4	9.4	7	2.4
	5	14	7.4	8.4	6.9	1.5
						-

Ecophysiological mechanisms of gypsum plants to survive drought

mechanisms of gypsum plants to survive drought